
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010

Available in an alternative format by prior request and
on the Council's website: www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Simon W. Baker   B.Ed  MBA  MISPAL
Chief Executive

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Thursday, 27 September 2018, 2.00 pm

Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Stockwell 
Street, Leek, ST13 6HQ

Contact Officer: Pat Trafford. 01538 395551 - 
pat.trafford@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

SITE VISITS: A coach for Committee Members will leave Moorlands 
House at 8.30 a.m. prompt on the day of the meeting. 
Appropriate footwear is recommended.

Speaking at Committee: Under the Council's Constitution, applicants (or their 
agent) and objectors/supporters are eligible to speak at this Committee for 3 minutes 
each.  The maximum number of speakers on any item is six (three speakers for and 
three speakers against) plus any Ward Councillors.  All speakers, including Ward 
Councillors, should register by ringing Committee Services on the above 
number between 10.00 a.m. Monday and 4.00 p.m. Wednesday on the week of 
the meeting. Also please note that speakers need to re-register if an application has 
been previously withdrawn from an agenda. Registered speakers should report to 
the Council Chamber no later than 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.  

An information leaflet relating to these procedures is available from the main Council 
Offices, on the Council’s website and will be available at the meeting.  Speakers are 
advised to read the leaflet prior to the meeting.

Note:  In the event of a delayed return by the Committee, following the site 
visits, the start time for the Committee may be postponed.  Also the order of 
business on the agenda may change at the discretion of the Chair.  As it is not 
possible to give a precise time when an item may be discussed, it is always 
advisable to arrive for the start of the meeting.

Please be aware that meetings open to the public may be recorded by 
representatives of the media or by members of the public. A guidance document for 
the recording of public Council meetings is available on the Council’s website.

Public Document Pack



Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 27 September 2018

A G E N D A  (Continued)

1. Chair's announcements 

a) Webcasting;
b) Introductions of Members and Officers;
c) Other announcements.

2. Apologies for absence, if any. 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

(a) To approve as a correct record the Public Minutes of the Planning 
Applications Committee held on 30 August 2018.

(b) Reports on matters arising, if any.

4. Urgent items, if any. 

5. Declarations of Interest 

i. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests;
ii. Other Interests;
iii. Lobbying Interests.

6. SMD/2018/0046 - Land adjacent to GKN Driveline Ltd, Higher Woodcroft, Leek 
(Pages 11 - 22)

7. SMD/2018/0316 - Former Lask Edge Methodist Church, Cowallmoor Lane, 
Ladymoor Gage, Lask Edge (Pages 23 - 40)

8. SMD/2018/0234 - Fole Dairy, Uttoxeter Road, Fole (Pages 41 - 68)

9. SMD/2017/0660 - Land at Cecilly Mill, Oakamoor Road, Cheadle (Pages 69 - 
102)

10. SMD/2018/0443 - Land south east of A521/A50 Blythe Bridge By-Pass (Pages 
103 - 126)

11. SMD/2018/0389 - Bluebell Barn, Church Bank, Oakamoor (Pages 127 - 138)



Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 27 September 2018

A G E N D A  (Continued)

12. SMD/2018/0110 - West Winds, Cheddleton Road, Leek (Pages 139 - 150)

13. SMD/2018/0434 - Heather Hills, Birchall Lane, Leek (Pages 151 - 158)

14. SMD/2018/0448 - 112 Draycott Road, Upper Tean (Pages 159 - 168)

15. Appeals Report (Pages 169 - 170)

16. NOTE - A Late Representations Report will be circulated prior to the meeting i.e. 
any representations received since this agenda was published. 

Published 19 September 2018

Membership of Planning Applications Committee
Councillor S Ellis (Chair) Councillor P Roberts (Vice-Chair)
Councillor W Cawley Councillor J Davies
Councillor M Gledhill Councillor P Jackson
Councillor C R Jebb Councillor L D Lea
Councillor G Lockett Councillor I J Lucas
Councillor D Ogden Councillor C Pearce
Councillor T Riley Councillor S Scalise



This page is intentionally left blank



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING

Minutes

THURSDAY, 30 AUGUST 2018
PRESENT: Councillor S Ellis (Chair) 

Councillors Cawley, J Davies, P Jackson, C R Jebb, L D Lea, 
G Lockett, I J Lucas, D Ogden, C Pearce, T Riley and S Scalise

IN ATTENDANCE: B Haywood       -  Operations Manager, Development Services
J Curley            -  Principal Planning Officer
Z Walker           -  Legal Advisor, Freeths LLP
S Hampton       -  Democratic Services Officer
P Trafford         -  Democratic Services Officer

APOLOGIES: Councillors P Roberts and M Gledhill

44 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

a) The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the internet 
and was capable of repeated viewing. The images and sound recording could 
be used for training purposes within the Council. The Chair had the discretion 
to terminate or suspend filming if it was his opinion that continuing to do so 
would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting. It was likely that recording 
cameras would capture the image of persons seated in the public gallery and 
that image would become part of the broadcast. Any views expressed by any 
speaker in the meeting were the speaker’s own and did not necessarily reflect 
the views of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council.

b) Members of the Committee and Officers present were introduced by the 
Chair.

c) Agenda Item 7 – SMD/2018/0281 (Land off Ashbourne Road, The Old 
Copperworks, Whiston) was to be heard as last application as there were no 
speakers registered for that item.

45 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

Councillor Davies noted that Minute 41 (SMD/2018/0328 – Lane End Cottage, 
Whirley Low, Town End Road, Foxt) did not refer to his concern as proposer for 
refusal of the application that the design was too urbanised for a rural location. Ben 
Haywood confirmed that the Decision Notice had already been issued, but that in the 
event of an appeal he would ensure that this point was stressed by the Council 
representative(s). It was therefore felt that there was no need for an amendment to 
the relevant Minute.

RESOLVED – That the Public Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications 
Committee held on 2 August 2018 be APPROVED as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Planning Applications Committee - 30 August 2018

2

46 URGENT ITEMS, IF ANY.

Following a recent Standards complaint made against him, Councillor Cawley asked 
for guidance regarding Members’ use of mobile phones whilst attending Council 
meetings.

The Chair noted that there was no mention of this in the Council’s Constitution and 
that guidance provided by Officers would be useful. 

47 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The following declarations were made at this point unless otherwise stated:-

Agenda Item Member Declaring 
Interest Nature of Interest

Cllrs. Cawley, Davies, 
Ellis, Jackson, Jebb, 
Lea, Lockett, Lucas, 
Ogden, Pearce, Riley & 
Scalise

“Other” – 2 speakers were 
fellow District Councillors

Agenda Item 6 – 
SMD/2018/0045 – 
Tearne Quarry, 
Hollington

Cllr. Pearce

“Other” – Knows speaker 
through being Chair of 
Checkley Parish Council.
“Other” – Had a site for 
inclusion in the ongoing 
Checkley Neighbourhood 
Plan

Agenda Item 7 – 
SMD/2018/0281 – 
The Old Copperworks, 
off Ashbourne Road, 
Whiston

Cllrs. Ellis, Jebb and 
Pearce

“Other” – Members of the 
Conservation Liaison Panel 
(Declared when item 
discussed)

Agenda Item 8 – 
SMD/2018/0082 – 
Hillswood Lodge Nursing 
Home, The Close, 
Endon

Cllrs. Cawley, Davies, 
Ellis, Jackson, Jebb, 
Lea, Lockett, Lucas, 
Ogden, Pearce, Riley & 
Scalise

Lobbied – No response 
issued

Cllrs. Jackson, Lockett & 
Riley

Lobbied – No response 
issued

Agenda Item 9 – 
SMD/2018/0240 – 2 
Breach Road, 
Brown Edge

Cllrs. Cawley, Davies, 
Ellis, Jackson, Jebb, 
Lea, Lockett, Lucas, 
Ogden, Pearce, Riley & 
Scalise

“Other” – Speaker was a 
fellow District Councillor

Agenda Item 10 – 
SMD/2017/0442 – 246 
Leek Road, Endon

Cllrs. Cawley, Davies, 
Ellis, Jackson, Jebb, 
Lea, Lockett, Lucas, 
Ogden, Pearce, Riley & 
Scalise

“Other” – Cllr. Bond (referred 
to in the report) was a fellow 
District Councillor (declared 
when item discussed)

Page 6



Planning Applications Committee - 30 August 2018

3

48 SMD/2018/0045 - TEARNE QUARRY, HOLLINGTON

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING OFFICES AND WORKSHOP BUILDINGS AND 
REDEVELOPMENT FOR NINE DWELLINGS FOR MR. R. OLDHAM.
(Report recommended approval)

(All Councillors present had declared “other” interests. Councillor Pearce declined to 
vote)

RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:-

For the application:
Cllr. Peter Wilkinson - Supporter
Cllr. David Trigger - Ward Councillor
Ms. Melanie Swanwick - Chair, Hollington Residents’ Group

NOTED - 1.  Late Representations Report (LRR) contained an additional condition 
regarding a management scheme for maintenance of open spaces.

2. Application deferred from the meeting on 5 July 2018 for officers to 
negotiate with the applicant on the following issues:-

 Amenity of Plot 1 with regard to the extant 
quarry permission;

 Bunding at the rear; and
 Outstanding objection from the Environment 

Agency (EA).
Amendments had been made to the plans to address the first & second 
issues. The EA had withdrawn their objection.

3. Officer requested Delegated Authority to strengthen condition 5 
regarding materials.

4. Consultation due to expire 11 September 2018.

RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 
the policies in the report, subject to the conditions and informative 
contained in the report and the strengthening of condition 5 referred to 
above.

(Proposed by Councillor Jackson and Seconded by Councillor Lockett.)

49 SMD/2018/0042 - HILLSWOOD LODGE NURSING HOME, THE CLOSE, 
ENDON

TWO-STOREY SIDE EXTENSION FORMING ACCOMMODATION FOR 
HILLSWOOD LIMITED.
(Report recommended Refusal)

(All Councillors present had declared lobbying interests.)

Representations received from the undermentioned speakers:-

Page 7



Planning Applications Committee - 30 August 2018

4

Against the application:
Mr. Nicholas Smith - Objector
Mr. Sam Latham - Objector

For the application:
Mr. Robert Smith - Applicant

NOTED - 1. LRR contained Tree Officer’s withdrawal of previous objection.

Councillor Davies Proposed APPROVAL of the application, which was 
Seconded by Councillor Jebb. Upon being put to the vote, the motion was defeated.

RESOLVED – That the application be REFUSED for the reasons and based on the 
policies contained in the report.

(Proposed by Councillor Lea and Seconded by Councillor Lockett.)

50 SMD/2018/0240 - 2 BREACH ROAD, BROWN EDGE

OUTLINE PERMISSION WITH SOME MATTERS RESERVED (EXCEPT ACCESS, 
LAYOUT AND SCALE) – RE-SUBMISSION OF SCHEME SMD/2017/0697 – TO 
PROVIDE A SINGLE STOREY, DETACHED, 2 BEDROOM BUNGALOW FOR 
CHATTERTON CONSTRUCTION.

(Report recommended Refusal)

(Councillors Jackson, Lockett & Riley had declared lobbying interests.)

Representation received from the undermentioned speaker:-

For the application:
Cllr. Mike Worthington - Supporter

NOTED - 1. LRR contained a supporting letter from the Applicant’s Agent and 
responses from the officer.

2. 2 previous applications for this site had been refused. 1 was appealed 
by the Applicant, which was dismissed.

Councillor Lockett Proposed APPROVAL, however the motion was not 
Seconded.

RESOLVED – That the application be REFUSED for the reasons and based on the 
policies contained in the report.

(Proposed by Councillor Lea and Seconded by Councillor Jebb.)

Page 8



Planning Applications Committee - 30 August 2018

5

51 SMD/2017/0442 - 246 LEEK ROAD, ENDON

PROPOSED SECOND STOREY ABOVE GARAGE TOGETHER WITH FRONT 
PORCH AND SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION (RE-SUBMISSION OF 
LARGER EXTENSION APPROVED UNDER SMD/2017/0259) FOR MRS. FIONA 
BEVINGTON.

(Report recommended Approval)

(All Councillors present declared “other” interests at this point.)

NOTED - 1. LRR confirmed no objections from Endon with Stanley Parish Council.

 RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 
the policies in the report, subject to the conditions contained in the 
report. 

(Proposed by Councillor Lockett and Seconded by Councillor Davies.)

52 SMD/2018/0281 - LAND OFF ASHBOURNE ROAD, THE OLD 
COPPERWORKS, WHISTON

PHASE 2 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT FOR 11 No. DWELLINGS ON THE 
FORMER COPPERWORKS SITE, WHISTON FOR HLW DEVELOPMENTS.

(Report recommended Refusal)

(All Councillors present had declared lobbying interests. Councillors Ellis, Jebb and 
Pearce declared “other” interests.)

NOTED - 1. LRR contained SMDC Arboricultural Officer request for condition in the 
event of approval, SCC Archaeology comments with no objections, 
Applicant’s Agent comments and Planning Officer comments.

2. Further ecological information and revised plans received on the day of 
this meeting which appeared to address 2 of the reasons for refusal. 
This did not overcome the other concerns and the recommendation 
remained to refuse. Delegated Authority was requested for Officers not 
to pursue any of the reasons for refusal which had been addressed.

RESOLVED – That the application be REFUSED for the reasons and based on the 
policies contained in the report, with Delegated Authority granted for 
Officers to determine which reasons for refusal were to be pursued, as 
referred to above.

(Proposed by Councillor Lockett and Seconded by Councillor Ellis.) 

Page 9



Planning Applications Committee - 30 August 2018

6

53 APPEALS REPORT

Ben Haywood presented the report to members showing that no Appeals had been 
lodged since the last meeting and 1 Appeal decision had been received:-

SMD/2017/0647 – Land off Micklea Lane, Longsdon. Proposed dwelling and 
detached garage. Delegated decision to Refuse permission on 9 March 2018.

The Appeal – dealt with via written representations – was dismissed by the Planning 
Inspector on 17 August 2018, with no costs awarded. 

Ben felt that this was a good example to reference regarding ‘Development in the 
Green Belt’, helping to establish ‘limited infilling within a village’. The 3 elements 
were looked at individually, in that it WAS deemed to be limited and WAS infilling but 
WAS NOT within a village.

54 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

“That pursuant to Section 100A (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972,the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that exempt information 
as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach 
of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 100I (1) 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the 
paragraphs indicated.”

55 TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE 
LAST MEETING

RESOLVED – That the Exempt Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications 
Committee held on 2 August 2018 be APPROVED as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair.

The meeting closed at 3.50 pm

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 10



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0046

Location Land adjacent to GKN Drive Line Ltd Higher Woodcroft Leek 
Proposal  24 dwellings
Applicant Hostday Ltd
Agent DBD Architectural Consultancy Ltd.
Parish/ward Leek Date registered 2/3/18
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Curley  tel: 01538 
395400 ex 4124 Jane.curley@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

This is a major application

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application was historically associated with the adjacent factory, now operated 
by GKN but is now in separate ownership. It is understood to have been used in the past for 
coke storage as part of the now removed gas works. According to the application, it was last 
used as part of the adjacent factory for temporary storage of palletised products. However it 
has clearly not been used for some time and is overgrown with many self set trees, some of 
which have been recently removed by the applicant. 

2.2 There are some significant level changes across the site. The submitted sections (PL 
16B) show that the site slopes steeply from east - west and from south to north. Significant 
earth works will be required to develop the site for housing. To the north of the site are 
allotments, to the south a public footpath and beyond this housing. To the west and at a 
much higher level is public open space known as Woodcroft. To the east is an established 
factory operated by GKN Driveline Ltd which sits on land at an appreciably lower level to the 
application site; the plans show 4-5m lower. GKN undertake a variety of B2 (General 
Industrial) uses at the site. 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This is a full application. It is a resubmission of a similar application which was withdrawn 
by the applicant prior to determination. This application attempts to address the issues 
raised. At the time of the previous application the Case Officer referred to the application 
being ‘littered with issues and insufficient information’. The applicant is frustrated at the delay 
in the determination of this application and wishes to bring matters to a head. The 
application is therefore presented to Members.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



3.2 The proposal is for 24 dwellings, a mix of three and four bedroom properties.   A new 
access to the site is proposed off Higher Woodcroft leading through the yard area of GKN 
factory onto the site. A combination of signage and road markings is proposed giving the 
factory traffic priority with traffic leaving the proposed housing being subject to give way 
signs/markings. The applicants say in this way it can be ensured that the yard is clear of 
factory traffic before other vehicles cross the yard to exit onto Higher Woodcroft. Where the 
site borders the GKN factory to the east an acoustic fence is proposed.  The DAS says that if 
the policy requirement for affordable housing were to be applied, then the profit margin for 
the developer would be too tight. The DAS says that there is an abundance of smaller 
terrace housing in Leek suitable for first time buyers and that there is a need for family 
homes thus freeing up the smaller low cost housing for the first time buyer.

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

PAD/2017/0072                Pre application advice sought for residential development   

SMD/2016/0753               Construction of 24 dwellings.      Withdrawn

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The Development Plan comprises of:

 Saved Local Plan Proposals Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 1998).
 Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted March 2014)

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (1998)

5.2 Development boundaries within the 1998 Adopted Local Plan are still in force until such 
time as they are reviewed and adopted through the site allocations process.  Following 
consultation last year a Preferred Options Site Allocation DPD is currently out for 
consultation.

Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy DPD (26th March 2014)

5.3 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 SD1 Sustainable Use of Resources
 SD3 Carbon-saving Measures in Development
 SD4 Pollution and Flood Risk
 SS6C Rural area strategy
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC2 Heritage
 C1 Creating Sustainable Communities
 NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport
 T2 Other Sustainable Transport Measures

Local Plan 

The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for representations in 
February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the Local Plan was “sound”. Formal 
representations were then invited from residents, businesses and other stakeholders to 

Page 12



provide them with the opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or legal compliance 
of the Local Plan. This stage in the process followed three previous public consultations 
since 2015 which had informed the preparation of the Local Plan alongside a comprehensive 
evidence base. 

In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan Submission Version 
to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination in public will now be held this 
Autumn in order to determine whether the Local Plan is sound and legally compliant. Subject 
to the findings of the appointed inspector, the Local Plan is expected to be adopted in the 
Spring of 2019. At his point, it will supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part of 
the statutory development plan for the District.  

In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies contained in 
the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria set out in Paragraph 48 of 
the NPPF is as follows:

 The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage of preparation 
as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for examination

 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies – this varies 
depending on the policy in question. The Officer Comments section of this report 
identifies the level of outstanding objections to each policy and recommends the 
amount of weight to be given to them at this stage in the process

 The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the Council has 
submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all policies are deemed to be 
consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:

- Policy SS1 Development Principles
- Policy 1a Presumption in favour of sustainable development
- SS2 Settlement Hierarchy
- Policy H1 New Housing Development

National Planning Policy NPPF

National Planning Policy Guidance

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Press Notice expiry date:   11th April 2018 
Site Notice expiry date:      TBA
Local residents have been notified by letter. 

6.1 7 letters of objection received from nearby residents and one letter from GKN Drive line 
which is also accompanied by a Transport Assessment. 

 The site is largely greenfield – much of it has never been developed
 The site is home to many birds and animals including badgers
 Many trees and saplings have already been chopped down
 Highway safety –it is not practical to have a new road dropping into a factory yard on 

a steep slope as is proposed
 Higher Woodcroft provides access to GKN which has a high volume of delivery 

vehicles ranging from small flatbed trucks to maximum size articulated lorries which 

Page 13



often struggle to get up to GKN, and if the delivery area of GKN is full these vehicles 
have to wait on the road.

 There is a vehicle body repair business near close to the main A53 car transporters 
often have to resort to loading and unloading in the road, and the road is also used 
as a parking facility by staff employed at these premises.

 The proposed entrance to this development would appear to have to impinge on the 
present delivery and loading area of GKN thus making this area even smaller for 
large vehicles to manoeuvre in.

 Cars are often parked on both sides of Higher Woodcroft creating  single line traffic
 Access onto the A53, is already difficult and dangerous. More cars will add to this. . 

There is also limited visibility at the exit of the Higher Woodcroft road to traffic 
approaching from the direction of the town centre.

 It is imperative that some type of traffic calming be put in place on the section of road 
between the site for the new development and the junction with the A53.

 Disruption during construction 
 Right of way adjacent to the site entrance must be kept clear 

     
GKN Driveline Ltd

6.2 Comment that the company occupy the land adjacent to the application site. GKN 
undertake a variety of B2 (general industrial) uses at the site. 40 staff are employed at the 
site. As a result, operational vehicles such as forklifts and goods vehicles are regularly 
present on the site and the access is currently used by these vehicles and staff members 
who are familiar with site operations and layout. Access to GKN’s site is taken from Higher 
Woodcroft. GKN are concerned about the impact of vehicles belonging to the residents of 
the proposed development and associated pedestrians sharing their access. In particular, 
there are safety concerns over the dual use of the access and residents who may not have 
full awareness of site operations. Additionally, should any accidents or near-accidents occur, 
GKN are concerned that they may face on-site restrictions which would have a detrimental 
impact on operations and subsequently, their business. It does not appear that a transport 
impact assessment has been submitted in support of the proposals. The GKN consider the 
proposed access to be unsafe and unacceptable. Given the safety issues and potential 
conflict of uses at the site access, GKN have instructed further transport work to 
independently assess the impact of the proposals on the site access and operations. 

Town Council 

6.3 Recommend approval 

Local Highway Authority 

6.4 No objection subject to conditions including one to secure a reduction and clarification of 
the multiple and conflicting road marking s shown at the access from higher Woodcroft. 
Comments that Higher Woodcroft is of adequate width for commercial/industrial/residential 
use. Speeds at the access point will be low. Visibility of the access off Higher Woodcroft 
from the access to the development will be good. Priorities will be defined by road markings.
Plots 14 to 24 will need careful design to avoid over steep driveways. 

Ecology Officer

6.5 Recommends refusal on the grounds that ecological survey data on the habitat suitability 
of the site for invertebrates requires further survey during the spring and summer. He 
advises that an invertebrate survey was carried out by Rachael Hacking Ecology date 
19/12/18. The survey concluded that further surveys may be necessary to establish if the 

Page 14



site is an open mosaic on previously developed land. Open mosaic on previously developed 
land habitat is a habitat of principal importance as defined under the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006. These habitats can support important species 
and assemblages of invertebrates.  Also advises that there are two badger setts present on 
site. These will need to be closed for the development to proceed to ensure no offences 
under the Protection of badgers Act 1992.  He recommends conditions to protect and secure 
appropriate measures.

Regeneration Officer

6.6 Advises that the proposal for development of 24 new homes will provide the following 
outputs:

 The new householders occupying each new house will spend some of their income 
locally through shopping and use of local services. National research has identified 
that 34% of all household expenditure is spent at district level or below. For this 
development of 24 units this is calculated at £225,312 per year.

 Each new house will generate direct jobs within the construction industry or 
associated supply chain, of which 25% are likely to be locally based. Indirect Jobs 
are also generated by local spend in shops and services. This is calculated at an 
additional local job for every seven new homes. Using these multipliers the 
development will generate 6 direct jobs and 3.5 indirect jobs.

 The development will also generate approximately £4,409 council tax for the area per
Annum

Project Officer (Open space)

6.7 Would very much like to see the design and layout of the housing positively addressing 
the proximity of Woodcroft open space which sits adjacent to the site, in terms of potential 
access between the two sites and from a community safety perspective. It would be 
preferred if the layout of the housing could face onto the open space and acknowledge it as 
a positive feature to enhance the development.   

6.8 Advises that in terms of developer contributions would be seeking an off-site play 
contribution to Brough Park.  The updated Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study (2017) 
identifies Brough Park Play Area as poor quality, having deteriorated since the 2009 
assessment, with need for investment as this is a key destination site for Leek and will be 
used by the new residents.  Would also like to request an off-site contribution towards 
playing pitches. This would be targeted at Birchall Playing Fields in Leek, towards sport pitch 
improvements and the provision of a new 60 x 40 synthetic grass pitch. There is currently an 
under supply of both grass pitches and synthetic sports pitches in leek.  The improvements 
stated above would increase capacity for outdoor sports provision in Leek, benefitting any 
new residents on the proposed development site.  

Trees and Woodland Officer 

6.9 Awaiting comments.     

SCC County Education

6.11 Advise that Westwood College is projected to have sufficient space to accommodate 
the likely demand from pupils generated by the development. However, Woodcroft First 
School and St. Edward’s Church of England Academy are projected to be full for the 
foreseeable future. It has been identified that the level of growth proposed in Staffordshire 
Moorlands Local Plan for Leek will necessitate a new first school to be delivered within one 

Page 15



of the residential development sites. The County Council is working with Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council (SMDC) to plan strategically for the education infrastructure 
required to accommodate the children generated by the level of housing growth proposed 
across the District. The County Council has a statutory duty to secure the sufficient supply of 
school places, which includes requiring developers to provide additional education provision 
in line with the pupils generated by proposed new housing.  We will therefore be requesting 
a contribution towards first school provision.  A fair, transparent and consistent approach 
must be taken across developments proposed in the Leek area.  As a new first school will be 
necessary to accommodate the level of development proposed in the area, this site will be 
required to contribute proportionally to the cost of providing the new school and acquisition 
of the land (relative to the development).  We have been advised that the cost of a new 150 
place first school (1 form entry) would be in the region of £3,030,000 (excluding acquisition 
of the necessary land). Based on 24 dwellings the proportional contribution towards a new 
first school of this size would be £74,208 (plus the proportional cost of the acquisition of the 
necessary land).

Local Lead Flood Authority 

6.12 No objection subject to condition to achieve SUDS

Police Architectural Liaison Officer

6.13 No objection

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Principle of Development

7.1 As with all applications, the LPA is required to determine this application in accordance 
with the Development plan, unless there are material circumstances which indicate 
otherwise and in determining these applications, it shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, in so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations.  

7.2 Core Strategy Policy SS1a establishes a 'Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development' in line with the National Planning Policy (herein referred to as the NPPF) 
where: (1) planning applications that accord with policies within the Core Strategy will be 
approved without delay and (2) where there are no relevant policies or they are out of date, 
the Council will grant planning permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
considering:-

I. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole, or,

II. Specific policies in within the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted.

7.3 This site lies within the development boundary of Leek. There are no buildings on the 
site. Although the applicant refers to the land as brownfield land, until some recent clearing 
took place the land had very much started to regenerate with self set trees, vegetation etc. 
Since the clearing there is evidence of some areas of hard standing. Notwithstanding this the 
site lies within a sustainable location and its development for housing would be in 
accordance with Policy SS5 which sets out the development strategy for Leek which 
includes the provision of a range of housing. There is no objection in principle. Issues to 

Page 16



consider include access, affordable housing, design, amenity, ecology, drainage, trees, and 
developer contributions. These issues are address below.

Access

7.4 Access to the site is proposed via a new access leading from Woodcroft Road through 
the yard of GKN into the site. It is an unusual arrangement. The plans show a series of road 
markings and signage to direct vehicles. The layout is designed such that drivers leaving the 
housing site would give way to vehicles in the yard and to arrivals to the housing. Vehicles 
leaving the housing would then cross a ‘hatched area’ to approach another give-way line at 
Woodcroft Road. 

7.5 GKN, who occupy the adjacent factory and whose yard will be crossed have submitted 
their own Transport Assessment prepared by PTB Transport Planning Ltd. They strongly 
object to the application on access grounds. The TA says that the proposed arrangements 
are sub-standard in many ways and are potentially unsafe. They refer to the failure to 
demonstrate that HGVs can safely enter/leave the site and manoeuvre around the site, they 
question the unsuitability and safety of the shared access between residential and industrial 
traffic. They say that the lack of a Road Safety Audit of the proposed access arrangements 
is a serious omission from this planning application. Setting aside safety concerns, it says 
that the use of the GKN Driveline access and yard to serve the development has the 
potential to cause disruption and delay to the GKN Driveline operation during both the 
construction and occupation phases of the housing development. The proposed road layout 
itself falls well short of relevant guidelines for residential use, particularly in terms of steep 
gradients. It says that the additional traffic associated with the residential development will 
cause further issues with already restricted two-way traffic movement on Woodcroft Road 
during the construction and occupation phases of development; leading to further delay for 
GKN Driveline, other industrial properties, and residential properties on Higher Woodcroft. It 
concludes by saying that the application fails to provide a safe and suitable access and in 
line with the NPPF and should be refused. 

7.6 The Local Highway Authority has considered the application and the response from 
GKN. It raises no objection to the application subject to conditions. The LHA advice that the 
access across a commercial yard is acceptable in principle and that Higher Woodcroft is of 
adequate width for commercial/industrial/residential use and speeds at the access point will 
be low. Furthermore they say that visibility of the access off Higher Woodcroft from the 
access to the development will be good and priorities will be defined by road markings. It is 
for these reasons that no objection is raised. 

7.7 Although many of the letters of objection refer to traffic/access issues and GKN object 
strongly, the advice of the LHA  is that a suitable and safe access for all users to the site can 
be achieved and that the impact on the highway network is acceptable. For these reasons 
the proposal is considered to comply with Polices DC1 and T1 and the NPPF and it is not 
considered that a refusal on highways grounds could be sustained. 

Affordable housing 

7.8 Policy H2 requires that sites such as this should provide 33% of the total number of 
dwellings as affordable dwellings, secured in perpetuity. In the submitted DAS the applicant 
states that the provision of this level of affordable housing would result in insufficient profit 
for the developer. He also provided some headline figures with the application, however 
these fell significantly short of a full Viability Appraisal which is what is required in such 
circumstances. The applicant was invited to submit one.

Page 17



7.9 The applicant has however had a change of heart and has now committed to providing 
33% of the dwellings as affordable homes in line with policy and to enter into a legal 
agreement with the Council to secure this. Subject therefore to the applicant entering into 
such a legal agreement there is compliance with Policy H2. 

Layout, scale and appearance 

7.10 The design of the dwellings was subject to negotiation during pre application 
discussions. The dwellings are now all two storey (previously the application included some 
three storey properties) and are a mix of detached and semi detached units. The overall 
appearance/design of the dwellings is considered to be acceptable in this location. 

7.11 As described above the site is subject to some significant level changes. The applicant 
says that the engineering works proposed result from the need to achieve suitable road 
gradients and a platform for development. The Site sections plan, PL16B show the proposed 
level changes clearly. Essentially Plots 14-22 are cut into the bank resulting in the need for 
retaining structures/ walls along the western boundary. The sections show that due the 
tapering western boundary the impact of the retaining walls on these plots at the rear 
becomes gradually poorer. The sections show that by plot 16 the retaining wall is as high as 
the property and at its closest less than 6 metres from the rear elevation. No sections are 
provided for plots 14 and 15 but it can only be assumed that the situation is similar if not 
worse. The outlook from the rear windows of these plots would be poor and the level of 
daylight into rear windows would be restricted.  Whilst on plan these properties appear to 
have generous gardens, the reality is that many would not and others would be terraced 
reducing the ‘useable’ space; the size and quality would overall be poor. 

7.12 There are also issues with plots 1-7 in terms of layout. These plots are situated along 
the eastern boundary directly adjacent to the GKN factory and yard. A Noise Assessment 
(NA) is submitted with the application. It identifies noise impacts and proposes various 
mitigation measures in order to reduce noise impacts to future occupiers of these plots 
including a 1.8m fence, double glazing, trickle ventilation and mechanical ventilation.  The 
NA also identifies an extraction flue as causing notable daytime noise but dismisses these 
levels as insignificant given the context of the area as traditionally industrial. The NA 
summarises that with appropriate mitigation the site could be developed for residential use. 

7.13 The Environmental Health Officer has considered the submitted NA. He is of the 
opinion that placing residential properties in close proximity to the factory/commercial unit 
occupied by GKN could compromise future operations of that commercial/industrial unit and 
cause significant amenity issues for future residents of the proposed development. He 
recommends refusal of the application. He advises that the NA indicates that residents 
requiring fully open windows for ventilation during the night (a reasonable expectation in this 
location) would be impacted by noise levels inside their bedrooms. These predicted levels 
would exceed those prescribed by WHO and BS8233:2014 for good quality sleep. The use 
of mechanical ventilation proposed by the NA to reduce these high levels of noise are not 
considered to be appropriate and particularly in this location which is not town centre nor is it 
adjacent to a busy highway for example.  It is considered that future occupiers should be 
able to ventilate their properties by the use of open windows. Furthermore the NA was taken 
in winter when factory doors are likely shut. The EHO found factory doors open during hot 
weather. There are no planning restrictions currently applying to the GKN site leading to 
further concern that future night time residential amenity could be impacted if factory 
operation intensified or altered in nature. In addition the EHO comments that noise from the 
flue would cause significant disturbance, especially to the external amenity for future 
occupiers in Plots 3-6 (approximately). 

Page 18



7.14 In response to the EHO’s comments the applicant has provided further information 
including details of a proposed residential development next to a live music venue/public 
house in Warrington from which the applicant draws a comparison.   This has also been 
considered by the EHO. He advises that his advice and concerns remain unchanged and he 
recommends refusal of the application. 

7.15 In addition to the above comments the layout is rather engineered. Two footpaths are 
provided which is not necessary for this number of dwellings.  The applicant was advised to 
reduce the amount of frontage parking to increase ‘green space’. The current layout is 
certainly better but still retains a rather car dominant environment. Although not reasons to 
refuse the application alone, they are negative aspects of the scheme. So too is the 
proposed entrance to the site through a commercial yard. It does not provide an attractive or 
welcoming place to live.  It does not create a high quality place which the revised NPPF says 
is fundamental to what planning should achieve.

7.16 It is for all of these reasons that the layout is considered to be unacceptable on amenity 
grounds. As such the proposal does not comply with Polices DC1 or SD 4 which seeks to 
ensure good design and protect amenity and it conflicts with the NPPF which requires good 
design, a high standard of amenity for future occupiers and requires decision makers to 
avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life. 

Ecology 

7.17 The Ecology Officer has considered the submitted report. He initially advised that the 
application should be refused on the grounds that ecological survey data on the habitat 
suitability of the site for invertebrates requires further survey.  A further report has been 
received and is being reviewed by the Ecology Officer. Members will be updated on this at 
the meeting.

7.18 The Ecology Officer separately advises that there are two badger setts present on site 
and that these will need to be closed for the development to proceed to ensure no offences 
under the Protection of badgers Act 1992.  In the event of permission being granted he 
recommends conditions to protect badgers during construction and to ensure a Licence from 
Natural England to close the setts is on place before any work commences on site.

Drainage 

7.19 A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy is submitted with the application. The 
LLFA has considered this and raises no objection subject to a condition to secure a scheme 
of sustainable drainage. With this in place there is no conflict with Policy SD 4 or the NPPF.

Trees 

7.20 A Tree survey and Arboriculture Impact Assessment is submitted. It concludes that 
existing trees do not pose a constraint to developing this site.  The comments of the Trees 
and Woodland Officer are awaited and will be reported at the meeting.

Developer contributions

7.21 The applicant has confirmed in principle his acceptance of the education and public 
open space contributions as outlined above. These contributions are required to mitigate the 
impact of the development on school capacity and public open space provision. They will 
need to be secured through a Section 106 obligation. With this in place there would be 
compliance with Policy C1.

Page 19



Other issues

7.22 The retaining walls discussed above also give rise to issues of stability. The applicant 
has asked if this matter can be conditioned. However given that this is a full application and 
the provision of retaining structures appear key to developing the site this information should 
be provided now. The NPPF confirms that planning decisions should ensure that the site is 
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from 
land instability. This also weighs against the proposal. 

Conclusion & Planning Balance 

7.23 Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
7.24 As set out above there is conflict with Polices DC1 and SD4 of the Development Plan. 
The NPPF is a material consideration of weight. It sets out a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision taking it says at paragraph 11 that where those 
polices which are the most important for determining the application are out of date, the tilted 
balance applies i.e that permission must be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweight the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole. Footnote 7 confirms that ‘out of date’ includes 
applications for the provision of housing where the LPA cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of deliverable housing sites. That is the case here, with the District having a less than 2 year 
supply. The tilted balance applies.

7.25 The proposal would deliver economic benefits through the construction of the dwellings 
and once completed through extra spending power in the local economy and increased 
Council tax receipts. The Regeneration Officer has clarified the economic outputs above.  
Moderate weight is attached to this. The provision of housing in circumstances of a chronic 
housing under supply attracts very significant weight. The applicant’s willingness to provide 
33% of these as affordable units is also a weighty matter in favour of the application as is the 
site’s location in a very sustainable location. However as described above the environment 
in which the dwellings would sit is poor and would lead to unacceptable levels of amenity 
and living conditions for future occupiers. The access to the site is through a commercial 
yard, some of the units (1-7) back onto an existing and unrestricted factory where noise 
levels are such that the applicant proposes mechanical ventilation within the units. Others 
(14-22) will have their rear boundaries formed by a retaining structure of at least 7m in 
height, similar to the dwellings themselves. Sections for plots 22, 20 and 16 show varying 
distances between rear elevations and the retaining wall, with plot 16 having less than a 6m 
interface. It can only be assumed that the relationship with plots 14 and 15 is even worse. 
No construction details/stability for this retaining structure is provided.

7.26 For these reasons it is concluded that that adverse environmental impacts are 
significant and demonstrable and outweigh the benefits in this particular case. Planning 
permission should be refused. 

8. RECOMMENDATION

A. That planning permission be refused  for the following reason:

1. The only access available to the land is available from an adjacent and 
established B2 factory. The proposal is to create access through part of the 
factory yard with a series of road markings and signage such that vehicles 
emerging from the proposed houses would give way to commercial traffic. 

Page 20



There are some significant level changes across the site which would require a 
major cut and fill operation with the need for retaining structures along the 
western boundary, shown to be in the region of at least 7m in height. It is 
because of these particular site characteristics that it is considered that the 
proposed development would lead to a very poor level of amenity and poor 
living conditions for future occupiers as a result of their proximity to the 
adjacent factory, their proximity to the retaining strucutres along the western 
boundary of the site and the proposed access through a commercial yard. As a 
result there is conflict with Polices DC1 and SD4 of the Staffordshire 
Moorlands Core Strategy which seek to ensure good design and protect 
amenity and it conflicts with the NPPF which requires good design, a high 
standard of amenity for future occupiers and requires decision makers to avoid 
noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of 
life. The proposal would not create a high quality place, would not function well 
nor would it create an attractive, welcoming place to live.  These adverse 
impacts are considered to be significant and demonstrable in this particular 
case and outweigh the benefits that delivering housing would bring, 
notwithstanding the Councils current land supply situation.  

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Operations Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do 
so in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Page 21



Page 22



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0316

Location Former Lask Edge Methodist Church, Cowallmoor Lane, 
Ladymoor Gage, Lask Edge

Proposal Proposed Change of Use from Place of Worship (D1) to 
residential dwelling (C3)

Applicant Dane and Trent Methodist Church
Agent Tarpey Woodfine Architects
Parish/ward Biddulph Town Council Biddulph South Ward
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard  
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4298 james.stannard@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

1.0 The application has been put before Planning Committee by the Operations 
Manager – Development Services due to the contentious nature of the 
application and number of objections received from members of the general 
public.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises the former Lask Edge Methodist Church which 
ceased its active use as a Church in September 2017 and an area of land to 
the rear. The site sits at the junction with Cowallmoor Lane and Lask Edge 
Road and lies approximately 2.6 miles north of Brown Edge village in the 
Green Belt. The site is considered to constitute a non-designated heritage 
asset by the Council’s Conservation Officer.

2.2 The site is bounded on all sides by a low stone boundary wall. To the west of 
the site is open agricultural land. To the north of the side is a private farm 
track, bordered by a line of trees and mature vegetation. To the east is Lask 
Edge Road which runs in a north to south direction. This boundary is also 
characterised by a line of trees and mature vegetation. To the south of the site 
is Cowallmoor Lane.  

2.3 The existing site plan shows the existing site to comprise the Church building 
which has a footprint measuring approximately 15m x 12m; a small area of 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



ground between the front and side elevations and the public highway; and a 
larger area of grassland to the rear which extends some 35m beyond the rear 
elevation of the Church building and spans a width of approximately 25m. The 
eastern part of this large grassland area measuring approximately 12m x 16m 
contains a number of gravestones marking the place of rest for deceased 
residents of the Parish.

2.4 A field gate comprises the existing access at the north-eastern corner of the 
site, approved under SMD/1979/0237, which opens onto the junction where 
the private farm track and Lask Edge Road meet.

2.5 An application to designate the Church as a Listed Building was received by 
Historic England in June of this year. This application has been assessed and 
determined, with a copy of the report being issued to the Council on 12th July. 
The report confirms that whilst the building is of local interest, it does not have 
any national architectural or historic interest which would warrant it to be 
listed.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 The application seeks planning permission for a proposed Change of Use 
from a place of worship (D1 Use Class), to a single residential dwelling (C3 
Use Class).

3.2 The plans, section and elevations drawing (Ref: 1026-04 Rev A) shows that 
the resultant dwelling would be a two storey property with a ground floor that 
comprises an open plan kitchen/dining and living area, a study, and utility 
room. The first floor would comprise two bedrooms; a bathroom; and a larger 
master bedroom with en-suite bathroom.

3.3 The plans highlight that no significant external changes are proposed to the 
existing building, with the excepting of roof lights, with key features such as 
roof times and window openings being retained.

3.4 The Proposed Site Plan (Drawing No: 1026-05 Rev E) shows that the 
pedestrian access to the property would be from the existing front entrance 
from Cowallmoor Lane. A new vehicular access from Lask Edge Road and 
driveway is proposed with off street parking provision for two vehicles and 
turning area. A new pedestrian access from Lask Edge Road is also included.

3.5 The Proposed Site Plan shows that the existing graveyard and gate access in 
the north eastern corner of the site is not included within the proposed 
Change of Use and would be blocked up. The garden area north of the 
parking area stands to the west of the graveyard and is marked by a clear 
boundary.

3.6 Section 11 of the Application Form has stated that the details for the disposal 
of foul sewage and whether it is proposed to connect to an existing sewer is 
unknown. Due to issues with drainage experienced on other sites for 

Page 24



residential development within the district, the applicant was advised that this 
issue should be fully investigated and resolved prior to determination. 

3.7 As such, a drainage scheme and subsequent revisions have been submitted 
by the applicant which has been the subject of consultation with Building 
Control. The latest drainage scheme is made up of the ‘Drainage & External 
Works Layout’ (Drawing Ref: 18378-100-P01) and ‘External Works Layout’ 
(Drawing Ref: 18378-101-P1). 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has formed part of the following previous planning applications:

SMD/1979/0237 Vehicular Access to Church (Approved)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The Development Plan comprises of:

 Saved Local Plan Proposals Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 1998).
 Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted March 2014)

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (1998)

5.2 Development boundaries within the 1998 Adopted Local Plan are still in force 
until such time as they are reviewed and adopted through the site allocations 
process.

Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy DPD (26th March 2014)

5.3 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 SS6 Rural Areas
 SS6c Other Rural Areas Strategy
 H1 New Housing Development
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC2 Historic Environment
 DC3 Landscape Character
 R2 Rural Housing
 NE1 Biodiversity
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport

National Planning Policy NPPF

5.4 The following parts of the National Planning Policy Framework are relevant to 
this application:- 

 Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2

Page 25



 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes Chapter 5
 Achieving well-designed places Chapter 12
 Protecting Green Belt Land Chapter 13
 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment Chapter 15
 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment Chapter 16

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Press Notice expiry date:    N/A
Site Notice expiry date:      6th July 2018

Local residents have been notified by letter. 

At the time of writing the report, 40 letters of objection have been received in respect 
of this application. A summary of the key material objections to the proposed change 
of use are summarised below:

 Concerns of proximity the driveway and garden area being intrusive to and 
encroaching on the graveyard and resultant negative impacts on the amenity 
of visitors to the graveyard

 Strong objection to any disruption to existing graves
 Problems with parking and access on to Lask Edge Road
 Lack of detail regarding boundary treatment between graveyard and curtilage
 No details regarding septic tank or sewerage connections
 No plans included for storage/collection of waste
 Character of existing Chapel will be significantly altered, any proposals should 

be sympathetic to the existing building
 Lask Edge Chapel should be treated as a Listed Building

Biddulph Town Council

Approve – subject to clarification on whether this was consecrated ground.

Conservation Officer

Initial Response 3rd July:

This would definitely qualify as a non-designated heritage asset under the terms of 
the NPPF. It is an historic and characterful building in an extremely prominent 
location. Both changes to the exterior and setting should be under close scrutiny. I 
feel that you should have a heritage statement with this application to describe its 
historic significance and allow us to ensure that the key significance relating to the 
building is retained. The Council’s design guidance on Conversions is relevant (and 
new design guidance). 

 There are some issues that I would pick up at this stage:

 Staffordshire blue clay tiles should be retained on the roof – not concrete.

Page 26



 Windows need to be assessed and significance ones retained (secondary 
glazed if necessary) to retain stained glass. Poorly detailed windows and loss 
of historic glass will harm the building’s character. 

 Roof lights are not an historic feature of the building and their use should be 
restricted to only where absolutely necessary. The front elevation is the most 
sensitive. The make, model and size needs to be specified.

 Details are required of junction of first floor with the windows

 Information on the interior of the building is required and the impact of 
proposed changes on this – trusses, rafters, decorative features

 Treatment of the walling needs careful handling to ensure that the setting of 
the chapel is not harmed and conditions will be required to control boundaries 
and remove PD.

Further Comments 9th July following further information submitted by applicant:

If three roof lights are acceptable for the front elevation then we should be requiring 
The Roof light Company roof lights or similar with the slim frame. Velux have wide 
frames and will look intrusive on the front elevation. 

Conditions: Prior to Commencement

 Joinery details including details of re-using existing decorative glass, position 
within the opening and method statement for the junction of the first floor 
across the windows

 Vents and ducts
 Rainwater goods
 Roof lights (if not already agreed)
 Boundaries 
 Remove PD

Staffordshire Moorlands Ecology

No objections subject to following conditions

1. There shall be no removal of any trees, shrubs or hedgerows during the bird 
nesting season (nominally March to August inclusive), unless otherwise 
agreed by the LPA and in this case only following careful inspection by a 
competent person to establish that such trees, shrubs or hedgerow are not in 
active use by nesting wild birds.

I would also suggest that standard conditions for hard and soft landscaping,  and for 
boundary treatments. It may well also be worth removing permitted development 
rights in order to control visually inappropriate domestic curtilage features, in 

Page 27



particular standard 2m high panel/board fencing which would be incongruous and 
out of character with both the site itself and the local landscape setting.
SMDC Waste

I have reviewed the plans as requested and I do not have any concerns with regards 
to waste collection or waste storage at this location. From the plans it shows plenty 
of outside space for the storage of wheel bins and the collection point would be 
where the property meets the adopted highway.

SMDC Building Control

Initial response – 26th July:

The information provided by the customer isn’t sufficient enough. From a building 
control point of view, we would be asking the customer if there is provision to 
connect to an existing sewer, and if not, then is the ground suitable enough for a 
septic tank and soakaway.

Revised response – 28th August:

The tank can take up to six people so depending on the number of bedrooms and 
occupants of the proposed house this should be fine. However, a percolation test 
would be required on the outfall for both the rainwater and tank outfall to determine 
the condition of the ground and whether or not the existing ground could take the 
proposed outfall.

SCC Highways

No objections subject to following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until details 
of the 2.4m x15m to the south and 2.4mx79m to the north visibility splays 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The visibility splay shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to 
visibility over a height of 900 mm above the adjacent carriageway level and be 
provided in accordance with the approved plan prior to the development being 
brought into use.

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
parking and turning areas have been provided in accordance with the 
approved plans. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained 
unobstructed as parking and turning areas for the life of the development.

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
access drive rear of the public highway has been surfaced and thereafter 
maintained in a bound and porous material for a minimum distance of 5m 
back from the carriageway edge in accordance with details to be first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning authority. The 
access shall thereafter be surfaced in accordance with the approved details.

Page 28



7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Key Issues

 Principle of Development & Green Belt
 Impact on heritage assets
 Ecology
 Design & Landscape Character
 Amenity
 Highway Safety

Principle of Development & Green Belt

7.1 The site is situated outside of the development boundary in the open 
countryside and within the North Staffordshire Green Belt. As such, this 
proposed Change of Use application is subject to Policies SS6, SS6c and R1 
of the Core Strategy and restrictive policies relating to the Protection of the 
Green Belt contained in Chapter 13 of the NPPF.

7.2 Policy SS6c allows for the conversion of rural building in accordance with 
policies R1 and R2. Policy R2 sets out the types of housing development 
which would be supported in the rural areas outside of development 
boundaries. The policy supports the conversion of non-residential rural 
buildings for residential use where the following applies:

- the building is suitable and worthy in physical, architectural and 
character terms for conversion

- it can be demonstrated that agricultural or commercial use is not viable 
or suitable, or;

- conversion to residential use would enable the building of particular 
merit to be safeguarded.

7.3 Paragraph 146 of the NPPF contains forms of development which would not 
be considered as inappropriate development within the Green Belt (and 
thereby acceptable in principle), provided they preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the five purposes of including land within it, 
as set out within paragraph 80 of the NPPF. One such form of development is 
“the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and 
substantial construction”.

7.4 The existing building ceased to be in operation as a place of worship in 
September 2017 and is currently redundant. The Church is constructed from 
coursed rock face stone built in the 19th Century and is considered to 
constitute a building of suitable and worthy physical and architectural form 
and character which could be reasonably converted for residential use with 
minimal alterations to external and internal architectural features. Given the 

Page 29



former use of the building and external and internal site layout, it is clear that 
any agricultural or commercial use would be unsuitable.

7.5 The Church was constructed in 1875 and is constructed of a coursed rock-
faced stone with a tiled roof. It is therefore considered that the building is 
considered to constitute a permanent and substantial construction. As such, 
the principle of re-using this redundant rural building in the Green Belt is 
considered to be acceptable in principle providing it preserves the openness 
of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of its designation.

7.6 The purposes of Green Belt are:
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 
other urban land. 

Given that the proposal involves the re-use of an existing building it will not 
exacerbate urban sprawl or result in any increased risk of merger of towns or 
result in additional encroachment into open countryside. There will be no 
greater impact on the setting of any historic towns. Although development of a 
dwelling in this location could potentially reduce demand for properties on 
derelict urban land, given the small scale of the development, this impact 
would be negligible. 

 
7.7 Turning to openness, no new physical structures are proposed, and the site is 

well defined by a dry stone boundary wall and bordered by a line of mature 
vegetation on its northern and eastern boundaries. No external alterations are 
proposed as part of this application, with the exception of a number of roof 
ligths. Subject to sensitive boundary treatment and removal of Permitted 
Development Rights, it is considered that the proposed use of this building as 
a residential dwelling would not result in any adverse harm to the openness of 
the Green Belt.

7.8 Based on the above assessment against relevant local development plan 
policies and restrictive Green Belt policies contained within Chapter 13 of the 
NPPF, the proposed change of use from a place of worship to a dwelling is 
considered to constitute a sustainable form of development in the Green Belt 
which is acceptable subject to all other relevant material considerations.

Loss of Community Facility

7.9 Policy C1 of the Core Strategy relates to Creating Sustainable Communities 
and states that in order to create sustainable communities at a local level the 
Council will, inter alia, resist proposals involving the loss of community 
facilities unless: 

(i) an alternative facility of the same type is available or can be provided in an 
accessible location in the same locality; or 

Page 30



(ii) a viability appraisal including a marketing exercise by a qualified 
professional demonstrates that there are no options for continued use as a 
community facility which are financially viable and it can be  demonstrated that 
loss of the facility would not disadvantage local residents.

7.10 Biddulph and Victoria Centre Methodist Church is an active place of worship 
located in Biddulph Town Centre approximately 5km from the site, providing 
an alternative similar facility within a reasonably close proximity to the site. As 
such, the proposal satisfied the first bullet point to Policy C1 and is therefore 
considered to be sustainable in this regard.

Impact on Heritage Assets

7.11 The site is considered to be of local importance by the Conservation Officer 
and should therefore be treated as a non designated heritage asset. An 
application was made to Historic England by a member of the public to 
designate the Church as a listed building. A decision was received from 
Historic England on 12th July 2018 stating that whilst the building is of local 
interest, there is no architectural or historic interest which would warrant its 
listing.

7.12 Policy DC2 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will safeguard and 
where possible enhance the historic environment, which includes buildings of 
local importance.

7.13 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires local authorities to take into account the 
effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset. 
In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the 
scale of any harm or loss and significance of the heritage asset.

7.14 The original plans and elevations submitted within the application raised 
comments by the Conservation Officer with regards to the proposed roof 
material; positioning and appearance of roof lights; importance of retaining 
historic windows; and that further clarification was required regarding the 
interior of the building.

7.15 A Heritage Statement assessing the significance of the building and proposed 
alterations was duly submitted by the applicant’s agent, together with revised 
plans, sections, elevations and internal photographs. Upon reviewing this 
information, the Conservation Officer has commented that there is no 
objection subject to strict conditions.

7.16 Based on the comments received by the Conservation Officer and the 
imposition of a number of conditions, the proposed change of use would not 
result in any harm to the character and appearance of this non-designated 
heritage asset. It is also considered that converting this redundant building to 
a residential dwelling allows the opportunity to ensure that the character and 
appearance of this locally important heritage asset is preserved. The 

Page 31



application is therefore judged to comply with policy DC2 of the Core Strategy 
and paragraph 135 of the NPPF.

Ecology

7.17 Policy NE1 of the Core Strategy requires all new development proposals to 
conserve or enhance ecological assets within the district. This includes 
protecting and enhancing habitats and species of principal importance, as 
identified in legislation. Chapter 11 of the NPPF contains the relevant national 
policies relating to nature conservation.

7.18 An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey & Daytime Bat Survey has been 
submitted as part of this application. The survey found no evidence of bat 
activity and therefore the structure is considered to offer negligible potential 
for a bat roost. As such, no further survey work was recommended, although 
appropriate mitigation has been recommended depending on when 
development takes place.

7.19 There are no objections from the Council’s Ecologist subject to appropriate 
conditions being applied to the development.

7.20 Based on the results of the submitted survey and the response from the 
Council’s Ecologist, it is considered that subject to appropriate conditions the 
proposed change of use will not result in any adverse harm to any protected 
species or any other ecological asset, in accordance with policy NE1 of the 
Core Strategy and Chapter 15 of the NPPF.

Design & Landscape Character

7.21 Policies SS1 and DC1 of the Core Strategy set out the design principles and 
considerations for all new development proposals in the District. Development 
should be designed to respect the site and its surroundings and promote a 
positive sense of place and identity through its scale, density, layout, siting, 
landscaping, character and appearance. Paragraph 56 of the NPPF highlights 
the importance of good design and that it forms a key part of achieving 
sustainable development.

7.22 Policy DC3 of the Core Strategy supports development which respects local 
landscape character. 

7.23 Paragraphs 124 and 127 of the NPPF highlight that the creation of high 
quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development should achieve, and that development should add overall quality 
to an area for the lifetime of development, by being visually attractive as a 
result of good architecture, layout and effective landscaping.

7.24 The original Proposed Site Plan (Drawing Ref: 1026-05) showed the rear 
garden area to cover the majority of the existing grass area, maintaining a 
boundary between the graveyard and the proposed garden area.  Following a 
significant number of objections from members of the public regarding the 

Page 32



close proximity and relationship between the graveyard and proposed rear 
garden, the applicant was asked to reduce the footprint of the garden to allow 
more space to be retained for members of the public to visit the graveyard 
and reflect. 

7.25 Following a revision to the proposed site plan the footprint of the garden area 
significantly reduced. A final Site Layout (Rev E) is the subject of the 
assessment which shows a new pedestrian access from Lask Edge Road 
separate to the vehicular access, with the existing access at the northern part 
of the site discontinued. 

7.26 The revised rear garden is of a reduced size which retains the area 
immediately adjacent to the graveyard for public access, which includes a 
memorial bench towards the northern boundary. Access from the north 
eastern gate will continue to be retained. This revised layout is considered to 
be acceptable. However, it is considered to be appropriate to remove 
permitted development rights for garden structures. 

7.27 With the exception of roof lights and replacement roof tiles, no external 
alterations are proposed to the existing building. Subject to the strict 
conditions that will ensure that the character of the building is retained, the 
proposed change of use would be of an acceptable scale, height, massing, 
layout, character and appearance, which preserve the rural character of the 
landscape, in accordance with policies SS1, DC1 and DC3 of the Core 
Strategy and paragraphs 124 and 127 of the NPPF.

Amenity

7.28 Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy requires all new developments to protect the 
amenity of the area, including residential amenity. Aspects of residential 
amenity include satisfactory daylight, sunlight, outlook, and privacy. The 
council’s ‘Space About Dwellings’ SPD provides further guidance with regards 
to required distances between habitable windows and minimum amenity 
space standards. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF requires all development to 
ensure a high standard of amenity for current and future occupiers,

7.29 The application site lies at the corner of a road junction, with the nearest 
residential property ‘Chapel Cottage’ situated some 50m to the south adjacent 
to Lask Edge Road. Two public right of ways are within the vicinity of the site. 
The first heads in a north easterly direction from Lask Edge Road opposite the 
eastern side elevation of the Church. The second runs east to west along the 
single farm track beyond the northern boundary.

7.30 Given the layout of the site, and distance of the nearest property, there are 
not considered to be any adverse impacts to the residential amenity of any 
neighbouring property. Due to the existing screening to the east and north of 
the site, it is also considered that no harm to the recreational amenity for 
users of either public footpath will occur as a result of this use.

Page 33



7.31 A significant number of objections have been received from members of the 
public in relation to the originally submitted plans. Many refer to the small 
separation distance between the proposed rear garden, driveway and 
graveyard, and that the majority of what is currently public space is taken up 
by a private garden.

7.32 Having considered these objections, it was requested that the footprint and 
width of the rear garden area be reduced so that the eastern boundary of the 
garden runs directly parallel with the western stone wall boundary.

7.33 This revised plan shows that the shortest distance between the edge of the 
driveway and existing graveyard is 2.0 metres. Subject to sensitive soft 
landscaping and boundary treatments, the revised plan is considered to 
represent an acceptable solution with regards to the proposal respecting the 
privacy of visitors to the graveyard. 

7.34 In light of the above, the revised layout of the proposed curtilage is considered 
to be acceptable with regards to public and visual amenity, in accordance with 
policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 17 of the NPPF.

Highway Safety

7.35 Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires all new development to be located 
where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing highway 
network. Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires safe and suitable access to all 
developments. Paragraph 109 states that development should only be 
refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe. 

7.36 The final proposed site plan (Rev E) shows a proposed access from Lask 
Edge Road approximately 8m in width with exit visibility splays taken from 
2.4m behind the edge of the carriageway.

7.37 The proposed site plan shows off street parking provision for two vehicles with 
a turning area. It is considered that two parking spaces for a three bedroom 
property are sufficient.

7.38 The Highways Authority have stated they have no objection to the proposed 
access subject to conditions which include the parking and turning areas are 
completed prior to the dwelling being brought into use. 

7.39 Based on the above, it is considered that the proposed development will not 
result in any severe adverse harm with regards to highway safety and 
therefore the application is compliant with policy T1 of the Core Strategy and 
paragraph 109 of the NPPF.   

Page 34



Other Matters

7.40 Objections have been received from members of the public with regards to a 
lack of detail and clarity with regards to foul drainage. Due to the sites rural 
location, it was considered appropriate to request the applicant address the 
issue of drainage prior to determination. 

7.41 With regards to the latest drainage scheme, Building Control have stated that 
the scheme will work for up to six people. The converted property is shown to 
have two double bedrooms which equates to a maximum of four occupants, 
and as such is considered to be acceptable. This is subject to a percolation 
test which would be required on the outfall for both the rainwater and tank 
outfall to determine the condition of the ground and whether or not the existing 
ground could take the proposed outfall.

7.42 Based on this consultation response, it is considered that the applicant has 
submitted sufficient information to allow the application to be determined, and 
that a percolation test should be submitted and approved by the local 
authority prior to the proposed use coming into operation.

7.43 All other material objections, which include the potential impact upon the 
existing graveyard and the amenity of people visiting it have been addressed 
within this report.

Planning Balance/Conclusion

7.45 The development would provide a single dwelling into the District, where the 
Councils are currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land.   
The conversion of the building would ensure that the important architectural 
qualities and historic features of this non-designated heritage asset are 
preserved, supporting the aims of Chapters 5 and 16 of the NPPF. Both are 
considered to be benefits that weigh heavily in favour of the proposal.

7.46 Policy S1a of the Core Strategy reflects the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development set out at paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision 
making this means approving development proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay unless any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies 
indicate development should be restricted.

7.47 The site is located outside of the development boundary within the Green Belt 
and is therefore subject to restrictive policies contained within Chapter 13 of 
the NPPF. Paragraph 146 of the NPPF allows for the re-use of buildings 
within the Green Belt providing they are of a permanent and substantial 
construction and do not have any further harm on openness or the purposes 
of including the land within the Green Belt. The building is of a permanent and 
substantial construction and would not result in any harm to the openness of 
the Green Belt or the purposes of including land within it, and thereby 
constitutes a sustainable form of development within the Green Belt. 

Page 35



7.48 A similar alternative facility (Biddulph Methodist Church) is situated 
approximately 5km from the site. The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with Policy C1 of the Core Strategy and as such the loss of this 
community facility is not considered to result in any adverse impacts; 
constituting a sustainable form of development in this regard.

7.49 Lask Edge Methodist Church is considered to be a building which is not 
suitable or viable for commercial use, and is of a suitable and worthy in 
physical and character terms for a residential conversion which will allow this 
non-designated heritage asset to be safeguarded, in line with policies SS6, 
SS6C, DC2 and R2 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 197 of the NPPF.

7.50 Subject to conditions, the Council’s Ecologist is satisfied with the findings of 
the submitted Ecological survey and as such it is considered that the 
application is in accordance with policy NE1 of the Core Strategy and relevant 
policies contained within Chapter 15 of the NPPF.

7.51 The proposed site layout in its final revised form has addressed all concerns 
raised by members of the public with regards to potential impacts to the 
adjacent graveyard and surrounding amenity area for visitors. This has been 
done by reducing the area of rear garden thereby retaining a significant area 
of land for visitors to the graveyard; and creating a new separate pedestrian 
access. Sensitive boundary treatment will be required and is to be secured by 
condition.

7.52 The proposal has not been judged to have any adverse impacts to the rural 
landscape character or residential amenity, in accordance with policies R2, 
DC1 and DC3 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

7.53 The site layout in its final revised form is considered to be acceptable in 
highway safety terms, as an appropriate exit visibility splay has been 
demonstrated from the proposed access to Lask Edge Road. It is therefore 
considered that there would be no adverse impacts with regards to Highway 
Safety, in line with policies DC1 and T1 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 
109 of the NPPF.

7.54 Following concerns relating to a lack of detail regarding the drainage of foul 
waste from the site in this rural location, the applicant has been required to 
submit a drainage scheme, the latest plans of which have been reviewed and 
approved by Building Control subject to a percolation test to determine the 
condition of the ground prior to the change of use coming into effect.

7.55 In conclusion, the application is considered to comply with the relevant 
restrictive policies contained within Chapter 13 of the NPPF and therefore 
comprises a sustainable form of development within the Green Belt. There are 
no adverse impacts which significantly or demonstrably outweigh the modest 
benefit of introducing a single dwelling to the area which utilities a redundant 
building and which allows a building of architectural merit to be preserved.

Page 36



7.56 As such, in line with policy SS1a of the Core Strategy and paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF, the application is recommended for approval subject to appropriate 
conditions.

8. RECOMMENDATION:

A. Approve subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:- To comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Town & Country 
Planning, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following Approved Plans:

 Location and Block Plans 1026-06
 Existing and Proposed Site Plan 1026-05 Rev E
 Proposed Plans, Sections and Elevations 1026-04
 Drainage and External Works Layout 18378-100-P01
 Drainage and External Works Details 18378-101-P01

Reason:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning

3. There shall be no removal of any trees, shrubs or hedgerows during the 
bird nesting season (March to August inclusive), unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the LPA and following careful inspection by a 
competent person to establish that such trees, shrubs or hedgerow are 
not in active use by nesting wild birds.

Reason: - In the interests of preserving environmental and biodiversity assets 
in
accordance with policy NE1 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy and 
Chapter 15 of the NPPF

4. Prior to the commencement of development a Percolation Test shall 
carried out and a report containing the results of the test shall be 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the local planning authority. 
Subject to this test being accepted, the drainage scheme shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved plans (Drawing Ref: 18378-
100-P01 & 18378-101-P01).

Reason:- In the interest of public amenity and the environment, in line with 
Policies SD4 and DC1 of the Staffs Moorlands Core Strategy

5. The exit visibility splay as shown on the Revised Proposed Site Plan 
(Drawing Ref: 1026-05 Rev E) shall be maintained and kept free of all 
obstructions to visibility over a height of 900mm above the adjacent 

Page 37



carriageway level and be provided in accordance with the Revised Site 
Plan prior to the development being brought in to use.

Reason:- In the interests of Highway Safety in line with policy T1 of the Core 
Strategy and paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

6. Prior to occupation, the parking and turning areas will be provided in 
accordance with the approved plans. The parking and turning areas 
shall thereafter be retained unobstructed as parking and turning areas 
for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: - In the interests of Highway Safety in line with policy T1 of the Core 
Strategy and paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

7. Prior to commencement of development, details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the private access drive shall be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason:- In the interests of Highway Safety in line with policies DC1 and T1 of 
the Core Strategy and paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

8. Prior to occupation, the access drive shall be surfaced and thereafter 
maintained in a bound and porous material for a minimum distance of 
5m back from the carriageway edge.

Reason:- In the interests of Highway Safety in line with policies DC1 and T1 of 
the Core Strategy and paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

9. Prior to commencement of development, a scheme detailing all 
boundary treatments shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason:- In the interests of high quality design in line with policy DC1 of the 
Core Strategy and paragraph 127 of the NPPF

10. Prior to commencement of development, details of joinery; vents and 
ducts; rainwater goods; and roof lights; shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.

Reason:- In the interests of preserving heritage assets in line with policy DC2 
of the Staffs Moorlands Core Strategy and relevant policies within Chapter 16 
of the NPPF.

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any amendment) no 
development as specified in Part 1, Schedule 2 Classes A-E and Part 2, 

Page 38



Classes A-C shall be carried out unless consent has been granted by 
the Local Planning Authority following the submission of a planning 
application

Reason:- In the interests of ensuring a high quality design of development and 
residential amenity, in line with policies SS1 and DC1 of the Staffs Moorlands 
Core Strategy

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in 
formatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – Development 
Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
Decision.

Site Plan 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0234

Location Fole Dairy, Uttoxeter Road, Fole
Proposal Outline application for residential development, 

means of access, ancillary works and site 
remediation

Applicant CB Collier FD Ltd
Agent Harris Lamb Ltd
Parish/ward Checkley Date registered 3/5/18
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Curley  
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4124 Jane.curley@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

This is a major application and previous applications have been considered 
by the Planning Applications Committee

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve subject to a Section 106 agreement and conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site extends to approximately 2 hectares. Until 
recently many of the buildings associated with the former use of the site as a 
dairy remained on site. However earlier this year the Council granted Prior 
approval for the demolition of the majority of the buildings.  There are several 
Listed buildings nearby including Fole Spring Farm, Mill Farm and Fole 
bridge.  

2.2 A number of buildings adjacent to the application site are considered 
to be non designated heritage assets. The main A522 Uttoxeter Road defines 
the site to the north and the River Tean to the south.  There are fields to the 
west and to the east is the unnamed road which connects Uttoxeter Road 
with Fole Lane. A small Chapel (Fole Reformed Evangelical Chapel) lies 
adjacent and to the north west of the site.

2.3 In the vicinity of the site Uttoxeter Road has a speed limit of 30mph 

2.4 There is an existing culvert which runs through the site in a north – 
south direction. Part of the Drainage strategy for the site involves opening 
this up in part. It is discussed more fully in the Officer comments below.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



2.5 There are bus stops close to the site linking to Hanely and Uttoxeter.
         
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This is an outline application for the redevelopment of the site for 
housing with all matters reserved for subsequent approval except for 
access. The primary access to the site is proposed from the existing access 
off Uttoxeter Road with secondary access points leading from the unnamed 
road to the east.

3.2 An Illustrative Plan is provided which shows a development of 56 units, 
a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed houses. A Viability Assessment 
accompanied the application which concluded that the development could 
not support the provision of any affordable housing nor any developer 
contributions. This is considered further in the Officer Comment section 
below

3.3 The application includes a Planning Statement, Design and Access 
Statement, Flood Risk Assessment, Transport Statement, Travel Plan 
Framework, Energy Statement, Extended Phase 1 habitat Survey, Bat 
emergence and activity survey, Tree survey, Heritage Statement, 
Landscape and Visual Impact assessment, Noise assessement, Air quality 
Report, Phase 2 Site investigation, Groundwater Monitoring report, Flood 
Risk Assessement, Drainage Report and a Viability Appraisal. Members are 
advised to consider all of these documents prior to the meeting.

3.4 The Planning Statement (from paras 1.6) states that the applicant 
specialises in remediating brownfield sites and bringing them to the market 
in a ‘shovel ready’ state for a housebuilder to make an early start on site. 
The applicant is unlikely therefore to carry out the development 

3.5 The applicant did engage with the Council and sought pre application 
advice. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

DET/2018/0012         Demolition of various former industrial buildings. Prior 
approval required and granted. 

13/00151/OUT-mj     Partial demolition and redevelopment of site for 
residential led mixed use scheme. Approved with Section 106 Agreement. 
Expired

12/00161/OUTMAJ – Previous application for the outline erection of 
housing/employment use – Refused 28 May 2012

12/00054/REFUSE  -  Appeal in to the above refusal, lodged 6 December 
2012 – to be considered by Public Inquiry – and was withdrawn (shortly 
before exchange of proof of evidence for the Inquiry) on 25 March 2013. 

Page 42



5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The Development Plan comprises of:

Saved Local Plan Proposals Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 1998).
Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted March 2014)

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (1998)

5.2 Development boundaries within the 1998 Adopted Local Plan are still 
in force until such time as they are reviewed and adopted through the 
site allocations process.  Following consultation last year a Preferred 
Options Site Allocation DPD is currently out for consultation.

Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy DPD (26th March 2014)

5.3 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

SS1 Development Principles
SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SD1 Sustainable Use of Resources
SD3 Carbon-saving Measures in Development
SD4 Pollution and Flood Risk
SS6C Rural area strategy
DC1 Design Considerations
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting
C1 Creating Sustainable Communities
NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources
T1 Development and Sustainable Transport
T2 Other Sustainable Transport Measures

Local Plan process

5.3 The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for 
representations in February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed 
that the Local Plan was “sound”. Formal representations were then 
invited from residents, businesses and other stakeholders to provide 
them with the opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or 
legal compliance of the Local Plan. This stage in the process followed 
three previous public consultations since 2015 which had informed the 
preparation of the Local Plan alongside a comprehensive evidence 
base. 

5.4 In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local 
Plan Submission Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An 
examination in public will now be held this Autumn in order to 
determine whether the Local Plan is sound and legally compliant. 
Subject to the findings of the appointed inspector, the Local Plan is 
expected to be adopted in the Spring of 2019. At his point, it will 

Page 43



supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part of the 
statutory development plan for the District.  

5.5 In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the 
policies contained in the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of 
the three criteria set out in Paragraph 48 of the NPPF is as follows:

 The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced 
stage of preparation as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for 
examination

 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies – this varies depending on the policy in question. The Officer 
Comments section of this report identifies the level of outstanding 
objections to each policy and recommends the amount of weight to be 
given to them at this stage in the process

 The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the 
Council has submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all 
policies are deemed to be consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:
Policy SS1 Development Principles
Policy 1a Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SS2 Settlement Hierarchy
SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy
Policy H1 New Housing Development
Policy DC2 Historic Environment

National Planning Policy NPPF

National Planning Policy Guidance

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

6.1 A Site Notice has been displayed and nearby residents notified by letter. 
One letter of objection received raising the following issues:-  

 Too many houses for this small hamlet
 Drainage report refers to flood waters being directed to road and 

landscaped areas in extreme storm events. How does that affect 
existing properties opposite the site

 Drainage report refers to raised floor levels – how does that affect 
existing properties opposite the site

 What happens to the borehole on site
 The site and neighbouring properties have flooded in the recent  past
 Plots 33 – 37 should be set further back and footpaths from these 

properties to the A522 may encourage on road parking. A barrier 
should be provided between these gardens and the main road. 

Page 44



Without this residents might be tempted to park on the main road. 
 Plot 54 shows the demolition of the Reading room. This should be 

retained.

Checkley Parish Council

6.2 Support the application

Trees and Woodland Officer   
   
6.3 The principle of a (mainly) residential re-development of this disused 
developed site has already been accepted through grant of outline 
permission under SMD/2013/0028, and I again have no objection in 
principle with regard to impact on existing trees (including removal of the 
overly-dominant existing Leylandii hedge to the northern boundary) or to 
landscape/visual impact.

6.4 The current application is in outline, seeking detailed approval at this 
stage only for access with all other matters including layout reserved; 
however, an indicative site layout plan is also submitted. The submitted 
Tree Survey/Arboricultural Impact Assessment report and Landscape and 
Visual Assessment report have also been taken into account. 

6.5 The proposed site access points would be based on existing access off 
Uttoxeter Road and Mill Lane and I have no objection to these in detail.

6.6 The description of development does not refer to a specific quantity of 
development, although the indicative layout shows 56 new dwellings. This is 
slightly less than the 60 indicated on the indicative masterplan/layout of the 
previous application, and reflects the central core of the site now being 
shown at slightly less dense disposition of dwellings, with a larger number of 
detached houses. In addition, a few dwellings are now indicated on the 
detached small part of the site on the eastern side of Mill Lane leading to 
Fole Bridge, which was previously identified for some employment 
development.

6.7 The indicative layout would generally make spatial provision for the 
retention of existing trees at/near the southern boundary along the River 
Tean and also retain the existing established hedgerow along the western 
boundary. The applicant’s tree report suggests some initial 
management/remedial work to some trees, reflecting their age and/or 
condition, but this would not significantly affect the extent, scale or character 
of tree cover and there would, mostly, be no direct impact on trees arising 
from the proposed scheme (but see detailed points listed below.

6.8 The exception to this tree retention would be the existing mature 
Leylandii hedge along the Uttoxeter Road frontage of the site. As previously 
advised, and again concurred by the applicant’s tree report, this is 
considered to be overly-dominant and overbearing, and out of keeping with 

Page 45



the basically rural landscape character of the area, and the proposed 
development would include removal of this hedge, to which I have no 
objection.

6.9 In terms of impact on landscape character, the site as existing is fully 
developed with large industrial type buildings, palisade security fencing and 
extensive hardstanding areas, and an overly dominant incongruous frontage 
hedge. This imparts a detrimental visual character which is exacerbated by 
the progressive dereliction since the site has been disused for a number of 
years. The proposed residential development would not at outline stage 
lead to the loss of any positive or valuable landscape features. Whilst a 
major residential estate-type development would also be an incongruous 
feature in the underlying rural landscape, it would arguably be less 
detrimental both in terms of built form and its existing and new soft 
landscaping. The result would be an enhancement over the present 
situation.

6.10 Visual impact on surrounding viewpoint receptors would be no greater 
than at present, and given the removal of large scale buildings and their 
replacement by more permeable built form with new soft landscaping 
percolating through the site, longer term visual impact is likely to be 
progressively reduced. This would be helped by retention/enhancement of 
existing and establishment of new/replacement boundary landscaping  - 
although I have some concerns in relation to the spatial opportunity to fully 
achieve this within the indicative layout. Although layout would be matter for 
subsequent reserved matters consideration/approval, the following points 
are raised at this as they may have some bearing on final site capacity  - at 
least for a development in the form currently indicated:

- The side elevation of the Plot 1 dwelling is very close to the western 
boundary of the site, and in fact would be likely to require cutting back 
of the existing hedge at this point rather than retention and 
enhancement, leading to a localised reduction in screening.

- Similarly the access path immediately adjacent to the western 
boundary, giving access to rear gardens of Plots 8/9/10, and the 
proximity to this boundary of the parking bays for Plots 1 and 7, would 
also be likely to require on-going cutting back of hedgerow.

- The layout of Plots 1 – 10 is very regular/linear/formal as the outer 
edge of the development along the western boundary. A more 
irregular organic form, with more varied orientation, grouping and 
distances from the boundary would give a more informal character 
more in keeping with the rural location, and could be designed so as to 
make better opportunity for additional buffer planting along this edge 
of the site. 

- The above issues in combination point to a lack of sufficient spatial 
opportunity to satisfactorily reinforce/complement/enhance the existing 
vegetation here, and this therefore fails to support the applicant’s 
landscape strategy and give confidence that this would be achieved in 
practice.

- There is virtually no space within the site red edge available for 
planting along the northern boundary, between this boundary and the 

Page 46



edge of the shared access drive to Plots 28 – 32. Again this fails to 
support the landscape strategy objective of establishing a new native 
hedgerow to the site frontage in place of the existing Leylandii hedge – 
and indeed anyway we may well reasonably require a landscape 
buffer to this boundary of a lot more substance than just a single 
hedgeline.

- There is realistically no space to the frontage of Plots 33 – 37 for 
anything other than a basic hedge, and given the close proximity to 
the front elevation/outlook to these dwellings such a hedge would be 
likely to be quite tightly maintained to prevent encroachment onto the 
dwellings, and also onto the immediately adjacent highway 
carriageway. Greater set-back from the northern boundary should be 
considered to allow realistic space to establish a substantial and 
effective screen planting buffer of hedge/shrubs/trees.

- Dwellings at Plots 45 and 50 appear to be within the indicated crown 
spread of a mature Ash tree directly across Mill Lane (T19 in the 
applicant’s tree report), and this would lead to a subsequent over-
bearing impact of the tree on the fronts of these Plots, creating 
pressure for lopping, which does not seem an appropriate approach to 
site planning/tree retention.

- The dwelling footprints of Plots 55 and 56 encroach slightly within the 
Root Protection Area of another mature Ash tree (T20), and the 
indicated crown spread would also encroach directly onto the rear 
elevations/roofs of these houses, on both counts pointing towards 
inappropriate overdevelopment of this detached part of the site. 
Notwithstanding the unacceptable direct impact on tree roots and 
crown, the rear garden of Plot 56 is virtually all beneath the indicated 
crown spread of T20, with garden and rear elevation of this Plot (and 
to a lesser extent also Plot 55) being unacceptably overly dominated 
by the tree. This would inevitably lead to pressure for felling or 
substantial and potentially unsightly/harmful crown reduction.

- Plot 53 dwelling footprint encroaches substantially within the Root 
Protection Area of mature Lime trees T15, and this tree together with 
its neighbour Beech T14 and further trees to the south-west would 
heavily dominate the rear of the Plot (garden and rear outlook from 
dwelling). This arrangement appears much too close to be sustainable 
– both in terms of reasonable/acceptable living conditions for 
occupants and satisfactory tree retention.

- Some of the indicative on-plot new tree planting appears somewhat 
unrealistic in terms of proximity to dwellings and allowing sufficient 
space for satisfactory establishment and growth of even modestly 
sized garden tree species – although it is appreciated this is just an 
indication at this stage and in many cases there may well be flexibility 
in practice over precise planting positions and species selection.

6.11 As already noted, these points are matters of detailed layout, which in 
themselves do not present constraint to the principle of residential 
development of the general type indicated, but may well require 
amendments at the next stage. However, in the event that outline planning 
permission is granted I would request that conditions relating to no trees, 

Page 47



shrubs or hedgerows shall be removed. Other than those shown and details 
of tree protection measures. 

Ecology Officer 

6.12 Awaited 

Environmental Health Officer     

6.13 No objection subject to conditions

Conservation Officer      

6.14 No objection subject to conditions  

  Regeneration Officer     

6.15 Advises that the proposal for the development of 56 residential units at 
Fole Dairy will provide the following outputs:

: 
 The new householders occupying each new house will spend some of 

their income locally through shopping and use of local services. 
National research has identified that 34% of all household expenditure 
is spent at district level or below. For this development of 56 units this 
is calculated at £515,336 per year. 

 Each new house will generate direct jobs within the construction 
industry or associated supply chain, of which 25% are likely to be 
locally based. Indirect Jobs are also generated by local spend in 
shops and services. This is calculated at an additional local job for 
every seven new homes. Using these multipliers the development will 
generate 60 direct jobs and 8 indirect jobs.    

 The development will also generate  approximately £10,287  council 
tax for the area per annum

Open Spaces

6.16 The Project Officer initially raised issue that no on-site play was 
provided. She advised that the nearest play and recreation area is in Upper 
Tean (the rec ground off High Street) which is at least  5,000 meters from 
the proposed development.  ‘Beyond the Six Acre Standard’ is good 
practice guidance for outdoor play and sport and this states that 1,600m = 
20 minutes walk, is the maximum you would expect a child to travel to 
access play and recreation provision – 5,000 meters is a good hour’s walk, 
too far for a young child. She advised that this is the difficulty with such 
rurally isolated developments. The document states that developments 
providing between 10-200 dwellings should be providing an on-site LEAP. 
She considered that in this case some on-site play should be provided. 

6.17 The play area subsequently shown on the Illustrative Plan was tucked 
in the south east corner. The Project Officer considered this and advised 

Page 48



that it would not be acceptable in this location as it had no casual 
supervision from any of the properties; in fact there are no properties close 
to this play area, let alone facing onto it on the Illustrative Plan. She advised 
that the design and layout should follow the principles of ‘Secure by Design’. 
A revised location was then shown which whilst in a better location with 
some casual surveillance provided by houses on the Illustrative Plan it did 
not appear to achieve the advised buffers. 

6.18 The Project Officer also advises that an off-site contribution towards 
playing fields would be sought which would be required for enhancements 
to existing playing fields/pitches in the catchment of the development. The 
formula for calculating this is £ £627.21 per bedroom.

Local Highway Authority 

6.19 No objection subject to conditions including provision of off site 
highway works to include a 2m footway on the A522 Uttoxeter Road 
frontage incorporating a pedestrian dropped crossing close to the bus stop 
and the upgrading of the existing bus stop on the A522 Uttoxeter Road. 

Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) 

6.20 Initially recommended refusal because the submitted documents did 
not provide a suitable basis for assessment to be made of the flood risks 
arising from the proposed development. Following receipt of a Revised 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) the LLFA has confirmed that it has no 
objection subject to conditions. 

Environment Agency

6.21 No objection subject to conditions to ensure that a) the development 
does not pose an unacceptable flood risk b) to protect controlled water 
receptors of the River Tean, Broadgate Brook and the groundwater in the 
underlying Secondary Aquifers and Source Protection Zone and to assess 
risk to these waters and inform any appropriate remediation c) to deal with 
an unexpected contamination and ensure the site is remediated 
appropriately

Severn Trent Water

6.22 No objection subject to a standard drainage condition. Advise that 
there is a public sewer located within this site and a pumping station close 
to the site. Any new development must not restrict access to the Sewage 
Pumping Station (SPS). Due to the close proximity of the proposed new 
development the occupant may experience noise and/or smell pollution. In 
order to minimise disruption to any future occupant(s), and as such advise 
that all habitable buildings are constructed a minimum of 15metres from the 
curtilage of the SPS compound.

Page 49



Police Architectural Liaison Officer

6.23 No objection. Staffordshire Police have no issues with a residential 
development coming forward for this brownfield site, which over the years 
has attracted intruders and unwanted attention. A site layout coming forward 
along the lines of the indicative site layout drawing accompanying this 
application would generally be viewed favourably by Staffordshire Police. 
Any reserved matters planning application that subsequently comes forward 
should clearly explain within the Design and Access Statement and 
demonstrate in the site layout how crime prevention and community safety 
measures have been considered in the design of the proposal.

SCC Education Authority 

6.24  Advise that Hutchinson Memorial CE(A) First School and Thomas 
Alleynes High school are projected to have sufficient space to 
accommodate the pupils that this development      
 could generate and so we would not request a contribution towards First 
and High School places. Middle school places across Uttoxeter Town are 
projected to be insufficient to accommodate the pupils generated from this 
development and so we would suggest a total  request, of 7 Middle School 
places (7 x £13,827 = £96,789). 

Design Review Panel

6.25 Overall the scheme has some positive features in that it opens up the 
culverted watercourse in part that runs through the site and retains tree 
cover at the rear adjacent to the river. Footpath access is shown along the 
side of the stream and river which is also positive. The scheme proposes 
some fairly decent landscaping at the front of the site in terms of hedges 
and significant tree cover. This is evidenced on the street scenes. However, 
the Panel was not convinced there was adequate room to achieve such a 
substantial cover. In addition, the street scenes were a little miss-leading as 
tree planting at such a size would not be immediately achievable.  The 
Panel felt it was important to safeguard some land to future proof the 
Chapel. It is rather ‘hemmed’ in. On the negative side the Panel felt that the 
development lacked a strong perimeter development led layout. Areas of 
particular concern were the small cul de sac created around plots 38 – 47 
which presented an open view to the rear gardens of units 43 and 44. 
 Larger perimeter blocks need to be created throughout the site by 
amalgamating blocks 11 – 18 with blocks 19 – 23. The additional access 
created off the unnamed road serves a very limited number of dwellings. It 
is poor and consideration should be given to removing this and creating an 
alternative access to these plots with a possible connection along the east 
side of the stream. Some of the road widths looked overly large and 
engineered for such a small site.  There are missed opportunities to narrow 
the carriageway and remove footpaths. A strong built development line 
should be encouraged by linking some of the plots or/and bring forward the 
siting of the garages.  Particular areas of concern were 42 – 53 (could be 
linked and more organic/rural c     haracter) and 29 -30. The orientation of 

Page 50



plot 32 should be aligned so that it addresses Uttoxeter Road.  The panel 
were encouraged by the indicative house design and proposed material 
schedule which they considered appropriate. 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 

7.1 As with all applications, the LPA is required to determine this application 
in accordance with the Development Plan, unless there are material 
circumstances which indicate otherwise and in determining these 
applications, it shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
in so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations.  

7.2 Core Strategy Policy SS1a establishes a 'Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development' in line with the National Planning Policy (herein 
referred to as the NPPF) where: (1) planning applications that accord with 
policies within the Core Strategy will be approved without delay and (2) 
where there are no relevant policies or they are out of date, the Council will 
grant planning permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
considering:-

- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or,
- Specific policies in within the NPPF indicate that development should 
be restricted.

Principle 

7.3 This is a brownfield site situated within the small hamlet of Fole and on 
land defined as open countryside. There was until June 2017 an extant 
permission for a mixed development of housing and employment on the 
site. However this has now expired and no longer constitutes a valid ‘fall 
back’. It is nevertheless a material consideration in the assessment of this 
application. The weight to be given to it is a matter of planning judgement 
and is discussed further in the planning balance below. It is noteworthy that 
this previous application secured 33% of the total number of dwellings to be 
affordable housing and developer contributions.

7.4 Fole is not identified as even a small village in the Core Strategy in view 
of the very limited services and facilities available. It is within the open 
countryside and therefore Policy SS6C is relevant which sets out the 
development strategy for the rural areas of the District. As an existing 
employment site Policy E2 is also relevant. It seeks to protect existing 
employment sites whether occupied or not. These polices are the starting 
point in the consideration of this application.  

7.5Policy SS6c seeks to strictly control new development within the rural 
areas. However in line with Policy E2 (see discussion below) it also 
recognises that historically large scale development has taken place in 
these areas, a large commercial dairy on this particular site for example.  

Page 51



Where these sites are no longer needed, Policy SS6C facilitates their 
appropriate redevelopment provided that the proposal brings positive 
benefits to the area and any resultant highway or environmental concerns 
can be addressed or minimised. The proposal it says should clearly 
demonstrate how the redevelopment will complement the overall 
development strategy for the District.

7.6 Policy E2 seeks to protect existing employment sites. It says that 
redevelopment for housing will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that the site is no longer suitable and viable for continued 
employment use or where redevelopment achieves substantial planning 
benefits which outweigh the loss of employment use. It says that preference 
will be given to mixed use redevelopment that retains an element of 
employment provision. 

7.7 The initial submission did not address this policy so the applicant was 
invited to comment. He responded with a short commentary. In respect of 
marketing of the site in the last 18 months he says, 

‘There are very few commercial enquiries (B1, B2 & B8 Uses) 
listed during this period and from reviewing the uses, they are 
principally low value I quality land uses such as trailer 
parking,, skip storage, recycling and demolition yard uses’.

7.8 The applicant went on to list the substantial benefits that he considers 
stem from the proposal including increased housing supply, remediation of a 
contaminated site, visual improvement, improvement to surface water 
drainage and benefits to the local economy.

7.9 It is considered that the substantial planning benefits referred to in both 
Polices SS6c and E2 do stem from redeveloping this site for housing, 
particularly in terms of the environmental improvements from the 
remediation of this derelict and under used site and improvements to the 
drainage situation, the social benefit of boosting housing supply in 
cicumstances of a very significant and continuing under supply (less than 2 
years). There are no highway constraints. The proposal would also bring 
economic benefits. The Regeneration Officer has clarified above the likely 
economic outputs from the development both direct and indirect from 
construction, supply chain, the local economy and Council tax receipts. 
Together these are considered to be substantial planning benefits and are 
positive elements of the scheme. 

7.10 The second strand of that part of SS6C relating to major developed 
areas requires the applicant to clearly demonstrate that the redevelopment 
will complement the overall development strategy for the District.On the face 
of it Fole lacks services and facilites and would not appear suitable for the 
scale of development proposed. In this respect there is some conflict with 
that part of SS6C which requires proposals for the development of major 
developed areas to clearly demonstrate how the redevelopment will 
complement the overall development strategy for the District. However as 

Page 52



the applicant notes the site is only 1.4km from the nearby village of Checkey 
where there is a primary school, pubs, church and community hall. Five 
miles to the south east of the site is the town of Uttoxeter which provides a 
full range of services and facilities including a train station. Within 3 miles, 
also to the south east a major new junction with the A50 is under 
construction which will improve the link from the A522 at this point to the 
A50. JCB also has a major employment facility at this located at the 
junction. Although there is no escaping the fact that Fole itself is a small 
hamlet, having regard to its wider location the application site is not remote 
or wholly unsustainble (see also discussion on accessibility below). 

7.11 Policy E2 sets out a ‘preference’ (not a requriement) for redevelopment 
schemes to provide mixed use developments. The 2013 application did 
include a minimal element of new employment space (300sq m) however 
the Council did accept at that time the loss of the majority of this 
employment site. It appears from the limited information provided by the 
applicant that no serious interest has since been expressed for employment 
use. It is for these reasons that the lack of employment space is not 
considered to be fatal to the application and that there is compliance with 
Policy E2. 

7.12 Moreover, however, there are other material considerations in the form 
of the NPPF. The Council’s current housing supply is 1.99 years. The NPPF 
says at paragraph 11, footnote 7 that where a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites can not be demonstrated policies which are most relevant for 
determining the application are out of date and in these circumstances 
planning permission must be granted unless the any adverse effects of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. The so-
called “tilted balance." This matter is returned to in the planning balance 
below.

7.13 Furthermore, in addition to seeking to significanlty boosting the supply 
of homes, the revised NPPF places much emphasis on making effective use 
of land, dedicating a whole chapter to it. Para 118 refers to LPA’s supporting 
appropriate opportunities to remediate derelict and contaminated land; 
promote and support the development of under-utlised land and buildings, 
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land 
supply is constrained and available sites such as this, could be used more 
effectively. Para 121 says that LPA’s should also take a positive approach 
to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but 
not allocated in a plan, where this would help to meet identifed development 
needs. In particular it says LPA’s should support proposals to use amongst 
other matters employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, 
provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or sites and be 
compatible with other policies in the Framework. Again this matter is 
returned to in the planning balance below but it lends support to the 
application.  

7.14 The conclusion in terms of the principle of development there is 

Page 53



compliance with Policy E2 but some limited conflict with Policy SS6C. This 
matter is returned to in the planning balance below.  The other main issues 
of access, accessibility, Viability, Flood risk/Drainage, residential amenity, 
Illustrative plan, landscape and visual impact, heritage and biodiversity. 
These are discussed under the various sub headings below.

Access

7.15 Approval of access is sought at this stage. The application is 
accompanied by a Transport Assessment which has been considered by 
the Local Highway Authority. The existing main access into the site from 
Uttoxeter Road will continue to be the main access. It has good visibility in 
both directions with splays of 2.4m by 90m achievable in both directions. 
The illustrative plan shows a number of minor accesses on the side road to 
the east serving either individual dwellings or parking courtyards. The IP 
also shows several footpath links through the site. 

7.16 The LHA has raised no objection to the application subject to a number 
of conditions   including off site highway works to include a 2m new footway 
across the site frontage, a pedestrian dropped crossing and upgrading of 
the existing bus stop outside the site. These measures are considered to be 
necessary to improve pedestrian linkages to the bus stop and to the 
footpath on the north side of the main road which links all the way to 
Checkley and to the bus stop on the north side of the A522 and improve the 
bus stop itself ensuring that walking and public transport use are 
encouarged as far as possible.  

7.17 With these conditions in place the development is considered to 
comply with those parts of Policy T1 and DC1 and the NPPF which relate to 
the provision of a suitable and safe access for all users and an acceptable 
impact on the highway network and highway safety.  No objection is raised 
on highway grounds. 

Accessibility

7.18 The TA considers matters of accessibility and the locational 
sustainability of the site. As noted above the applicant has offered to provide 
a footpath across the site frontage to provide a direct route from the site to 
the bus stop which lies directly outside the site. There is a further bus stop 
to the east of the site. An existing footpath on the north side of the main 
road provides a link to this. It also continues westward to Checkley village. 
As the A522 passes through Fole the speed limit is 30 mph. 

7.19 The TA assesses the location of the site relative to services/facilities. It 
says that the site is near to Checkley village where there is a Primary 
school, Community centre, Church, Cricket club and two pubs/restaurants. 
According to the applicant these facilities are an 18 minute walk from the 
site (distance 1.4km). Manual for Streets suggests that walking offers the 
greatest potential to replace short car trips particularly those less than 2km. 

Page 54



The path is level and lit along the way albiet that it runs alongside the A522.  

7.20 For cyclists the submitted TA says that a distance of 5km is considered 
to be acceptable as an alternative to car travel. The TA says that based on 
relatively low cycling speed of 15kph this distance can be cycled in around 
20 minutes and would reach for example Upper Tean, Lower Tean and 
parts of Uttoxeter. The TA says that the Lane to the east of the site is 
classified as an ‘on road advisory cycle’ route and links into the wider 
network of on and off road routes around Straffordshire. It says it provides 
access to Uttoxeter to the east and Cheadle to the west. Clarification is 
being sought from the applicant on this as the plan at Appendix H of the TA 
is far from clear and doesn’t extend to Cheadle or Uttoxeter.

7.21 In terms of modes of travel other than the car and walking, as 
mentioned there are bus stops on the north and south of Uttoxeter Road 
close to the site. There is a reasonably frequent hourly service Monday to 
Saturday between Hanley and Uttoxeter, No 32 service with most routes 
calling at Fole, Checkley, Lower Tean, Upper Tean and Cheadle. There is 
however no Sunday service.

7.22 The TA confirms that there are no trains within acceptable walking or 
cycling distance of the site albeit that the bus service does provide a link to 
Uttoxeter Railway Station.

7.23 A Travel Plan Framework (TPF) is offered. The applicant states that 
the TP is not intended to be anti car, which in any case would be unrealistic 
here, but to provide information to residents and visitors on alternative 
modes of travel. This could be through introductory packs to new residents 
for example outlining local pedestrian and cycle routes and bus timetables. 

7.24 This site can not be regarded as highly sustainable. However the 
above does show that there are some realistic alternatives to the car. 
Walking and cycling opportunities are available and can be encouraged and 
there is a bus service with onward link to the train station at Uttoxeter, some 
5 miles away. Measures to facilitate these modes can be secured as part of 
this development.   Very few sites in the Moorlands benefit from such 
access to the rail network.

7.25 The Local Highway Authority raises no objection to the application on 
accessibility grounds subject to conditions to secure measures to facilitate 
other modes of travel. The conclusion is that the proposal does take the 
opportunities available to promote sustainable transport modes given its 
location (para 108 NPPF) and accords with that part of Policy T1 which 
refers to making the proposal accessible and faciliate walking and cycling.  

Viability – including affordable housing, public open space and education 

7.26 Policy H2 requires that 33% of the total number of dwellings on this site 
should be affordable secured through a Section 106 Obligation. Policy C2 
requires that qualifying new development, which this is, should make 

Page 55



provision for and/or contribute towards the provision of open space in 
accordance with the SPD. In this case an on site LEAP was requested by 
the Projects Officer, due to the size of the development and distance from 
other play facilites. She also requested a contribution of £627.21 per 
bedroom towards the improvement of playing fields off site to mitiagte 
impact on open space provision. In line with Policy C1, SCC Education 
Authority has requested a contribution of £96 789 towards additional school 
places to mitigate the impact that the development will have on school 
capacity.

7.27 The application was accompanied by a Viability appraisal which 
concluded that the development could not provide any affordable housing, 
provide an on site LEAP nor absorb any developer contributions (education 
and public open space) due to the abnormal costs, mainly assocaited with 
remediation works.  To do so would, it said, render the scheme unviable. 

7.28The Council has sought an independent review of this. The conclusion 
of the Councils consultants, after some discussion with the applicant and 
review of input figures/costs is that applying both policy compliant affordable 
housing, an onsite LEAP and developer contributions for education and 
public open space would result in a 5.78% profit on GDV. Clearly at this 
profit level the scheme is unlikely to proceed. However they disagree with 
the applicant that no affordable housing and/or S106 contributions could be 
provided. Based on their revised figures and assessment they advise that 
running the following appraisals does produce a realistic profit.

a) Affordable housing only -  giving a profit of 18.21% on GDV this 
appraisal shows that 5% affordable housing could be provided  
equating to 3 units based on the Illustrative Plan or 
b)  Developer contribution only – giving a profit of 18.29% on GDV this 
appraisal shows that an on site LEAP could be provided together with 
either the higher cost of an off site playing field contribution or slightly 
lower cost of an education contribution.

7.29 The applicant largely accepts this assessment. Although provision of 
affordable housing is a Council priority and would perhaps be the obvious 
choice over a S106 contribution and on site LEAP, the Housing Officer 
verbally advises that it is unlikely that a Registered provider would be 
interested in just 3 units here for management/maintenance reasons. The 
revised NPPF does include discounted market sales housing as ‘affordable 
housing’ and this could be a further option to consider. However Officers 
view is that the provision of a LEAP on site together with a contribution for 
improvement of playing fields off site is the most beneficial and appropriate 
in this case. The applicant has put to the Council a proposal for a LAP 
rather than a LEAP. His reasons being 
- LEAP is suitable for schemes up to 100 units which is clearly more 

significant than the size of the application site
- a LAP would have a smaller site area
- All houses will have private gardens 
However the advice of Officers is that a LEAP should be sought. This is 

Page 56



because there is no facility nearby for users to walk to, a LAP provides very 
limited play value and only to those in the 0-5 year age group whereas a 
LEAP caters for 0-12 years. The NPPF says that planning decisions should 
aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places to enable and support 
healthy life styles. Subject therefore to a Section 106 obligation to secure an 
on site LEAP and a contribution for off site playing field provision, there is 
compliance with Policies H2 and C2.

Flood Risk/Drainage

7.30 The application site lies within Flood Zones 2 and 3 which is land most 
at risk of flooding. A full Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage Strategy 
accompanies the application.
  
7.31 The Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA), Environment Agency (EA) and 
Severn Trent Water (STW) have all been consulted as part of the 
application. 

7.32 The LLFA advise of past flooding at the site from the Broadgate Hall 
Brook which they say has spilled across the road and into this site. The 
Brook is currently culverted under the application site but as part of the 
Drainage strategy and FRA, the proposal is to open up this Brook as it 
passes through the site in several sections. 

7.33 The LLFA initially objected to the application on the grounds that the 
submitted documents did not provide a suitable basis for an assessment to 
be made of the flood risks arising from the proposed development. However 
following consideration of a revised FRA/Drainage Strategy the LLFA has 
moved to a position of ‘No objection’ subject to conditions to secure the 
revised FRA and a number of measures. They say that crucial to preventing 
flooding of the site is the removal of the current culvert under the site and 
the creation of a new open channel through the majority of the site, along 
with a flow interception ditch alongside the A522.  They also require an 
adequate 3m access easement be maintained from the top of the banks of 
the channel and for the slopes of the channel be 1 in 3 to allow easy 
maintenance. 

7.34 The LLFA comment that no details are provided as to which responsible 
body will maintain the surface water system and the proposed open 
channel and ditch over the lifetime of the development nor has a 
maintenance schedule been provided. Similarly areas of open space beyond 
individual plot curtilages will need to be maintained and managed. These 
matters need to be secured through the Section 106 Agreement.

7.35 The Environment Agency raised no ojection to the intial application 
subject to various conditions. They have been consulted on the revised 
FRA/Drainage Strategy and Members will be updated on their response at 
the meeting. 

7.36  Severn Trent Water has raised no objection to the application subject 

Page 57



to a drainage condition.They draw attention to their Sewage Pumping Station 
to the south west of the application site and of the need to maintain a 15m 
buffer between this and all habitable buildings on the application site. This is 
a matter for consideration at the reserved matters stage but an informative is 
added for the applicant’s attention. For these reasons the application is 
considered to comply with Policy SD4 and the NPPF. 

Residential Amenity (including noise, air quality and contamination) 

7.37 With regard to amenity of existing and proposed residents, the 
application does not seek a specific number of units in the 
application/description and Layout is a reserved matter. However, it would 
be necessary to ensure at the reserved matters stage that the scheme 
complied with the Councils Space About Dwellings requirements in terms of 
separation distances both to existing dwellings and between dwellings 
within the scheme, minimum garden sizes etc.

7.38 Through various submitted reports the applicant has assessed impacts 
of noise (to the proposed dwellings from the main road and to existing 
residents during the development phase) air quality and contamination. The 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO) largely accepts the conclusions 
reached. In respect of noise, mitigation measures are set out in the Noise 
Assessment which the EHO recommends are secured through a condition. 
In respect of air quality, the EHO recommends a condition to secure a 
Construction Management Plan to mitigate impact during construction.

7.39 In respect of contamination the EHO has assessed the submitted 
reports which he considers to be a good overview of the sources of 
contamination. He advises that the proposed CSM proposed is acceptable 
and that the proposals for groundwater contamination/ remediation have 
been agreed with the EA (see discussion elsewhere too). The EHO says 
that further works will be required as the buildings are demolished and 
conditions are necessary therefore to require this work to be undertaken. 
The scope of works can be summarised as: 

 Pre-development – targeted remediation works;
 Pre-development – site wide remediation activity; and
 Post-development site wide verification and remediation in accordance 

with finalised scheme details.
  

7.40 Subject therefore to the imposition of conditions to secure works 
and/or mitigate impact, the development is considered to comply with 
Polices DC1 and SD4 which seek to minimise pollution and protect 
residential amenity.

Illustrative layout 

7.41 The applicant has provided an Illustrative Plan (IP) which shows a 
layout of 56 units. Although Layout is a reserved matter, the Viability 

Page 58



appraisal has been based on this layout. Although the application does not 
seek a certain number of dwellings it is appropriate to comment on the IP 
and highlight any shortcomings which need to be taken on board at the 
reserved matters stage. 

7.42 The Design and Access Statement explains the design rationale for the 
scheme. It refers to the opportunities of the site including the opening up of 
the culvert flowing north – south through the site as a public footpath 
feature, the removal of the frontage conifers, provision of green buffers to 
the west where the site adjoins open countryside, retention of trees and 
hedgerows fronting the River Tean and to new native and tree planting, 
inclduing along the road fronatge.  The DAS refers to all dwellings being two 
storeys, of brick construction incorporating brick soldier courses, heads and 
cills, gable projections, mix of brick and timber painted fascias for eaves and 
verge detail, upvc windows and doors.

7.43 Officers and the Design Review Panel have reviewed the scheme. 
Overall the scheme has some positive features including the partial opening 
up of the culvert which runs through the site and the retained tree cover 
adjacent to the river. The removal of frontage conifer hedge is also a 
positive element. Connectivity through the site is also positive although links 
outside the site are less clear. The Panel were encouraged by the indicative 
house design and proposed material schedule which they considered 
appropriate. The Visuals show considerable landscaping. Landscaping is 
also referred to in the DAS as an important part of the design rationale for 
the site. Officers agree it is very important to assimilate the development 
into its rural context but the Panel was not convinced there was adequate 
room to achieve such a substantial cover. Indeed the Panel felt that the 
street scenes were a little mis-leading as tree planting at such a size would 
not be immediately achievable. As noted elsewhere the Trees and 
Woodland Officer’s comments on the application are awaited and will be 
reported at the meeting. He will comment on how achievable this would be 
in reality.  On the negative side the Panel felt that the development lacked a 
strong perimeter development led layout. Areas of particular concern were 
the small cul de sac created around plots 38 – 47 which presented an open 
view to the rear gardens of units 43 and 44.  Larger perimeter blocks need 
to be created throughout the site by amalgamating blocks 11 – 18 with 
blocks 19 – 23. The additional access created off the unnamed road serves 
a very limited number of dwellings. It is poor and consideration should be 
given to removing this and creating an alternative access to these plots. A 
strong built development line should be encouraged by linking some of the 
plots or/and bring forward the siting of the garages.  Particular areas of 
concern were the outer facing elelents of the scheme i.e Uttoxeter Road 
frontage and development fronting the side road to the east.     

7.44 Other matters rasied by the Panel, Officers and other consultees which 
would need to be addressed in any subsequent reserved matters 
application include:- 
- Provision of parking for Fole Chapel (applicant has committed to 

providing 2 spaces within the site – to be secured via the 106)

Page 59



- Poor visibility for drivers leaving the side road serving plots 27-32. Road 
needs re locating.

- Greater adherence to Manual for Streets - road hierarchy, more use of 
shared space, grassed service strips to replace formal footpaths, 
minimum width roads, less engineered layout

- 3m easement strip adjacent to the open chanel 
- good internal and external pedestrian connectivity
- LEAP to be site more centrally in line with good practice where it benefits 

from good casual surveillance with the appropriate buffers and be safe 
and accessible for all users with good connectivity to walking and cycling 
routes on and off site. 

7.45 The conclusion drawn is that the Illustrative Plan would require 
amendment to address the issues raised above and ensure that the 
application delivers a high quality scheme, as required by policy,  which 
integrates as far as is possible with Fole given its small size and of course 
the wider landscape. The revised NPPF places significant emphasis on 
design. Policy DC1 also seeks to ensure that development proposals 
should make a positive contribution to their surroundings by amongst other 
matters achieving a strong sense of place by protecting and enhancing the 
quality, distinctiveness and character of settlements. 

7.46 The application does not seek a specific number of units in the 
application/description and Layout is a reserved matter. It is recommended 
that an informative is included on the Decision Notice drawing the 
applicant’s attention to these comments which will need to be addressed at 
the reserved matters stage.

Trees and Landscape/Visual Impact 

7.47 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and Tree Report are 
submitted with the application. The comments of the Trees and Woodland 
Officer are awaited and will be reported at the meeting. 

Heritage

7.48 A Heritage Assessment is submitted with the application. It considers 
three heritage assets and five non designated heritage assets, all of which 
fall within 250m radius of the site. It refers to the dairy dominating the 
settlement with its large and extensive buildings and yards forming an 
incongruous intrusion into a rural setting. It says the redevelopment heralds 
a quite different prospect and promises a softening of the landscape with 
structures at a human scale interspersed with green spaces. It makes 
particular reference to the proposed loss of the Recreation room. It says it 
has little architectural merit but has connection with the Vernon family, the 
date stone and the fact that it forms part of the setting of the mill. 

7.49 It assess the impact on the Listed buildings to be; Fole Bridge (neutral 
impact) Mill Farmhouse (Neutral) and Fole Spring Farmhouse (Slightly 
beneficial), Barn east of Mill Farmhouse (Neutral), Fole Mill (development 

Page 60



will have neutral or slightly beneficial effect; loss of Recreation room would 
be slightly adverse), Millennium cottages (slightly beneficial), and Fole 
Chapel (slightly beneficial).  Its overall conclusion is that the development 
would have a neutral or beneficial effect on the setting of the heritage 
assets. It notes however that the possible exception is the loss of the 
Recreation Room, which dates from 1890 but concludes that the building 
itself, while it has a local history interest, has little if any architectural merit 
and its loss would not be considerable. The main issue hinges on the 
character of its replacement and its possible impact on the setting of Fole 
Mill.  

7.50 The Conservation Officer has considered the HA. She largely agrees 
with its conclusion.  She comments that the Methodist Chapel is a non-
designated heritage asset and that land (part of the application site) should 
be made available to allow its future use and prevent blight. It is an 
attractive landmark property and adds to the distinctive character of the 
area. She also refers to the former Recreation Room. She agrees that it is 
of local historical value but it has been truncated, the roadside gable rebuilt 
and visually is a building of no architectural quality. She does not object to 
its demolition. She advises a recording condition to document this building 
and features of historic/industrial interest prior to its demolition (for the 
HER).

7.51 Subject therefore to a recording condition, there is no adverse impact 
on heritage assets and as such compliance with Policy DC2 and the NPPF. 

Biodiversity

7.52 A Phase 1 habitat survey toether with bat surveys accompany the 
application. The comments of the Ecology Officer are awaited and will be 
reported at the meeting. 

Planning balance 

7.53 Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

7.54 As set out above there is some conflict with part of Policy SS6c of the 
Development Plan. However the NPPF is a material consideration of 
weight. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision taking it says at paragraph 11 that where those polices which are 
the most important for determining the application are out of date, the tilted 
balance applies i.e that permission must be granted unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole. Footnote 7 confirms that ‘out of date’ includes applications for the 
provision of housing where the LPA cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. That is the case here with the District having a 
less than 2 year supply. The tilted balance applies.

Page 61



7.55 The proposal would deliver economic benefits through the construction of the 
dwellings and once completed through extra spending power in the local economy and 
increased Council tax receipts. Moderate weight is attached to this. The provision of 
housing in circumstances of a chronic housing under supply attracts very significant 
weight. There are also environmental benefits associated with the re use of this long 
standing vacant and disused brownfield site and its remediation.  Moderate weight is 
attached to this also. It is acknowledged that there is some conflict with Policy 
SS6C in that the proposal does not easily align with development strategy 
for the District which sets out a hierarchical approach to new development – 
three market towns, larger villages, smaller villages with no large scale 
development in the ‘other rural areas’ such as this due to lack of services 
and facilities.  However the commentary above does demonstrate that the 
site is not remote and not wholly unsustainable. It is served by a bus route 
and there are opportunities for walking and cycling and supporting the 
nearby village of Checkley where there are some services and facilities.  
Para 78 of the Framework refers to this cross village support. The site is 5 
miles from Uttoxeter, a town with a full range of services and facilites 
including a train station and within 3 miles of the site the A522 connects to 
the A50, which is part of the trunk road network linking to the major cities of 
Stoke on Trent and Derby and the M6 and M1 respectively. JCB has a 
major employment facility at the junction. 

7.56 It is for all of these reasons that the judgement reached is that the 
benefits of the scheme are overriding in this case. The proposal will deliver 
sustainable development and a recommendation of approval is therefore 
made.

8. RECOMMENDATION

A. Planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a 
106 legal agreement to secure a) provision on- site LEAP   b) a   
contribution towards playing field improvements off site c) future 
management and maintenance of areas of open space within the 
development outside of plot curtilages (including the LEAP), the 
surface water system, open channel and ditch and d) provision of 2 
parking spaces for the sole use of Fole chapel and subject to the 
following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission or before 
the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of 
the reserved matters.
Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 
Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission and thereafter the development shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the details as approved.

Page 62



Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

3. . Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, 
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development is commenced and thereafter the development shall 
only be carried out in accordance with the details as approved.

4. Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and Articles 4 and 5 of The Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.

5. The reserved matters application(s) shall be based on the principles 
and rationale set out in the Design and Access Statement. 
Notwithstanding the materials suggested therein, eaves and verge 
detail should be traditonal brick and mortar rather than timber 
fascias/barge boards and render should be used as an accent rather 
than the predominant facing material
Reason: - To ensure an acceptable design in the interests of the 
character and appearance of this rural area

6. The reserved matters application(s) shall be based on the Nationally 
Described Space Standards   
Reason: - To ensure dwellings of adequate size in line with national 
policy 

7. The mix of units at reserved matters shall reflect the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment
Reason: - To ensure an appropriate mix of units 

Highways/Access 

8. No development hereby approved shall be commenced until full 
details of the following have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority:

 Means of surface water drainage to SUDS principles;

The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details and be completed prior to first occupation 
of the development.
Reason: - To comply with NPPF paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC 
Core Strategy policy DC1; in the interests of highway safety.

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until 
details of the following off-site highway works have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
 2m footway on the A522 Uttoxeter road frontage of the site 

incorporating a pedestrian dropped crossing close to the bus 

Page 63



stop.
 Upgrade of the existing bus stop on the A522 Uttoxeter Road.
The off-site highway works shall thereafter be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the development 
being first brought into use.
Reason: - To comply with SMDC Core Strategy Policy T1 and T2; to 
comply with NPPF paragraph 35; in the interests of pedestrian 
safety.

8. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until 
the existing dropped crossings on Uttoxeter Road, which shall 
include the access crossing between the site and carriageway edge 
made redundant as a consequence of the development hereby 
permitted are permanently closed and the access crossings 
reinstated as footway.
Reason: - To comply with NPPF paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC 
Core Strategy policy DC1; in the interests of highway safety.

9. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the visibility splays shown on plan ref. no A18095-01A rev D2 
have been provided. The visibility splay shall thereafter be kept free 
of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 600 mm above the 
adjacent carriageway level.
Reason: - To comply with NPPF paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC 
Core Strategy policy DC1; in the interests of highway safety

Drainage

10. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) Version 3.0/Drainage Strategy dated July 2018 
produced by JBA and Patrick Parsons and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:

 Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the site to a 
maximum of 100l/s and not increase the risk of flooding off-site.

 Provision of an appropriate calculated volume of attenuation 
flood storage on the site to a 100yr + climate change standard.

 Finished floor levels are set according to the levels in the FRA.
 Ensure residential development is located outside of areas of 

significant flooding.
Reason:-To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage 
of/disposal of surface water, to reduce the risk of flooding from 
blockages to the existing culvert (s), to reduce the impact of 
flooding on the proposed development and future occupants and 
to ensure lifetime maintenance of the system to prevent flooding 
issues.

11.  The development hereby permitted shall not commence until 
drainage plans for the disposal   of foul and surface water flows 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 64



Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is 
first brought into use.
Reason: - This is to ensure that the development is provided with a 
satisfactory means of drainage as well as to prevent or to avoid 
exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk of 
pollution.

12    There shall be no built development within 8m of the top of the 
River Tean. 

Reason: - To ensure there is a natural corridor and appropriate 
buffer zone from the River Tean and to reduce the risk of flooding 
to the proposed development and future users

Noise: Construction and demolition works: Time of operations

13 Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local 
Planning Authority, all noisy activities shall be restricted to the 
following times of operations. 

 08:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);
 08:00 - 13:00 hours (Saturday) 
 No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

In this instance a noisy activity is defined as any activity (for 
instance, but not restricted to, demolition operations,) which 
generates noise that is audible at the site boundary.   
Reason: To avoid the risk of disturbance to neighbouring 
dwellings from noise during unsocial hours.

Noise: Sound Insulation 

14. Development shall not commence until a site specific scheme for 
protecting the proposed residential units from noise, has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted scheme shall have due regard for the 
British Standard BS8233:2014 Guidance on Sound Insulation for 
Buildings and be designed to achieve noise levels of less than 35 
dB LAeq in bedrooms, less than 40 dB LAeq in living areas and 
55dB LAeq in outside living areas.A report shall be produced 
containing all raw data and showing how calculations have been 
made. A copy of such report shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for its approval. 
Reason: To protect occupiers from noise and safeguard their 
residential amenities.

Construction/Demolition

15. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
methodology risk and method statement submitted by RDE 

Page 65



environmental S/18048/PH1/JM (1/03/18) throughout the course of 
the development.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area 

Contamination

16 No development approved by this planning permission shall take 
place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, property (existing or proposed including 
buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and 
pipes; buildings), adjoining land and ground and surface waters 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include:
a. A site investigation scheme, based on the information already 

provided to support a detailed assessment of risks to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site.

b. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk 
assessment referred to in (a) and, based on these, an options 
appraisal and A remediation strategy giving full details of 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria 

c. A validation plan providing details of the data that will be 
collected in order to demonstrate that the all works set out in 
(a) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-
term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action. 

d. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation.  

Reason: - To ensure that the proposed development meets the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework in that all 
potential risks to human health, controlled waters and wider 
environment are known and where necessary dealt with via 
remediation and or management of those risks.

Validation

17 Prior to bringing the development into first use, a validation report 
demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning 
authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved validation 
plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been 
met. It shall also include any plan (a long-term monitoring and 
maintenance plan) for longer-term monitoring of pollutant 
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, 
as identified in the validation plan, and for the reporting of this to 
the local planning authority.

Page 66



Reason: - To ensure that the proposed development meets the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework in that all 
potential risks to human health, controlled waters and wider 
environment are known and where necessary dealt with via 
remediation and or management of those risks.

 Unexpected Contamination

18 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition (16), 
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition (16), 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme and prior to bringing the 
development into first use, a verification report that demonstrates 
the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, 
submitted to and approved in  writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: - To ensure that the proposed development meets the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework in that all 
potential risks to human health, controlled waters and wider 
environment are known and where necessary dealt with via 
remediation and or management of those risks.

Soil Importation

19 No soil is to be imported to the site until it has been tested for 
contamination and assessed for its suitability for the proposed 
development; a suitable methodology for testing this material shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the soils being imported onto site. The 
methodology shall include the sampling frequency, testing 
schedules, criteria against which the analytical results will be 
assessed (as determined by the risk assessment) and source 
material information. The analysis shall then be carried out and 
validatory evidence submitted to and approved in writing to by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: - To ensure that the proposed development meets the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework in that all 
potential risks to human health, controlled waters and wider 
environment are known and where necessary dealt with via 
remediation and or management of those risks.

Heritage

20. Prior to the demolition of the Reading Room (referred to in the 

Page 67



submitted Heritage Assessment) a recording of the building to 
include features of historic/industrial interest shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: - To record this non designated heritage asset which is of 
local historical value for the Historic Environment records. 

Informative

1. Your attention is drawn to the letters and advice from a) the 
Environment Agency dated 22nd June 2018, b) the Architectural 
Liaison Officer dated 14th May 2018 and c) Severn Trent Water dated 
22nd May 
2. The conditions requiring off-site highway works shall require a 
Highway Works Agreement with Staffordshire County Council. The 
applicant is requested to contact Staffordshire County Council in 
order to secure the Agreement. The link below is to the Highway 
Works Information Pack including an application form. Please 
complete and send to the address indicated on the application form or 
email to (nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk). The applicant is advised to begin 
this process well in advance of any works taking place in order to 
meet any potential timescales. 
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/highwaysco
ntrol/HighwaysWorkAgreements.a spx
This consent will require approval under Section 7 of the Staffordshire 
Act 1983 and will require a Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
Please contact Staffordshire County Council to ensure that approvals 
and agreements are secured before commencement of works.
The developer has submitted a travel plan. While not strictly required 
for this number of dwellings, should the developer wish Staffordshire 
County Council to agree and monitor the Travel Plan, the developer 
will need to enter into a Section 106 Agreement or Unilateral 
Undertaking to secure the current monitoring fee of £2360 (subject to 
indexation and annual increase until paid).

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do so 
in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

 

Page 68

http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/highwayscontrol/HighwaysWorkAgreements.a
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/highwayscontrol/HighwaysWorkAgreements.a
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/highwayscontrol/HighwaysWorkAgreements.a


«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2017/0660

Location Land at Cecilly Mill, Oakamoor Road, Cheadle
Proposal Outline permission with some matters reserved (except 

access) for residential development of up to 121 dwellings.
Applicant Mr James Ingestre
Agent Mr Jim Malkin
Parish/ward Cheadle North East Date registered 09/10/17
If you have a question about this report please contact: Ben Haywood  
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4924 ben.haywood@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

The Application has been referred to committee because it is a major development

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to Section 106 Agreement and Conditions

2. SITE DESCRIPTION 

2.1 The area of land comprises the site of Cecilly Mill and a triangular area of grassland to 
the rear. The site was most recently used by JCB Compact Products Ltd but has been vacant 
for over 12 months since manufacturing was transferred to JCB’s Harewood Estate facility on 
the edge of the town. All buildings have been demolished down to the concrete slab and 
Cecilly Brook, which previously ran under the factory within a culvert, now crosses the site 
within an open channel. 

2.2 The site measures 3.85ha and is bordered on three sides by existing residential 
development and has direct access from both Oakamoor and Churchill Roads. 

3 DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

3.1 This application proposes the re-development of this brownfield site and the triangular 
field to the rear, for residential purposes for up-to a maximum of 121 dwellings. The 
application is made in outline with all matters reserved except for means of access. 

3.2 The application is accompanied by an illustrative layout which shows how 121 
dwellings together with associated open space and improvements to the brook channel could 
be accommodated on the site. It shows built development predominantly located to the west 
of Cecilly Brook with open space and a LEAP located adjoining the brook. The layout shows 
indicative links to the existing footpath network surrounding the site. It should be noted that 
the precise layout of the site and that of the proposed dwellings and their scale and 
appearance are reserved for later approval, meaning that this application is concerned solely 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
with the principle of residential development on the site together with the means of access to 
the site. 

3.3 The site is currently provided with two access points, one from Oakamoor Road and 
one from Churchill Road. These access points will be utilised to serve the residential 
development. Oakamoor Road provides the principal access to the site and was utilised as 
the main point of access to the former mill and factory. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has a wide and varied planning history linked to its previous uses, none of 
this is however relevant to the wider redevelopment of the site.

5. PLANNING POLICIES

5.1 The Development Plan comprises of:

 Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted 1998)
 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development NPPF Core Strategy (Adopted March 

2014)
 The Minerals Local Plan (Adopted December 1999) Saved Policies 2007
 Staffordshire & Stoke-in-Trent Joint Waste Core Strategy (Adopted March 2013)

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (1998)

5.2 Development boundaries within the 1998 Adopted Local Plan are still in force until such 
time as they are reviewed and adopted through the site allocations process.  

Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development Framework (LDF) (26th March 2014)

5.3 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development Framework (LDF) is a District wide 
development plan which replaces the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan to provide a 
framework for delivering development up to 2026.  The Core Strategy is the key LDF 
document.  It is a strategic District wide plan which influences how and where the 
Staffordshire Moorlands will develop in the future. It sets out what the Council would like to 
achieve in each of the main towns and the rural areas outside of the Peak District National 
Park.  The Core Strategy provides the framework for future LDF documents which will then 
identify specific sites for development in the District (Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document) and provides detailed guidance to supplement the policies (Supplementary 
Planning Guidance).

5.4 The following CS (Core Strategy) policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 SS6c Other Rural Areas Area Strategy
 SS8 Blythe Bridge Regional Investment Site
 E2 Employment Sites
 SD4 Pollution and Flood Risk
 H1 New Housing Development

Page 70



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 H2 Affordable and Local Needs Housing
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC2 The Historic Environment
 DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting
 C1 Creating Sustainable Communities
 C2 Sport, Recreation and Open Space
 NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport
 T2 Other Sustainable Transport Measures

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)

 Developer/Landowner Contributions SPG (2004)
 Housing for Local People and Affordable Housing SPG (2005)
 Public Open Space (2004)
 Space about Dwellings (September 1998 – Appendix 3 Local Plan)

National Planning Policy NPPF

National Planning Policy Guidance

Local Plan process

5.5 The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for representations in 
February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the Local Plan was “sound”. Formal 
representations were then invited from residents, businesses and other stakeholders to 
provide them with the opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or legal compliance 
of the Local Plan. This stage in the process followed three previous public consultations 
since 2015 which had informed the preparation of the Local Plan alongside a comprehensive 
evidence base. 

5.6 In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan Submission 
Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination in public will now be held 
this Autumn in order to determine whether the Local Plan is sound and legally compliant. 
Subject to the findings of the appointed inspector, the Local Plan is expected to be adopted 
in the Spring of 2019. At his point, it will supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become 
part of the statutory development plan for the District.  

5.7 In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies contained 
in the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria set out in Paragraph 48 of 
the NPPF is as follows:

5.8 The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage of preparation as 
the Council has submitted it to the SoS for examination
 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies – this varies 

depending on the policy in question. The Officer Comments section of this report 
identifies the level of outstanding objections to each policy and recommends the 
amount of weight to be given to them at this stage in the process

 The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the Council has 
submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all policies are deemed to be 
consistent with the NPPF.

Page 71



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Emerging Policies

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:
Policy SS1 Development Principles
Policy 1a Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SS2 Settlement Hierarchy
SS7 Cheadle Area Strategy
Policy H1 New Housing Development
SD4 Pollution and Water Quality
SD5 Flood Risk
E3 Existing Employment Areas
H3 Affordable Housing
NE1 Biodivserity and Geological Resources
NE2 Trees Woodland and Hedgerows
T1 Development and sustainable transport measures
DSC2 Cecilly Brook Strategic Development Area

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site Notice Posted Expired.

Press Notice Published Expired.

Neighbour Notifications Expired

Cheadle Town Council

6.1 No objections to this application subject to a condition that the developers use a lorry 
wash in order to limit the amount of mud/debris being brought on to the highway,  a lesson 
learned from a previous development which caused problems for the town. In addition, the 
Council would like confirmation that they will be consulted regarding the Section 106 
agreement in connection with this application in order to make sure their views are 
considered in the agreement and this is the best use of the money. 

Conservation Officer

6.2 No designated heritage assets in the immediate vicinity – although the conclusion of the 
Heritage Report recommends the recording of a 19th century silk mill on site. As far as I can 
see the site has been cleared so this report must be out of date. There is a recommendation 
for archaeological investigation (refer to the County Archaeologist).

Coal Authority

6.3  No objection subject to conditions. 

Page 72



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Policy Officer

6.4 In addition to the adopted Core Strategy & NPPF please note the following:

 The northern part of the site was included as a housing option in the Preferred Options 
Local Plan (July 2017) with an anticipated capacity of 45 dwellings. See draft Policy 
DSC 2 - Cecilly Brook Strategic Development Area.

 Need to provide good mix of housing types and sizes - please see SHMA. 
 Eastern section of site forms part of the Cecilly Brook Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

and holds a strong population of water voles. Natural England should be  consulted.
 Northern part of site was previously allocated for a primary school in old 1998 Local 

Plan but was never built.  Its access was then bought by JCB leaving rest of the site 
landlocked. During the preparation of the Core Strategy the need for a new school 
could not be demonstrated.  As part of the review of the Core Strategy and work on 
the site allocations SCC have now confirmed the need for a Primary school site and 
this has been identified in north of Cheadle as part of the Cheadle North Strategic 
Development Area - Policy DSC 1 and is supported by both SCC and the landowner 
/agent.

Lead Local Flood Authority

6.5 No objection subject to conditions. 

Arboricultural Officer

6.6 Overall, I have no objection in principle to the proposed residential development at 
outline stage, including details of access, on the grounds of impact on trees and hedges.

County Planning Officer

6.7 The site falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area (MSA) for bedrock sand and 
superficial sand and fire clay. Having regard to the policies, guidance and observations 
referred to above, it is reasonable to conclude that the proposed development would not lead 
to the sterilisation of important mineral resources.  Therefore, the County Council, acting as 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, has no objection but draws attention to the 
requirements of the Waste Local Plan which states that Major developments should:

i. Use / Address waste as a resource; 
ii. Minimise waste as far as possible; 
iii. Demonstrate the use of sustainable design and construction techniques, i.e.: 

resource-efficiency in terms of sourcing of materials, construction methods, and 
demolition; 

iv. Enable the building to be easily decommissioned or reused for a new purpose; and 
enable the future recycling of the building fabric to be used for its constituent 
material; 

v. Maximise on-site management of construction, demolition and excavation waste 
arising during construction; 

vi. Make provision for waste collection to facilitate, where practicable, separated 
waste collection systems; and, 

vii. Be supported by a site waste management plan / waste audit if the development is 
likely to generate significant volumes of waste.

Page 73



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Natural England

6.8 Natural England has no comments to make on this application.

Rights of Way

6.9 The Feasibility Layout 01 and Planning Statement both recognise the existence of 
Public Footpath No 68 Cheadle Parish which crosses the proposed development site inside 
and along the northern boundary. The attention of the developer should be drawn to the 
existence of the path and to the requirement that any planning permission given does not 
construe the right to divert, extinguish or obstruct any part of the public path. If the path does 
need diverting as part of these proposals the developer would need to apply to your council 
under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to divert the footpath to allow 
the development to commence. The County Council will need to be formally consulted on the 
proposal to divert this footpath. The applicants should be reminded that the granting of 
planning permission does not constitute authority for interference with the right of way or its 
closure or diversion. 

6.10 It is important that users of the path are still able to exercise their public rights safely 
and that the path is reinstated if any damage to the surface occurs as a result of the 
proposed development. The surface of the footpath must be kept in a state of repair such that 
the public right to use it can be exercised safely and at all times. Heavy vehicular use can 
cause the way to become unsuitable for use and in some instances dangerous. Attention 
needs to be drawn to this and that surface works may be required.

6.11 We would ask that trees are not planted within 3 metres of the footpath unless the 
developer and any subsequent landowners are informed that the maintenance of the trees is 
their responsibility.

Severn Trent Water

6.12 Have no objections to the proposals subject to the inclusion of the following condition:
 The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage 

plans for the disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, and

 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is first brought into use. This is to ensure that the 
development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as well as to 
prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the 
risk of pollution

Staffordshire County Council Education

6.13 In response to the above planning application the School Organisation team has the 
following comments:

 This development falls within the catchments of The Cheadle Academy and the 
Cheadle Primary School.

 The development is scheduled to provide 121 dwellings.  A development of 117 
houses could add 25 primary aged children, 18 secondary aged children and 4, 6th 
form aged young adults.

Page 74



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

 The Cheadle Academy is projected to have sufficient space to accommodate the likely 
demand from pupils generated by the development.

 However, Cheadle Primary School is projected to be full for the foreseeable future.

Primary School Provision 

 It has been identified that the level of growth proposed in Staffordshire Moorlands 
Local Plan for Cheadle will necessitate a new primary school to be delivered within 
one of the residential development sites.

 The County Council is working with Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) 
to plan strategically for the education infrastructure required to accommodate the 
children generated by the level of housing growth proposed across the District.

 The County Council has a statutory duty to secure the sufficient supply of school 
places, which includes requiring developers to provide additional education provision 
in line with the pupils generated by proposed new housing. 

 We will therefore be requesting a contribution towards primary school provision.  A 
fair, transparent and consistent approach must be taken across large developments 
proposed in the Cheadle area.  As a new school will be necessary to accommodate 
the level of development proposed in the area, this site will be required to contribute 
proportionally to the cost of providing the new school and acquisition of the land 
(relative to the development). 

 We have been advised that the cost of a new 210 place primary school (1 form entry) 
would be in the region of £4.2 million (excluding acquisition of the necessary land).

 Based on 117 houses the proportional contribution towards a new primary school of 
this size would be £497,981 (plus the proportional cost of the acquisition of the 
necessary land).

 The above is based on current demographics which can change over time and 
therefore we would wish to be consulted on any further applications for this site.  

 We reserve the right to amend the necessary education calculations at a later date if 
circumstances in the area materially change prior to determination of this planning 
application.  We may also amend our requirement if/when a school place strategy has 
been finalised to ensure forward planning of future needs for school facilities against 
local plan residential housing requirements.

Environment Agency

6.28 I refer to the revised Flood Risk Assessment prepared by Weetwood Services Ltd. 
This submission addresses our objection relating to flood risk, subject to conditions. 
However, the issues surrounding the impact upon biodiversity, as detailed in our letter dated 
24 October 2017, have yet to be addressed. As such we maintain an objection to the scheme 
but offer the following comments solely in reply to the submitted FRA.

Page 75



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
6.29 Notwithstanding our objection on biodiversity grounds, the proposed development 
would only meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework if a number of 
measure(s) as detailed in the Flood Risk Assessment submitted with this application are 
implemented and secured by way of a planning condition on any planning permission.

6.30 The Environment Agency object to the proposed development in the absence of an 
adequate buffer zone to the Cecilly Brook and recommend refusal on this basis for the 
following reasons: The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraph 109 
recognises that the planning system should aim to conserve and enhance the natural and 
local environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in 
biodiversity where possible, contributing to the Government's commitment to halt the overall 
decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. Article 10 of the Habitats Directive stresses the 
importance of natural networks of linked habitat corridors to allow the movement of species 
between suitable habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity. River corridors are 
particularly effective in this way. Such networks and corridors may also help wildlife adapt to 
climate change. In this instance the proposed development would have an adverse impact on 
water voles. Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
in and around developments should be encouraged.

6.31 The proposed development should provide an 8 metre-wide buffer zone measured 
from the bank top/wetland edge (defined as the point at which the bank meets the level of the 
surrounding land) alongside the Cecilly Brook. The buffer zone should be free from all built 
development including lighting. To reduce light spill into the river corridor outside the buffer 
zone, all artificial lighting should be directional and focused with cowlings (for more 
information see Institute of Lighting Professionals (formerly the Institute of Lighting 
Engineers) ‘Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light’. Landscaping could be 
incorporated into the buffer zone providing the design is more natural and less formal e.g. 
minimal mown grass. The buffer zone should be planted with locally native species of UK 
genetic provenance and appropriately managed under an agreed scheme. The buffer zone 
and river corridor should form a valuable part of green infrastructure and it can also add value 
and desirability to the new dwellings by providing aesthetically attractive spaces. The 
concrete piles on the river banks at the southern end of the site should be removed and the 
banks re-profiled and naturalised along with any artificial in channel obstructions. The 
channel could also be enhanced by encouraging a more meandering course and installing 
gravel for fish spawning habitat. Any scheme to provide a buffer zone will need to include a 
working methods statement detailing how the buffer zone will be protected/created during 
construction.

Ecology

6.32 The management plan is an improvement on the previous version and I welcome the 
inclusion of my comments. However, I am still concerned that that main access drive along 
the western boundary of the site requires a wider buffer zone between the road and Cecilly 
Brook. The main western access road as two-three metres from the edge of Cecilly Brook 
according to the plan. Strachan et al (2011) in the water vole conservation Handbook 
recommends a minimum 5m buffer.  It is not clear from the outline ecological management 
plan how potential impact on water voles from flooding, pollution run of from roads and 
sediment will be adequately mitigated by the design. Low level fencing to avoid residents 
parking on areas of crated semi-improved grassland will be necessary.

Page 76



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
6.33 The revised layout plan drawing 07 shows hedgerow retained within the curtilages of 
gardens. This will be difficult to manage and it would be better to enhance existing retained 
hedgerows. The hedgerow along the north eastern boundary of the site is has no adjacent 
grassland buffer strip. To enhance the value of the hedgerow as a habitat for biodiversity it 
would be desirable to have the hedgerow within a 2-3m adjacent buffer of species rich 
grassland separating the  hedgerow and adjacent road. Areas of hedgerow are proposed to 
be removed near the access to the site form Church Road . Enhancing the north –east 
boundary hedgerow via a buffer strip would be act as some compensation for this.

6.34 Drawing 07 provides little space for landscaping with the interior of the development 
except for domestic gardens. To increase the permeability of the site for wildlife it would be 
desirable to have public landscaped open space adjacent to access roads and in and around 
car parking areas 

Open Space

6.35 I have looked at the proposed Feasibility Layout 01 plan and see that the developer is 
proposing an on site LEAP. I would suggest that this is not needed due to the proximity of 
Churchill Road Recreation Ground, which is adjacent to the proposed development, on the 
other side of the track. This site has an existing play facility which is in need of refurbishment 
and which could also be expanded to accommodate additional usage from the proposed 
development. There is a playing field for informal kick about as well as an existing Multi Use 
Games Area, all of which would be accessed by any new residents, as well as the potential 
to provide additional facilities at this site.

6.36 I would recommend that the LEAP is removed from the proposed development and that 
an off‐site contribution for both Play and Playing Fields is provided to refurbish and enhance 
the facilities at Churchill Road Rec. The contributions would be as follows:‐

 Play ‐ £166,411.41 (number of bedrooms 341 as 1 beds are exempt x £488.01)
 Playing pitches ‐ £210,087.75 (number of bedrooms 345 x £608.95)

6.37 The development would need to ensure that access to Churchill Road Recreation 
Ground is provided. There are currently two access points onto the Recreational Ground from 
the track which runs adjacent to both sites – one at the northern tip of the track with the 
development (which is more informal), and one at the north west edge of the track with the 
development which is a formal access. The Feasibility Plan 01 shows that the hedgerows are 
to be retained, which is good, but provision needs to be made within the design and layout to 
allow for access from the development, across the track and onto Churchill Road Rec 
otherwise residents will create this themselves informally. I would suggest this is included 
where the formal access point is already provided on the north western edge, where the 
turning head is shown on the proposed plan. The off‐site contribution for play/playing fields 
could assist with creating improved/enhanced access from the track onto and across the 
Recreation Ground. 

6.38 In terms of the proposed on site open space, I would suggest that this important to 
provide as it acts as a natural buffer between the Cecilly Brook and Cecilly Brook Local 
Nature Reserve. I have asked my colleague who is involved with the management of Cecilly 
Brook Local Nature Reserve to provide additional comments in terms of its proximity to the 
development.

Page 77



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Staffordshire County Highways

6.39 There are no objections on Highway grounds to the proposed development subject to 
conditions 

Environmental Health

6.40 Environmental Health recommend refusal of the application due to a lack of 
information on the potential introduction of 121 houses will have on local air quality in 
Cheadle.   In this instance, the primary air quality impacts will be due to the potential changes 
in traffic movement through Cheadle.  Currently, the submitted transport assessment doesn’t 
adequately look at the effect of the proposal on traffic in and through Cheadle and has not 
been accepted by County Highways. 

6.41 An “old” contamination assessment (pre demolition - 2014) was submitted in support of 
the application.   It is considered that there are some issues with this investigation, notably 
that it assumes that part of the site is going to be a supermarket but there are also concerns 
in the way the results have been statistically interpreted.  The above noted, it is considered 
that the submitted report is sufficient to demonstrate that it is unlikely that contamination will 
not be to be of such magnitude to affect the feasibility of the project but further investigation 
will be require, to ensure the appropriate remediation strategy is developed (or is not 
required). The main concerns with the report are bullet pointed below but if planning is 
granted it is recommended that a consultant gets approval of future works prior to embarking 
on the investigation:  

6.42 Currently Environmental Health recommend refusal of this application based on 
insufficient information available to determine the impacts of the development on air quality.  
However, should these be sufficiently addressed the following additional conditions should be 
applied to any future consent.   

6.43 If consent is granted the following conditions are recommended:
 Submission, approval and implementation of a Construction Environmental Method 

Statement 
 a further intrusive contaminated land site investigation and risk assessment 
 a detailed contaminated remediation strategy 
 contaminated land remediation verification report
 means to deal with unexpected contamination. 
 No soil to be imported without testing for contamination.
 a site specific noise assessment and scheme for protecting the proposed residential 

units for that phase of the site from external noise and necessary remediation.
 No waste to be burnt on site

Third Parties

6.44 13 objections have been received making the following points:

Principle of Development

- Whilst I do understand how extra people can support local business, where will the 
extra jobs come from to support another 121/441 dwellings?

Page 78



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
- Potentially, based on minimum 2 per household, the development equates to 242/882 

extra people.
- It is just greed. Taking up this countryside, for money for buildings. 
- Hugely oppose this building application and that of Persimmon.
- What proportion of these dwellings, if any, will be classed as 'affordable'? Again, given 

the current social and financial climate, this is something to consider, if the Council is 
not to be seen in a bad light. 

- What of the brook course, which runs through the land 
- A portion of the land is currently green space
- Will there be a public consultation, to discuss these matters, or will the decision be 

taken out of the hands of local people, whose lives will be directly affected by this?
-

Residential Amenity

- Proposed houses will overlook properties in Ness Grove resulting in a loss of privacy 
which was the reason for purchase.

- What of the residents, who live close by during any construction works? Will they be 
compensated for noise and inconvenience, or do the people who will be directly 
affected by this, (and who will receive no discernible benefits from it), not matter in the 
eyes of the council? It may also be worth pointing out that dissatisfied people will have 
their say in future local elections.

- There will be increased noise due to more people being around and next to  properties 
in Cecilly Terrace and a reduction in privacy as windows would over look the gardens 
of those dwellings. This wasn't a problem when the factory was up, as the factory was 
vacated at 5pm each night, so it would be quieter after this time. Plus the factory 
windows facing the existing properties had mirror glass in them which maintained 
privacy for the residents.

Ecology

- Adverse impact on biodiversity, fauna and flora of Cecilly Brook
- The brook is an important site for Water Voles
- Water voles are a UK priority species for conservation as their numbers are in serious 

decline and Cecilly Brook is one of the most important sites for water voles in 
Staffordshire.

- There has been little detailed assessment ecology in the brook. 
- The brook is a nature reserve and must be protected. 
- Inadequate buffer zone to the brook

Flooding

- There would also be a concern with flooding due to the houses being built on land 
which is directly adjacent to the Cecilly Brook, plus there are flood plains at the back of 
the factory. The basement space in properties in Cecilly Terrace had to be filled in and 
blocked off due to flooding and the waste infrastructure would have to support 121 
houses as opposed to just a few toilets and kitchen areas in the factory.

Highways

- Major concerns for the traffic implications on the small town, as this being built in 
conjunction with a further proposal by Persimmon of additional housing, totalling 441 

Page 79



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
dwellings in Cheadle. Potentially, this could mean, based on an average of 2 cars per 
household, a further 882 cars in a small town. 

- The towns road system can not support this.
- Not enough road facilities for this application very small congested road Queen Street 

in the winter and in summer with Alton Towers traffic a no go area.
- It is not clear where the main access road(s) would be to the new development. The 

obvious place would be from Oakamoor Road, but this is a main route to Alton Towers 
from Cheadle, and the top end of the road, just a few hundred metres away from the 
proposed development, becomes quite congested during the Summer months, and if 
the main access were to be from Oakamoor Road, this would just exacerbate the 
problem.

- The prospect of over 100+ houses means there is a real possibility of an extra 200 
cars using Oakamoor Road and Queen Street; these roads are already to busy with 
Alton Towers traffic.

- At the top of Queen Street you have to take your life in your hands when using the 
'spot in the road' roundabout; and when Alton Towers traffic is heading back out of 
town, and JCB are knocking off, it is absolute bedlam. Trying to cross Oakamoor Road 
now is difficult, and its a miracle no one has been run over. 

- There is talk about making some roads one way; that will just make life difficult for 
those people who live on these roads, and will lead to other roads being used as 'rat  
runs’

- People campaigned to have JCB relocate from the site due to the amount of lorries 
etc, now the council proposes to recommend the building of 100+ houses, might as 
well kept JCB at least they went home at 6pm and weekends.

- The road between Cecilly Terrace and Cecilly Street is already a rat run for school 
runs and people taking shorts cuts to avoid traffic jams that occur at peak times, i.e. 
from Leek Road via theses streets. If this road was to be made a one‐way this would 
cause even further problems for residents and you would never get out of the end of 
the road, particular if you wished to turn right. This road is very narrow and was not 
designed for vehicles, its a back alley, where little curtesy by drivers now is shown to 
residents.  This road is an un‐adopted road, therefore, does it really belong to anyone, 
and whose's going to maintain it. 

- Risk to safety of existing residents, especially as many of them have young children 
who frequent the road at the back of the Terrace.

Parking

- Residents of Cecilly Terrace will have no where to park, unless provision is being 
made for us residents to be able to access the rear gardens.

- Parts of land were shared by Cecily Terrace and The JCB factory complex which at 
one time were connected due to the history of the terrace which was built for the 
factory workers of the complex, before JCB purchased the complex.

- In December 2000, there was an understanding between JCB that owned the Mill and 
the residents that they would be permitted to use the car park adjacent to the terrace 
for their vehicles. Residents have now being using this land for parking for nearly 20 
years but have not been given any information about whether this land is now fully 
under the jurisdiction of the Terrace residents who without the car park, would have 
very limited and unsafe parking options on land adjacent to the mill complex at the 
Oakamoor Road end of the terrace. 

- Further Clarification about the adoption of the car park for its continuation of current 
usage is needed as no mention is made in the letter received about planning.

Page 80



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Infrastructure

- This application is absurd, Cheadle is a small town, many families struggle to get 
doctors appointments, what happens when another 200+ people move to the area. 
struggle to get their children in the schools they prefer.

- The infrastructure of the town would not cope. It is ridiculous to pass this application.
- We have limited services.
- Alarmed by the proposed number of dwellings, of 'up to' 121 houses. 
- Will there be more schools, doctors, dentists etc. to cope with the possible influx of 

perhaps an extra 2-300 people into a relatively small town? Also. it seems an 
inopportune time to consider such a development when the local hospital has recently 
closed and bus services have been cut, (and there is now only one cashpoint in the 
High Street!)

7. OFFICER COMMENT 

Main Issues

7.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are the suitability of the site, 
for residential development having regard to matters of planning policy and housing land 
supply, affordable housing, highway safety and traffic generation, contaminated land, air 
quality, noise impact, landscape impact, hedge and tree matters, ecology, amenity, open 
space, drainage and flooding, sustainability and education. 

Principle of Development

Core Strategy Policy

7.2 The site is a brownfield site located within the Development Boundary of Cheadle 
where there is a general presumption in favour of new development. The site is not 
allocated for any specific purpose in the adopted Core Strategy. 

7.3 Policy SS5C of the Core Strategy sets out the Cheadle Area Strategy and explains, that 
The Council and its partners will seek to expand the role of Cheadle as a significant service 
centre and a market town. This will be achieved through the following actions: inter alia,

 Expand the housing market area and community provision by: increasing the range of 
available and affordable house types and higher market housing, especially for first 
time buyers and families; allocating a range of deliverable housing sites both within the 
urban area and, on land adjacent to the urban area. Sites within the urban area shall 
be in locations across the town have good accessibility to services and facilities with 
encouragement being given to previously developed (brownfield) sites. 

The proposal is considered to accord with this policy. 

Loss of Employment Site

7.3 Policy E2 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect existing employment areas and 
premises for Use Classes B1, B2 and B8. Redevelopment for non-employment uses is 
subject to the site being identified in a Site Allocations DPD; demonstrating that the site is 

Page 81



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
not suitable or viable; and substantial planning benefits would be achieved that would 
outweigh the loss of the employment site.

7.4 The applicant has not provided as part of their planning submissions any supporting 
information in terms of marketing evidence or other information to demonstrate that the 
proposal is not suitable or viable for future employment redevelopment. The proposal is 
therefore contrary Policy E2 in this regard. 

7.5 With regard to the matter of “substantial planning benefits” the proposal will clearly 
make a significant contribution towards addressing the chronic housing under-supply within 
the District as well as economic and social benefits associated with new housing 
development such as jobs and income for the construction industry and it’s supply chain, 
spending in local shops and services, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax revenue and 
provision of affordable housing. It would also result in an improvement in residential amenity 
for those existing properties which bound the former industrial site. The proposal therefore 
accords with the second limb of policy E2,  although, there remains conflict with the first and 
the proposal is contrary to the development plan in this regard. 

7.6 Moreover, there are other material considerations in the form of the NPPF. The 
Council’s current housing supply is 1.99 years. The NPPF says at paragraph 11, footnote 7 
that where a five year supply of deliverable housing sites can not be demonstrated, policies 
which are most relevant for determining the application and are out of date, in these 
circumstances planning permission must be granted unless the any adverse effects of doing 
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole. The so-called “tilted balance." This matter is 
returned to in the planning balance below.

7.7 Furthermore, in addition to seeking to significantly boosting the supply of homes, the 
revised NPPF places much emphasis on making effective use of land, dedicating a whole 
chapter to it. Paragraph 118 refers to LPA’s supporting appropriate opportunities to 
remediate derelict and contaminated land; promote and support the development of under-
utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing 
where land supply is constrained and available sites such as this, could be used more 
effectively. Paragraph 121 says that LPA’s should also take a positive approach to 
applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not allocated in a 
plan, where this would help to meet identified development needs. In particular it says LPA’s 
should support proposals to use amongst other matters employment land for homes in 
areas of high housing demand, provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or 
sites and be compatible with other policies in the Framework. Again this matter is returned 
to in the planning balance below but it lends support to the application.  

7.8 The conclusion in terms of the principle of development there is compliance with Policy 
SS5C but conflict with Policy E2. This matter is returned to in the planning balance below.  
The other main issues are discussed under the various sub headings below.

Emerging Policy 

7.9 The northern part of the site is included as a housing option in the Submission Version 
of the Local Plan with an anticipated capacity of 45 dwellings draft Policy DSC 2 - Cecilly 
Brook Strategic Development Area. There have been no representations received in respect 
of this allocation and it is a material consideration in the determination of the application, 
although one which attracts only limited weight at present. Nevertheless it does 

Page 82



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
demonstrate a direction of travel of planning policy which is away from employment towards 
residential uses on this site. 

Mineral Policy Considerations

7.10 The site falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area (MSA) for bedrock sand and 
superficial sand and fire clay. Having regard to the policies, guidance and observations 
referred to above, it is reasonable to conclude that the proposed development would not 
lead to the sterilisation of important mineral resources.  Therefore, the County Council, 
acting as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, has no objection.

Sustainability and Accessibility

7.11 Accessibility is a key aspect of sustainability that can be measured. The site is located 
within the existing built up area of Cheadle, and is only 0.5 miles or 10 mins walk from the 
middle of the High Street which offers a variety of shops and services. 

7.12 Other facilities are also within easy reach by walking and cycling. For example, the 
leisure centre is 0.5 miles (10 mins walk) Morisons and Asda supermarkets are a similar 
distance as are the main churches in the town. There is a bus stop 0.3miles from the site. 
Cheadle is connected by bus services to Uttoxeter and the Potteries. 

7.13 Accessibility is only one aspect of sustainability and the NPPF defines sustainable 
development with reference to a number of social, economic and environmental factors. 
These include the need to provide people with places to live.

7.14 The development meets the economic aspects of sustainability through the 
construction of the dwellings themselves and the spending that the residents of the houses 
would bring to the area, potential New Homes Bonus and Council Tax revenue. The 
proposal would also help to support spending in local shops and services, would create jobs 
in construction and would support the construction industry supply chain. 

7.15 In summary, in terms of its location and accessibility, the development is sustainable. 
Furthermore, previous Inspectors have determined that accessibility is but one element of 
sustainable development and it is not synonymous with it. There are many other 
components of sustainability other than accessibility. These include, meeting general and 
affordable housing need and reducing energy consumption through sustainable design, all 
of which this development would contribute to.

Affordable Housing

7.16 CS Policy H2 ‘Affordable and Local Needs Housing’ requires the application proposal 
to deliver 33% affordable housing on site.  Policy C1 'Creating Sustainable Communities' 
states that the Council will 'only permit new development where the utility, transport and 
community infrastructure necessary to serve it is either available, or will be made available 
by the time the development needs it. The policy requires 70% social rented units and 30% 
shared ownership.  The developer has submitted a viability appraisal which indicates that a 
maximum of 7.5% affordable housing is viable. The Council has commissioned an 
independent review of the viability appraisal by consultants Keppie Massey. They have 
raised a number of queries with the developer and further information has been provided. 
The final comments from Keppie Massey were awaited at the time of report preparation and 
an update will be provided to Members on this matter. 

Page 83



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Contaminated land

7.17 The developer has submitted a Phase 1 desk study for contaminated land. The report 
has been considered by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer who has noted that:

 The report has been prepared assuming ½ the site is going to a low sensitive end use. 
This is incorrect

 The Desk Top & Conceptual Site Model is considered to be basic, no information on 
the actual process undertaken by JCB at the factory or reference to industrial profile 
regarding the mills etc.  e.g.  Statements such as areas contained “tanks”   or chemical 
store  are fairly redundant, and this information should be available.  

 The consultant has considered a site as a whole when discussing results, sampling 
locations and even statistics.  This is very rarely appropriate when considering 
contaminated land and is certainly not appropriate in this instance.  On a very basic 
level, ½ the site is greenfield and ½ the site is industrial and one would not consider 
them to likely be  part of the same population. 

 Sites should be considered as an averaging area based on former use or proposed 
use (or a broadly similar population).   Combing the data and discussion of results on 
a bore hole by bore,  hole basis is of little benefit for interpretation (relate to a map), 
and contradicts some of the statements/assumption you need to have, to apply 
method the statistical  methods adopted.    Consequently, the statistics employed here 
and the level of emphasis placed on the statistics in the interpretation of the results  is 
considered to be incorrect  and not inline with the guidance the author is quoting.  

 Not clear why they analysed for certain components at certain location. These should 
be related to the detailed Conceptual site model.  Only 2 asbestos samples taken (at 
1m depth), which is clearly insufficient to demonstrate the presence or absence of 
Asbestos. 

 Currently,  only 11 samples have been taken on the industrial side and not interpreted 
inline with current guidance.   This is not sufficient.

7.18 He concludes that further work will be required to ensure an appropriate remediation 
strategy is developed. However, this can be secured by condition, subject to which it would 
comply with CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and Flood Risk' in this regard. 

Noise Impact

7.19 The application site is not located close to any major trunk roads or railway lines and 
there are no other significant noise generators in the vicinity. As such the Environmental 
Health Officer has not identified noise as a key area of concern and raises no objections on 
these grounds and accordingly the proposal would comply with CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and 
Flood Risk'.

Air Quality

7.20 The Environmental health officer has objected on the grounds of lack of air quality 
information. This has been brought to the attention of the developer and a further update will 
be provided to members in due course. Subject to the receipt of a satisfactory assessment, 
no objection from the Environmental Health Officer and relevant conditions it is considered 
that the proposal also complies with CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and Flood Risk' in respect of 
Air Quality. 

Page 84



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Drainage and Flooding

7.21 The applicant submitted, a detailed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) with the application. 
The findings of the report can be summarised as follows:

 Based on information on flooding obtained from the Environment Agency, 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s SFRA, the area of the site in which 
development is proposed has been shown to lie within an area at low risk of flooding 
from the adjacent Cecilly Brook and its tributary.

 Given that no development is proposed within the floodplain neither the Sequential nor 
the Exception Test is required to be undertaken.

 Data suggests that the site lies within an area at moderate risk from groundwater 
flooding. However, further investigation into the underlying geology at the site and the 
potential mechanism of groundwater flooding, suggests that groundwater is unlikely to 
extend further than the floodplain extent associated with Cecilly Brook.

 In terms of potential flooding from pluvial sources, infiltration has been found to be 
non-feasible option for draining the site and it is therefore proposed that the residential 
properties, associated hardstandings and the adoptable road network within the 
proposed residential development is to be discharged to Cecilly Brook at a rate 
restricted to the pre-development greenfield runoff rate.

 As per the existing/pre-demolition state, Cecilly Brook was culverted through the 
southern part of the site, although rather than being culverted beneath the existing 
JCB building it appears that the building bridged the watercourse. As part of the new 
development it is proposed to provide a single replacement bridge crossing and to 
permanently de-culvert this particular section of Cecilly Brook as open channel down 
towards Oakamoor Road .

 Given the potential change to the existing channel morphology, careful design will be 
required to ensure that the capacity of the proposed culvert is no less than the existing 
situation and is therefore sufficient to carry the flood flows. Permission to undertake 
this work will also be required from the Environment Agency.

 Providing the mitigation measures discussed or similar measures are implemented it is 
considered that the risk of flooding to the site and adjacent land will be minimal.

7.22 As initially submitted, the Lead Local Flood Authority, (Staffordshire County Council) 
and the Environment Agency raised some concerns due to lack of information. This has now 
been provided to them and they now have no objection subject to planning conditions being 
attached to any approval. Accordingly, the proposal complies with CS Policy SD4 ‘Pollution 
and Flood Risk’ and the NPPF, particularly Chapter 10.  

Layout and Design

7.23 CS Policy SS1 ‘Development Principles’ states that the Council will expect the 
development and use of land to contribute positively to the social, economic and 
environmental improvements of the Staffordshire Moorlands and ‘development should be 
undertaken in such a way that protects and enhances the natural and historic environment of 
the District and its surroundings both now and for future generations …’.

7.24 CS Policy H1 ‘New Housing Development’ states ‘all development will be assessed 
according to the extent to which it provides for high quality, sustainable housing … and the 
strategy for the area having regard to the location of the development, the characteristics of 

Page 85



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
the site … All housing should be the most appropriate density compatible with the site and its 
location, with the character of the surrounding area …’.

7.25 The specific design and conservation policies of the CS also seek to promote local 
distinctiveness by means of good design and the conservation, protection and enhancement 
of historic, environmental and cultural assets along with the District’s landscape and the 
setting of its settlements.  Policy DC1 sets out design criteria relating to new development to 
reinforce local distinctiveness and positively contribute to the area.  Policy DC2 covers the 
protection and enhancement of the historic environment. However, in this case the proposal 
does not raise any heritage impact concerns.

7.26 The application is in outline form and only seeks the reserved matters of access.  The 
other matters including appearance, landscaping, layout and scale would be subsequently 
reserved for a further application.  Therefore only indicative information has been submitted.

7.27 The indicative plans show two access points from Oakamoor Road and Churchill Road 
forming a main distributor road through the site with further cul-de-sac development 
accessed to either side. The Oakamoor access would run alongside the Cecilly Brook and a 
significant area of informal open space and a LEAP is also shown in this area. 

7.28 The surrounding development comprises predominantly 20th century ribbon 
development of semi-detached houses along radial arterial routes out of the town and later 
cul-de-sac development to the rear. A mix of modern suburban house types can be found but 
all are broadly traditional brick built houses with pitched and tiled hipped and gable roofs. The 
housing mix, which comprises terraced, detached, semi-detached and apartments is 
considered appropriate and in keeping with surrounding developments. The design approach 
of the development and application form indicates that materials will be agreed at the 
reserved matters stage. However, subject to use of brick and tile roofs to match those of 
surrounding dwellings and incorporating locally distinctive features this is considered to be 
acceptable. 

7.29 The level of private amenity space allocated to the dwelling is considered to be 
appropriate for 1, 2, 3 and 4 bed dwellings and there is ample amenity space on the site to 
cater for this development. Conditions can also provide good quality landscaping and 
boundary treatments. 

7.30 As such it is considered that the indicative layout is acceptable and reflects the form, 
pattern and spacing between dwellings seen in the developments to the north west and south 
east. The density of the development is acceptable and relates well to the massing of 
surrounding development.  Parking would be allocated to each dwelling. Any future reserved 
matters application would need to ensure that the new dwellings were built to the Nationally 
Described Space Standards to ensure that the size of housing provides opportunities for 
future adaption to meet the differing and changing needs of households.

7.31 Having carefully assessed all of the above, it is considered that a high quality design 
which will create a distinctive development and which will comply with policies SS1, H1 and 
DC1 of the Core Strategy as well as NPPF advice in terms of design can be achieved at the 
reserved matters stage based on the dwelling numbers a broad principles illustrated on the 
submitted masterplan. .

Page 86



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Amenity

7.32 The site is surrounded by neighbouring properties which could be affected by the 
proposal including those within King Edward Street, Ullswater Drive, Coniston Drive, 
Churchill Road, Oakamoor Road and Ness Grove. The Council’s adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance relating to space about dwellings sets out that in New Residential 
Developments, a distance of 21m between principal windows and 13m between a principal 
window and a flank elevation is required to maintain an adequate standard of privacy and 
amenity between residential properties. 

7.33 Whilst as noted above, the layout is a reserved matter, the indicative layout submitted 
with the application demonstrates that these standards will be achieved in respect of 
separation distances between the proposed dwellings and the existing neighbouring 
properties.

7.34 Turning to amenity standards within the site, the indicative layout has been laid out to 
respect the minimum separation distances as set out above. The proposal as shown on the 
indicative layout would also achieve the Council’s minimum garden space requirements. 

7.35 The layout and design of the site are considered to be acceptable, and taking into 
account the properties bounding onto the site, it is considered that the dwellings could be 
accommodated on the site, whilst maintaining these minimum distances between existing 
and proposed dwellings. It is also considered that the same standards can be achieved 
between proposed dwellings within the new estate and adequate amenity space can be 
provided for each new dwelling. It is therefore concluded that the proposed development 
would be acceptable in amenity terms and would comply with the requirements of Policy 
DC.1 of the Core Strategy. 

Trees & Landscape

7.36 Policy DC3 sets out measures to protect and enhance the local landscape and setting of 
settlement.  In detail, Policy DC3 ‘Landscape and Settlement Setting’ states ‘The Council will 
protect and, where possible, enhance local landscape and the setting of settlements in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands by: 1. Resisting development which would harm or be detrimental to 
the character of the local and wider landscape or the setting of a settlement and important 
views into and out of the settlement as identified in the Landscape and Settlement Character 
Assessment; 2. Supporting development which respects and enhances local landscape 
character and which reinforces and enhances the setting of the settlement as identified in the 
Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment …’. 

7.37 The application has been considered by the Council’s Arboricultural Officer who has 
commented that the site comprises a former JCB factory and yard areas, now demolished, 
together with an adjacent open field to the north. There are relatively few existing significant 
trees within the site. Those which are present are closely associated with the Cecilly Brook 
along the eastern side of the site, and adjacent to the Local Nature Reserve/amenity corridor 
to the east. Most of the larger trees along the Cecilly Brook are in fact off-site, on the eastern 
bank of the watercourse. The general indicative development layout, including the internal 
road network, would be very unlikely to have any direct impact on these trees due to either 
evidently sufficient separation distance or pre-existing hard-surfaced areas and former 
factory footprint. 

Page 87



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
7.38 The proposed site access position off Oakamoor Road would have no impact on 
significant trees or hedges. The proposed site access point off Cromwell Road would require 
the removal of a short stretch of existing mainly Hawthorn hedge, but this is in fact in very 
poor condition being gappy, over-mature and mostly dead anyway.

7.39 The first 45m or so of the proposed new access road off Cromwell Road would require 
the removal of some mature Hawthorn/Holly/Birch hedge between the existing factory site 
(outside the present railings) and the adjacent public footpath along the north-western edge 
of the application site eventually leading through to Ness Grove. Although a little gappy in 
places, this stretch of hedge is mainly in good condition and provides some valuable urban 
landscape and habitat function, and it is unfortunate that the indicative layout has not been 
designed to retain this. Given that its removal would be required to construct the access road 
in its proposed position, approval of means of access as now sought would effectively accept 
the loss of this section of hedge. The hedge, and indeed the footpath, is within the red-edged 
application site boundary marked on the application location plan, and Certificate A states 
this to be in the applicant’s ownership even if is outside the fenced ex-factory boundary, this 
is to be taken in good faith.

7.40 Loss of this stretch of hedge would, in itself, be unlikely to be considered sufficient 
grounds for refusal of the application if all other aspects are considered to be acceptable. 
However the Arboricultural Officer notes that there appears little obvious spatial opportunity 
or specific location within the indicative layout to readily accommodate mitigation native 
hedgerow planting. (This should be considered in the context of other general comments on 
the indicative layout set out below). It is noted that the large majority of the existing hedge 
along the public footpath is indicated for retention.

7.41 There is an existing remnant hedgeline along the southern boundary of the open field, 
immediately adjacent to the northern boundary of the ex-factory site. In theory, the indicative 
layout plan shows this being retained along the northern side of the proposed access road off 
Cromwell Road, from the public footpath eastwards. However, this hedge is in such a sparse, 
over-mature state and in notably poor condition, that it is not worth retaining (indeed it is 
accurately described as “defunct” in the applicant’s tree survey). However, a replacement 
native species hedgerow would be unlikely to be satisfactorily accommodated in the same 
position, as this appears to be within a series of private garden areas for new dwellings. This 
again raises a question of the location and available space for suitable 
mitigation/replacement elsewhere within the site.

7.42 There is a group of mainly smaller ornamental trees along the southern boundary of 
the site, to the rear (north) of 29 King Edward Street and side (north) of 32 Cecilly Street; the 
indicative layout would afford the potential to retain these where their variable condition/form 
justified this, albeit it they would subsequently be situated within private rear gardens.

7.43 A tree survey report is contained within the applicant’s Landscape and Visual Appraisal, 
identifying existing trees and hedges and their Root Protection Area constraints. As the 
application is only at outline stage, there is no detailed assessment of the likely impact on 
trees which may arise from the proposal. Some elements of the proposed development 
would require more detailed assessment at reserved matters stage with regard to potential 
encroachment within RPAs, such as the main spine access road off Oakamoor Road, the 
indicated LEAP play area and the block of apartments and its access via the indicated 
replacement bridge over Cecilly Brook. However, given the previously developed nature 
including factory buildings and hardstandings, it is considered very unlikely that a 

Page 88



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
development of the form indicated would give rise to much harmful impact on significant 
trees.

7.44 Overall, therefore, the Arboricultural Officer has no objection in principle to the 
proposed residential development at outline stage, including details of access, on the 
grounds of impact on trees and hedges.

7.45 Notwithstanding this the Arboricultural Officer has raised some concerns relating to the 
indicative layout. Whilst they may strictly be issues for subsequent detailed layout design and 
reserved matters application, they are worth noting at this stage. As noted above, there does 
not appear to be obvious opportunity to accommodate replacement/mitigation hedge 
planting. The area identified for public open space along the Cecilly Brook would be better as 
visually open and overlooked, rather than screened off by native hedging. In addition, 
provision of hedging and/or significant tree planting on the open space may be incompatible 
with higher priority habitat creation/management objectives along the brook.

7.46 Detailed ecological comments have been provided by others, but related to this it 
appears that the opportunity has not been taken in the indicative layout to accommodate a 
continuous and substantial area of open space as buffer strip with appropriate habitat 
management/enhancement provision along the full length of the brook through the site – to 
link in to and enhance habitat corridors along Cecilly Brook Local Nature Reserve from the 
south of Oakamoor Road and into Churchill Road Recreation Ground and fields around 
Turners Pasture Farm to the north of the site.

7.47 This same comment could apply in terms of landscape structure/green corridor issues 
along the Cecilly Brook. It seems a missed opportunity that the indicative layout would not 
provide for a wider open space corridor continuing across Oakamoor Road, and also linking 
to the eastern-most corner of Churchill Road Recreation Ground.

7.48 Dwellings and the apartment block are shown very close to the Oakamoor Road 
frontage, closer for example than the existing “building lines” to the east and west, or to the 
south side of Oakamoor Road, and this would provide little if any opportunity to 
accommodate any significant landscape planting to the main site frontage which could then 
contribute to greening and visual enhancement of this stretch of Oakamoor Road.

7.49 Whilst the indicative layout plan shows schematic new tree planting across the site, this 
is mostly located in private rear gardens and shared parking areas, and the layout as 
indicated would in general provide little opportunity for frontage landscaping which could 
make a significant contribution to street scene within the site, and reduce the impact of what 
would otherwise be a very building/road/vehicle dominated visual character.     

7.50 Nevertheless, as noted above, the application is submitted in outline and no approval is 
sought for the layout at this stage. It is considered that all of the above matters can be 
adequately dealt with at the reserved matters stage.  As a consequence, the proposal 
would meet with the objectives of CS policy DC3, which seeks to resist development which 
would harm or be detrimental to the character of the local and wider landscape or the setting 
of a settlement.  It would also accord with CS Policies SS1, SS6c and S7 in respect of 
landscape and those CS policies relating to good design: H1 and DC1 and the relevant core 
principles of the NPPF in respect of always seeking to secure high quality design and taking 
account of the different roles and character of different areas.  This matter will be returned to 
within the planning balance as set out below.

Page 89



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Education

7.51 The County Council’s Education Officer has examined the application and concluded 
that the development will generate 25 primary and 18 secondary aged pupils and 4 Sixth 
Form aged pupils. The Cheadle Academy is projected to have sufficient space to 
accommodate the likely demand from pupils generated by the development. However, 
Cheadle Primary School is projected to be full for the foreseeable future. 

7.52 A contribution will therefore be required towards a new primary school of this size would 
be £497,981 (plus the proportional cost of the acquisition of the necessary land). This can be 
secured through the Section 106 Agreement. 

Open space

7.53 The size of the development triggers a need for public open space both for children’s 
play and sports provision for older children and adults. An on site LEAP is shown on the 
submitted indicative layout plan. The Open Spaces Officer has commented that this is not 
needed due to the proximity of Churchill Road Recreation Ground, which is adjacent to the 
proposed development, on the other side of the track. This site has an existing play facility 
which is in need of refurbishment and which could also be expanded to accommodate 
additional usage from the proposed development. There is a playing field for informal kick 
about as well as an existing Multi Use Games Area, all of which would be accessed by any 
new residents, as well as the potential to provide additional facilities at this site.

7.54 She has recommended that the LEAP is removed from the proposed development and 
that an off‐site contribution for both Play and Playing Fields is provided to refurbish and 
enhance the facilities at Churchill Road Rec. The contributions would be as follows:‐

 Play ‐ £166,411.41 (number of bedrooms 341 as 1 beds are exempt x £488.01)
 Playing pitches ‐ £210,087.75 (number of bedrooms 345 x £608.95)

7.55 The development would need to ensure that access to Churchill Road Recreation 
Ground is provided. This can be secured by condition.

7.56 Subject to this contribution being secured through the Section 106 Agreement, along 
with the provision of the on site open space and suitable management arrangements through 
a resident’s management company, it is considered that the proposal meets the Core 
Strategy requirements in respect of provision of Public Open Space. 

Ecology

7.57 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of strict 
protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only allows disturbance, or 
deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places

Page 90



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
(a) in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative reasons of 
overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial 
consequences of primary importance for the environment, and provided that there is 

(b) no satisfactory alternative and 

(c) no detriment to the maintenance of the species population at favourable 
conservation status in their natural range

7.58 The UK has implemented the Directive in the Conservation (Natural Habitats etc.) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) which contain two layers of protection (i) a requirement on 
Local Planning Authorities to have regard to the Directive`s requirements above, and (ii) a 
licensing system administered by Natural England and supported by criminal sanctions.

7.59 The conservation and enhancement of the natural environment is a core principle of 
the NPPF where planning policies should promote the preservation, restoration and re-
creation of priority habitats and ecological networks.  In determining planning applications, 
permission should be refused if significant harm resulting from development cannot be 
avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated for.  Similarly, CS Policy 
DC1 promotes the maintenance, enhancement, restoration and re-creation of biodiversity 
and geological heritage, where appropriate, in accordance with CS Policy NE1 'Biodiversity 
and Geological Resources'.  

7.60 Amongst other matters, Policy NE1 requires that development, where it is appropriate, 
produces a net gain in biodiversity and ensures that any unavoidable impacts are 
appropriately mitigated for whilst promoting the appropriate maintenance, enhancement, 
restoration and/or re-creation of biodiversity through its proposed nature, scale, location and 
design.

7.61 Circular 6/2005 advises LPAs to give due weight to the presence of protected species 
on a development site to reflect EC requirements

7.62 The NPPF advises LPAs to conserve and enhance biodiversity: if significant harm 
resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts) or adequately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for, planning 
permission should be refused. 

7.63 Natural England`s standing advice is that, if a (conditioned) development appears to 
fail the three tests in the Habitats Directive, then LPAs should consider whether Natural 
England is likely to grant a licence: if unlikely, then the LPA should refuse permission: if likely, 
then the LPA can conclude that no impediment to planning permission arises under the 
Directive and Regulations.

7.64 In this case the application is supported by a Phase I Ecological Survey which 
concludes that the site former factory site is a large area of hard standing, with semi-
improved agricultural grassland to the north. Cecilly Brook flows north to south, along the 
eastern boundary of the site. The north and eastern borders are formed by woodland planting 
and hedgerows, by Oakamoor Road to the south, and housing to the west. Stands of 
Impatiens glandulifera (Indian Balsam) were recorded along the banks of Cecilly Brook. 
There are suitable habitats suitable for badgers, bats, nesting birds, otter, reptiles, water vole, 
and white-clawed crayfish on site. Field signs for both Water Vole and bats were recorded 
during this survey. Two Alnus glutinosa (Alder) trees were deemed suitable for roosting bats 

Page 91



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
within the development site and are situated along the bank of Cecilly Brook.  Cecilly Brook is 
suitable for Water Voles, with records of the species along the brook. The detailed survey 
identified field signs such as burrows and latrines, including the use of a raft. Restrictions and 
suggested action relating to invasive plant species and protected animal species are 
discussed, with recommendations including further survey work.

7.65 The Council’s ecologist has considered the report and initially objected to the 
application on the ground that biodiversity has not been properly considered. Cecilly Brook is 
of county importance for its population of water voles. Water voles are also priority UK and 
Staffordshire Biodiversity Action Plan species for conservation action. Appropriate avoidance 
and mitigation is required to minimise potential impacts, plus considerable habitat 
enhancement given the size and scale of proposed development. A riparian buffer strip has 
not been effectively designed to show that impacts on water voles will not arise. The distance 
from built development to the edge of Cecilly Brook does not provide a sufficient buffer.  
Staffordshire Wildlife trust and the Environment Agency objected on similar grounds.

7.66 The Ecologist has commented that a substantial ecological buffer adjacent to Cecilly 
Brook must include:  

 Re-engineering sections - removing concrete piling and reprofiling to remove any 
artifical channel features. 

 Buffer strips that can be clearly demonstrated to mitigate pollution, runoff/flooding into 
Cecilly book and provide sufficient area of high quality brook-side habitat. 

 The creation of ponds and back waters within the buffer strip to enhance the site for 
water voles.

 In-channel features to reduce flooding and increase the biodiversity value of Cecilly 
brook, where  appropriate

 The creation of species rich grassland to enhance and add value to adjacent species 
rich grassland created at Cecilly Brook Local Nature Reserve. The outline feasibility 
layout (drawing number 1) does not show where such habitat will be created.

 A riparian corridor engineered for biodiversity mitigation and enhancement is a critical 
feature within the site, around which housing development should be planned. To 
determine the number of houses feasibile, this feature providing benefits for 
biodiversity and people must be designed in appropriate detail.

7.67 Further information has since been provided and the ecologist has commented that the 
management plan is an improvement on the previous version and welcomes the inclusion of 
the various comments. However, he is still concerned that that main access drive along the 
western boundary of the site requires a wider buffer zone between the road a Cecilly Brook. 
The main western access road is currently shown two-three metres from the edge of Cecilly 
Brook according to the plan. The Ecologist recommends a minimum 5m buffer. The 
Environment Agency have made similar comments and recommended a minimum of 8m 
buffer strip. However, this is an outline application with all matters, including layout reserved, 
and it is considered that the required buffer could be accommodated with maintaining the 
density of development proposed. It is considered that the buffer could be secured by 
condition. 

7.68 It is noted also that Natural England has raised no objection to the proposals. On this 
basis it is considered that the proposals comply with Local Plan policy NE1 and the 
requirements of the Habitat Regulations.  .

Page 92



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Highway Safety and Traffic Generation.

7.69 The Transport Assessment submitted with the application concludes that: 

 The proposed development comprises up 120 houses on the site for the former factory 
to be accessed from two access points; one on Oakamoor Road and the other on 
Churchill Road. The proposed accesses would replace the multiple informal access 
points from Oakamoor Road, Churchill Road and King Edward Street / Cecilly Street / 
Cecilly Terrace.

 Adequate visibility splays appear achievable at both the external site access points 
and at junctions shown within the indicative proposed site layout.

 Car parking will be provided in line with Staffordshire Moorlands standards.
 The indicative site layout is able to accommodate the swept path of a refuse collection 

vehicle.
 The site is in an accessible location with good potential for use of sustainable transport 

modes, and a range of local amenities within walking / cycling distance. A Travel Plan 
to encourage travel to/from the site by sustainable modes has been prepared and is 
submitted as a separate report as part of the planning application.

 No accidents have been recorded in the vicinity of the site in the most recent five-year 
period available.

 Part of the site is allocated for housing in the Local Plan Preferred Options document, 
which identifies that 106 units could be accommodated, reflecting the principal of the 
120no. units proposed.

 The proposed development would result in the removal of HGV trips from the local 
highway network and particularly the town centre, which would have wider benefits in 
terms of congestion, noise and vehicle emissions.

 The proposed development would not have a material impact beyond the site 
accesses and Harborne Road / Churchill Road / King Edward Street crossroads 
junction, relative to the extant industrial use of the site. These junctions can 
accommodate the traffic generated by the development comfortably within capacity 
without material queueing.

 Staffordshire County Council’s Cheadle Town Centre “Worst Case” traffic model has 
been run specifically to assess the impact of the development by their consultants, 
who concluded that the impact on the town centre would be negligible. Following this a 
detailed junction capacity assessment was undertaken of the mini roundabout 
junctions between the A521 / A522 / Leek Road / Queen Street, which supported this 
conclusion.

 It is therefore considered that the current proposals are acceptable with regard to 
transport 

7.70 The County Highway Engineer has examined the application.  The revised Transport 
Assessment demonstrates that the development can be accommodated on the highway 
network without severe effect on the network. Accordingly he raises no objection to the 
proposal subject to conditions and therefore it is considered that the proposal complies with 
policies T1 and T2 of the Core Strategy in respect of highway safety, traffic generation, 
parking and sustainable transport. 

Page 93



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Section 106 Contributions

7.71 As noted throughout this report, a number of Section 106 contributions are being 
sought. R122(2) of the CIL regulations 2010 states that obligations should be:-

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
• directly related to the development
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

7.72 In respect of the various contributions:
1. Affordable housing. There is an established need for affordable housing in the District. 

The affordable housing contribution would be provided on site and is also necessary to 
ensure that the development complies with Policy H2 of the Core Strategy. 

2. Provision of Open Space Contribution. The development of family housing will create 
a requirement for young children’s play space and for sports and older children’s 
recreation and clearly the development will generate a demand for these facilities as 
well. There is a deficiency of provision in the local area and therefore an off site 
contribution is sought. There is a nearby recreation ground which has potential for 
increased capacity through refurbishment and improvement. Again this is supported 
by Policy C2 of the Core Strategy. 

3. Private Residents Management Company. It is no longer Council policy to adopt 
maintenance liabilities of new public open space. The Management Company is 
necessary to maintain all open space on site including amenity greenspace, play 
space, incidental open space, footpaths and cycleways in a good condition after 
development is completed. 

4. The County Education Officer has confirmed that there insufficient capacity in local 
schools to accommodate the children associated with the development and therefore 
a contribution is justified. It has been calculated in accordance with the County Council 
standard formula and is therefore proportionate and related to the development. 

8. CONCLUSIONS & PLANNING BALANCE

8.1 The site is a brownfield site located within the built up area boundary of Cheadle 
where there is a general presumption in favour of new development The development of 
brownfield sites to provide new housing in sustainable locations close to the town centre is in 
accordance with Policy SS5c  Core Strategy. As a former employment site the application 
must also be determined in accordance with Policy E2 of the Core Strategy which resits the 
redevelopment employment sites for other purposes unless it can be demonstrated that the 
site is no longer suitable or viable for employment use and that there are substantial planning 
benefits to outweigh the loss. In this case it is acknowledged that there would be substantial 
economic and benefits in terms of provision of housing, at a time of chronic undersupply and 
amenity benefits to local residents through the regeneration of the site, and removal of 
industrial uses. However, no information has been provided to address the first limb of the 
policy and demonstrate that the site is no longer viable for employment re-use and as a result 
there is conflict with the Core Strategy in this regard.  Under the provisions of section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states that planning applications and 
appeals must be determined “in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise".

8.2 As set out above there is some conflict with part of Policy E2 of the Development Plan. 
However the NPPF is a material consideration of weight. It sets out a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. For decision taking it says at paragraph 11 that where those 

Page 94



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
polices which are the most important for determining the application are out of date, the tilted 
balance applies i.e that permission must be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole or the application of policies in this Framework 
that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed. Footnote 7 confirms that ‘out of date’ includes applications for the 
provision of housing where the LPA cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. That is the case here with the District having a less than 2 year supply. 

8.3 In this case there are policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance which indicate that development should be restricted and therefore the 
development should be approved unless there are “significant an demonstrable” adverse 
effects - the so called “titled balance”.

8.4 In addition to seeking to significantly boosting the supply of homes, the revised NPPF 
places much emphasis on making effective use of land, dedicating a whole chapter to it. 
Paragraph 118 refers to LPA’s supporting appropriate opportunities to remediate derelict and 
contaminated land; promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply 
is constrained and available sites such as this, could be used more effectively. Paragraph 85 
says that LPA’s should also take a positive approach to applications for alternative uses of 
land which is currently developed but not allocated in a plan, where this would help to meet 
identified development needs. In particular it says LPA’s should support proposals to use 
amongst other matters employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, 
provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or sites and be compatible with 
other policies in the Framework. This is afforded significant weight in the overall planning 
balance. 

8.5 The northern part of the site is included as a housing option in the Submission Version of 
the Local Plan with an anticipated capacity of 45 dwellings draft Policy DSC 2 - Cecilly Brook 
Strategic Development Area. There have been no representations received in respect of this 
allocation and it is a material consideration in the determination of the application, although 
one which attracts only limited weight at present. Nevertheless it does demonstrate a 
direction of travel of planning policy which is away from employment towards residential uses 
on this site.

8.6 The proposal would deliver economic benefits through the construction of the dwellings 
and once completed through extra spending power in the local economy and increased 
Council tax receipts. Moderate weight is attached to this. The provision of housing in 
circumstances of a chronic housing under supply attracts very significant weight. There are 
also environmental benefits associated with the re use of this long standing vacant and 
disused brownfield site and its remediation.  Moderate weight is attached to this also. 

8.7 There is no conflict with Minerals Safeguarding Policy and the site is sustainably located 
within 10 minutes walking time of the town centre and a range of local shops and facilities 
including public transport opportunities. Whilst site viability prevents the provision of full policy 
compliant affordable housing, the scheme will deliver some affordable units, although the 
precise percentage is awaiting confirmation from the Council’s consultants at the time of 
report preparation and Members will be updated on this issue. 

8.8 The scheme is acceptable in terms of contaminated land, noise and drainage. An air 
quality assessment was awaited at the time of report preparation but subject to this being 

Page 95



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
provided and the Environmental Health Officer being satisfied it is considered that the 
proposal complies with CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and Flood Risk'.

8.9 The application is submitted in outline and matters of appearance, layout and landscape 
are reserved for a future application. Nevertheless based on the submitted indicative layout it 
is considered that a design which respects the character and appearance of the surrounding  
area and maintains adequate levels of  amenity for existing and future occupiers can be 
achieved. It is therefore considered that the scheme will comply with policies SS1, H1 and 
DC1 of the Core Strategy as well as NPPF advice in terms of design.

8.10 The application has been considered by the Councils Arboricultural Officer who raises 
no objection on grounds of tree of hedgerow loss or landscape impact. He has raised a 
number of issues with the indicative layout. However, these can be addressed at the 
reserved matters stage. Accordingly the scheme complies with Policy DC3 which sets out 
measures to protect and enhance the local landscape and setting of settlement.  The 
Council’s Ecologist, the Environment Agency and Staffordshire Wildlife Trust have raised 
concerns regarding the width of the buffer zone alongside the Cecilly Brook. However, given 
that layout is a reserved matter this can be secured by condition addressed at a future stage. 

8.11 Impacts of increased demand for education and open space can be addressed through 
appropriate Section 106 contributions which would be in compliance with Core Strategy 
Policy and the CIL Regulations. 

8.12 The County Highway Engineer has examined the application who has commented that 
the revised Transport Assessment demonstrates that the development can be 
accommodated on the highway network without severe effect on the network. Accordingly he 
raises no objection to the proposal subject to conditions and therefore it is considered that 
the proposal complies with policies T1 and T2 of the Core Strategy in respect of highway 
safety, traffic generation, parking and sustainable transport

8.13 Having weighed all the relevant factors in the planning balance it is considered that the 
proposal complies with all other relevant development plan policies, there are no significant 
and demonstrable adverse impacts to outweigh the substantial benefits arising from 
residential development and, subject to the receipt of the outstanding information and 
confirmation of no objections from the Environmental Health Officer the application is 
recommended for approval. 

9. RECOMMENDATION

A. APPROVE subject to Environmental Health Officer and Section 106 Agreement to 
secure:

1. Affordable contribution, (% TBC)
2. Housing to be transferred to and managed by a Registered Provider as set 

out in the defined in the Housing & Regeneration Act 2008
3. Private Residents Management Company to maintain all open space on site 

including amenity greenspace, play space, incidental open space, footpaths 
and cycleways.

4. Off site public open space contribution 
a. Play ‐ £166,411.41 (number of bedrooms 341 as 1 beds are exempt x 

£488.01)
b. Playing pitches ‐ £210,087.75 (number of bedrooms 345 x £608.95)

Page 96



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 Education Contribution: £386.085 for primary education, 497,981 (plus the 

proportional cost of the acquisition of the necessary land – Amount TBC).

And the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from 
the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters.
Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission and 
thereafter the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the details as 
approved.
Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

3. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called "the 
reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development is commenced and thereafter the development shall 
only be carried out in accordance with the details as approved.
Reason:- To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and Articles 4 and 5 of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved drawings and documents (Location Plan) and shall be in general 
accordance with the indicative site plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.

5. The reserved matters application(s) shall be based on the Nationally Described 
Space Standards   
Reason: - To ensure dwellings of adequate size in line with national policy 

6. The mix of units at reserved matters shall reflect the Council’s Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment
Reason: - To ensure an appropriate mix of units 

7. No phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a Demolition 
and Construction and Environmental Method Statement has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall include the following 
details:-

I. the hours of work, which shall not exceed the following: Construction and 
associated deliveries to the site shall not take place outside 08:00 to 18:00 
hours Mondays to Fridays, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays, nor at any 
time on Sundays or Bank Holiday;

II. the arrangements for prior notification to the occupiers of potentially affected 
properties;

III. the responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be contacted in the 
event of complaint;

Page 97



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
IV. a scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction activities on the 

site.  The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development.  The 
approved dust suppression measures shall be maintained in a fully functional 
condition for the duration of the construction phase;

V. a scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from the construction works;
VI. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

VII. the loading and unloading of plant and materials;
VIII. the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;

IX. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;

X. details of measures to protect the public footpaths and amenity of users of the 
pubic footpaths crossing the site during the construction works.

All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Any alteration 
to this Plan shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
deviation from it.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area.

8. The development hereby permitted, shall take place until a further intrusive site 
investigation and risk assessment has been completed in accordance with a scheme 
to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site.  The investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken 
by competent persons and accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11.  The 
assessment should include;

(i) A survey of the extent, scale and nature of any contamination;
(ii) An assessment of the potential risks to: 

o Human health
o Property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and pipes;
o Adjoining land;
o Ground and surface waters;
o Ecological systems; and,
o Archaeological sites and ancient monuments.

(iii)An appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
A written report of the findings shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. 

9. No phase of the development hereby permitted, except for works of site clearance 
and demolition (not to include break up or removal of hardstanding or other 
excavation) shall take place until a detailed remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken has been 
submitted and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  The remediation 
strategy shall be produced by competent persons and should include:

(i) A summary of the results of the site investigation and the detailed risk 
assessment and options appraisal referred to in condition (X).

(ii) A remediation strategy giving full details of all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works 
and site management procedures.

(iii)A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy are complete and 

Page 98



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

The remediation scheme shall be fully implemented as approved and subsequently 
maintained in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated 
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.

10 No occupation of any phase of the permitted development shall take place until a 
verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to 
and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It 
shall also include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and 
maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved for each phase. 

11. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment 
must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition (X) , and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of condition (20), which is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme and prior to bringing the development into first use, a verification 
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

12. No soil is to be imported to the site until it has been tested for contamination and 
assessed for its suitability for the proposed development; a suitable methodology for 
testing this material should be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the soils being imported onto site. The methodology should include 
the sampling frequency, testing schedules, criteria against which the analytical results 
will be assessed (as determined by the risk assessment) and source material 
information. The analysis shall then be carried out and validatory evidence submitted 
to and approved in writing to by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason (common to 8-12):- To ensure that the proposed development meets the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to 
human health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 
necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks.

13. Any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not be 
burnt on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the 
environment.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area.

14. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as a 
scheme of Sustainable Drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. 

Page 99



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the entire site to the Cecilly Brook to 
22l/s so that it will not increase the risk of flooding off-site. 
 Provision of an appropriate calculated volume of attenuation flood storage on the 
site to a 100year + 40% standard. The current volumes may need to be revised upward 
if high water levels in the Cecilly Brook are taken into account. 
 Confirm which responsible body will maintain the surface water system over the 
lifetime of the development according to an acceptable maintenance schedule and that 
is achievable. 
 Ensure existing sewers through the site are diverted in agreement with Severn 
Trent. 
 Confirm what water treatment measures will be incorporated into the system. 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance 
with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any 
other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning 
authority. 
Reason To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface 
water from the site. 

15. Prior to commencement of development a Site Waste management plan shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No development 
shall take place except in complete accordance with the approved Plan.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of the Waste Local Plan

16. The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage plans for 
the disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is first brought into use. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage as well as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to 
minimise the risk of pollution

17 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) Cecilly Mill, Oakamoor 
Rood, Cheadle v1.1 dated 29th January 2018 and the following mitigation measures
detailed within the FRA:

1. Finished floor levels of dwellings located within the Southern Section of the 
site as identified on figure 10 are set no lower than 156.47 m above Ordnance 
Datum (AOD).
2. Finished floor levels of dwellings located within the Northern Section of the 
site as identified on figure 10 are set no lower than 156.95 m above Ordnance 
Datum (AOD).
3. There shall be no dwellings or structures located within 8m from the top of 
bank of the Cecilly Brook.

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by
the local planning authority.
Reason To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants.

Page 100



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
18 No development hereby approved shall be commenced until full details of the 
following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:
- layout and disposition of roads and buildings;
- Provision of parking, turning and servicing within the site curtilage;
- Means of surface water drainage;
- Surfacing materials;
- pedestrian routes and facilities to and through the site;
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and be completed prior to first occupation of the development.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

19 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until details of the 
reinstatement of the existing site access to footway with full height kerb, which shall 
include the access crossing between the site and carriageway edge made redundant 
as a consequence of the development have been first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The existing site access made redundant as a 
consequence of the development hereby approved shall thereafter be reinstated as 
footway with full height kerb in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

20. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the accesses 
to the site have been completed. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

21 No development shall take place, until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall 
provide for:
i) a site compound with associated temporary buildings:
ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
v) wheel wash facilities.
vi) Road sweeper
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

22 No mud, debris, dust or any deleterious material shall be deposited on the highway. 
Any mud, debris, dust or deleterious materials that is deposited shall be immediately 
removed.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

23 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the visibility 
splays shown on plan ref. SCP/17320/F01 have been provided. The visibility splay shall 
thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 600 mm above 
the adjacent carriageway level.
REASON: (common to 18- 23) To comply with NPPF Paragraph 108 (2018); to comply 
with SMDC Core Strategy Policy DC1, T1 and T2; in the interests of highway safety. To 
comply with NPPF para 102 (2018); to promote and encourage alternative means of 
transport. To ensure the development can be constructed without undue 
inconvenience to road users and residents; in the interests of highway safety
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

Page 101



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

24. The reserved matters shall make provision for a pedestrian access from the site to 
Churchill Road recreation Ground. 
Reason: To provide access to open space

25. The reserved matters shall make provision for a 8m buffer zone, free from 
development, to either side of the Cecilly Brook. The reserved matters shall include 
details of the boundary treatment, landscaping and future management of the buffer 
zone. The buffer zone shall thereafter be provided and maintained in perpetuity in 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason : In the interests of ecology.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning obligations 
or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation with 
the Chairman of the [Planning Applications Committee], provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

10. APPENDICES TO THE REPORT

10.1 The link below to the Council’s website is where the detail of this application can 
be viewed.

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet

Page 102

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet


«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0443

Location Land South East Of A521, A50 BLYTHE BRIDGE BYPASS 
BLYTHE BRIDGE, STAFFORDSHIRE

Proposal Reserved matters application for the phase 2 access road 
and associated infrastructure including drainage to serve the 
road, tree removal, levels, landscaping, safeguarding area, 
great crested newt mitigation pursuant to planning 
application 11/00405/REM

Applicant Mrs L. Bisbey, St. Modwen Homes
Agent Ms Joanne Russell, Turley Associates
Parish/ward Forsbrook Date registered 12/07/18
If you have a question about this report please contact: Ben Haywood  
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4924 ben.haywood@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

The Application has been referred to committee because it is a major development 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to Conditions

2. SITE DESCRIPTION 

2.1 The Application Site forms part of a wider site controlled by St Modwen, which in 
turn forms a significant part of a site allocated in the adopted Development Plan (Core 
Strategy 2014) for employment development. 

2.2 The Site is located north of the A50/south east of the A521 at Blythe Bridge, from 
where access will be achieved. The Application Site is south east of Blythe Bridge, located 
between this settlement and Forsbrook. To the north and primarily to the west of the Site, 
the land within the wider St Modwen control, forms fields used for grazing purposes. 

2.3 The fields comprise grass, with trees and hedgerows predominantly forming the 
boundaries as opposed to being isolated within the fields themselves. Established tree 
and hedgerow boundaries in particular form the southern and western edges of the Site. 
The site falls gently overall from the north and west, towards the south and east. 

3 DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

3.1 The site benefits from an outline planning permission for a Premium Employment Site 
Ref: 11/00405/REM1MJ (SMD/2011/0304). As part of the approval of that planning permission 
the site was separated into phases 1 - 4, as demonstrated in approved plan Ref. 14798 – 06 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
(Phasing Plan). In 2017, a full planning application submitted (was approved on 10/05/2018, 
Application Ref: SMD/2017/0512) on what was the equivalent of Phase 1 of the extant 
consent. The planning permission was for residential development under the following 
description of development:

‘Detailed Planning Application for the development of 118 dwellings (Use Class C3), 
new access and internal roads for vehicles, pedestrian and cycle linkages; car and 
cycle parking; associated play and open space, landscaping, ecological habitats; 
sustainable drainage measures, earthworks and all ancillary enabling works including 
the demolition of building and structures.’

3.2 This planning application seeks the approval of Reserved Matters relating to ‘Phase 2’ 
of planning permission Ref: 11/00405/REM1MJ (SMD/2011/0304). The Reserved Matters 
being applied for are access, layout, scale, appearance and landscape in so far as they relate 
to the access road only. 

3.3 An access road forms the principal proposal of this Reserved Matters planning 
application, routed from the North of the site to the south of the site (Plan Ref. 03587-A-0101-
P1). Its character will comprise a 7.3m single carriageway, at a maximum speed of 30mph to 
match that of the A521 Uttoxeter Road (Ref. 3588 - 06072018). The specifications of the 
proposed access road, including this 7.3m width, are compliant with application Ref. 
11/00405/REM1MJ which this Reserved Matters application is pursuant to.

3.4 The proposed Phase 2 access road already benefits from a connection off the A521 
Uttoxeter Road, approved under the Phase 1 application (Ref. SMD/2017/0512). The 
proposed road will extend from the end of the approved Phase 1 access road (Plan Ref. 
03587-A-0101-P1).

3.5 The purpose of this road is firstly to provide the infrastructure to support a future planning 
application proposing the development of this Phase 2 parcel. The proposed Phase 2 access 
road will also unlock this part of the site, and provides an opportunity for the rest of the Blythe 
Vale draft Local Plan allocation to come forwards subject to those planning permissions and 
agreements being in place.

3.6 The emerging Local Plan allocates Blythe Vale for mixed use development. It seeks a 
crossing of the A50. No planning applications for development of either Phase 2 or Phase 3 
are before the LPA as yet, and therefore this planning application for reserved matters 
safeguards an area for a potential future connection, which itself will require planning 
permission and agreements to be in place.

3.7 The submitted application also includes drainage measures for the access road 
Proposed site levels Structural landscaping and green infrastructure details of tree and hedge 
removal, a Great Crested Newt (GCN) Mitigation 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

SM.97-0216 Premium Employment Site Development 30th July 1997

03/00498/FUL_MJ Variation of Condition 2(a) (b) (ii) of SM97-0216 to extend time limit. 15th 
July 2003

Page 104



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
06/00984/FUL Variation of Condition 1 attached to planning permission 03/00498/FUL_MJ 

dated 15th July 2003 to extend time period in which to submit reserved 
matters by a further 5 years to 15th July 2013. -  17th October 2006

01/00125/REM Provision of access to phase 1 development of employment site. 3rd April 
2007

07/01532/REM_MJ Development of commercial site of phase 1 for Class B1 use. 29th April 
2008

11/00405/REM New Planning Permission to replace extant Planning Permission 
06/00984/FUL, pursuant to the original Outline Planning Permission SM.97- 
0216 for a Premium Employment Site on land adjoining A50(T), Blythe 
Bridge, in order to extend the time for submission of reserved matters by 5 
years to the 15th July 2018 and the implementation of the planning 
permission by 5 years to 15th July 2021.-9th August 2011

SMD/2017/0512 ‘Detailed Planning Application for the development of 118 dwellings (Use 
Class C3), new access and internal roads for vehicles, pedestrian and cycle 
linkages; car and cycle parking; associated play and open space, 
landscaping, ecological habitats; sustainable drainage measures, 
earthworks and all ancillary enabling works including the demolition of 
building and structures.’ - Approved

5. PLANNING POLICIES

5.1 The Development Plan comprises of:

 Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted 1998)
 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development NPPF Core Strategy (Adopted March 

2014)
 The Minerals Local Plan (Adopted December 1999) Saved Policies 2007
 Staffordshire & Stoke-in-Trent Joint Waste Core Strategy (Adopted March 2013)

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (1998)

5.2 Development boundaries within the 1998 Adopted Local Plan are still in force until such 
time as they are reviewed and adopted through the site allocations process.  

Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development Framework (LDF) (26th March 2014)

5.3 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Development Framework (LDF) is a District wide 
development plan which replaces the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan to provide a 
framework for delivering development up to 2026.  The Core Strategy is the key LDF 
document.  It is a strategic District wide plan which influences how and where the 
Staffordshire Moorlands will develop in the future. It sets out what the Council would like to 
achieve in each of the main towns and the rural areas outside of the Peak District National 
Park.  The Core Strategy provides the framework for future LDF documents which will then 
identify specific sites for development in the District (Site Allocations Development Plan 

Page 105



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Document) and provides detailed guidance to supplement the policies (Supplementary 
Planning Guidance).

5.4 The following CS (Core Strategy) policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 SS6c Other Rural Areas Area Strategy
 SS8 Blythe Bridge Regional Investment Site
 E2 Employment Sites
 SD4 Pollution and Flood Risk
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC2 The Historic Environment
 DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting
 C1 Creating Sustainable Communities
 C2 Sport, Recreation and Open Space
 NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport
 T2 Other Sustainable Transport Measures

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)

 Developer/Landowner Contributions SPG (2004)

National Planning Policy NPPF 2018

National Planning Policy Guidance

Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan

National Policy Guidance

5.5 Paragraph 48 of the newly adopted NPPF states that:

“…decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according 
to:
 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 

greater the weight that may be given);
 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 

significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies 

in this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

Local Plan process

5.6 The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for representations in 
February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the Local Plan was “sound”. Formal 
representations were then invited from residents, businesses and other stakeholders to 
provide them with the opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or legal compliance 
of the Local Plan. This stage in the process followed three previous public consultations since 

Page 106



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
2015 which had informed the preparation of the Local Plan alongside a comprehensive 
evidence base. 

5.7 In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan Submission 
Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination in public will now be held 
this Autumn in order to determine whether the Local Plan is sound and legally compliant. 
Subject to the findings of the appointed inspector, the Local Plan is expected to be adopted in 
the Spring of 2019. At his point, it will supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part 
of the statutory development plan for the District.  

5.8 In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies contained in 
the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria set out in Paragraph 48 of 
the NPPF is as follows:

 The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage of preparation 
as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for examination

 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies – this varies 
depending on the policy in question. The Officer Comments section of this report 
identifies the level of outstanding objections to each policy and recommends the 
amount of weight to be given to them at this stage in the process

 The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the Council has 
submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all policies are deemed to be 
consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies

5.9 The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:

- Policy SS1 Development Principles
- Policy 1a Presumption in favour of sustainable development
- SS2 Settlement Hierarchy
- SS9 Smaller Villages Strategy
- SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy
- Policy H1 New Housing Development
- Policy DC2 Historic Environment
- Policies H2 and DSR1, ‘Blythe Vale’. 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site Notice Posted 9th August 2018.

Press Notice Published 15th August 2018.

Neighbour Notifications 15th August 2018.

County Planning Officer

The County Council as the Mineral and Waste Planning Authority has no comments on this 
application as the site is: 

 Not within or near to any permitted waste management facility; and 
 Exempt from the requirements of Policy 3 – Mineral Safeguarding in the 

Page 107



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Regeneration

This is a Reserved Matters application for the Phase 2 access road and associated 
infrastructure serving the Regional Investment Site at Blythe Bridge.

The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan allocates approximately 300 homes within 
a wider, 48.5 hectare mixed use development on the site at Blythe Vale, Blythe Bridge.  The 
site is regionally important and may have a role to play in supporting the future Constellation 
Partnership regeneration initiative.  A residential scheme forming Phase 1 of the overall site 
development has already been approved.  The proposals sought under this planning 
application seek the delivery of critical infrastructure, which will enable the remainder of the 
site to be developed in line with the emerging Local Plan allocation.

The proposed Phase 2 access road will unlock further parts of the site, and provide an 
opportunity for the overall Local Plan Blythe Vale mixed use allocation to come forward, 
subject to planning permissions and agreements being in place.

Delivering this strategic site supports investment into the Staffordshire Moorlands economy 
including through new housing and business investment in equipment and premises with an 
associated positive impact on the local economy in terms of jobs and purchasing of supplies 
and services.

Draycott Parish Council

Objection: At a meeting of Draycott Parish Council on 19th July 2018, the planning 
application SMD/2018/0443 was discussed by the council and the meeting was open for 
public participation.   The consensus of opinions was:

1. The Local Plan which states that SMDC communities will be protected and 
preserved.  Draycott in the Moors is listed as a village in the Plan and yet the village is 
then subjected to two massive building developments.
2. Infrastructure - residents agreed that the current infrastructure in the surrounding 
areas would not cope with the increase of residents/ vehicles.  In particular schools, 
doctors and the pressure it will put on Blythe Bridge crossroads which is already a 
problem for traffic in all directions, but especially from the Forsbrook direction.  There 
is no shop in Draycott Parish so all provisions would have to come from Blythe Bridge 
or Meir adding to the traffic congestion in Blythe Bridge and on the A50 roundabout.  
The road through Hilderstone, leading into Cresswell, also Cheadle Road passing 
through Draycott Cross and Breach Lane passing through Totmonslow are already 
used as rat runs for commuting traffic.
3. The public are concerned about the Pedestrian phasing - provision for egress for 
pedestrians making their way to local amenities in Draycott parish and to Blythe Bridge 
where the doctors, schools and shops are.
4. The public are concerned that the width of the access road is not wide enough to 
take the industrial traffic to the proposed Commercial site.
5. Residents of Draycott Parish were asking for information regarding 106 funding and 
clarification on what our Parish will gain from this development.
6. A councillor had a conversation with a planning assistant at SMDC who was vague 
about the provision for the public footpath.  Draycott Parish Council would like this item 
to be explained. 

Page 108



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Open Space

My only comment about the Landscape Strategy for this application is the proximity of the on 
site LEAP to the existing ponds.  I appreciate that these ponds are an important ecological 
habitat and are required for the Great Crested Newt mitigation, but I am concerned about 
encouraging children to an area with a potential high risk.  There is definitely a need for on 
site play, and I like the proposals for more natural features, but not next to the ponds.  Would 
it possible to accommodate the LEAP in a different area within Phase 2 but still following the 
Secure by Design Principles? I’m happy to discuss this further to see if we can reach an 
acceptable location.

Lead Local Flood Authority

The proposed development will only be acceptable if the following measures as detailed in 
the Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage Strategy and/or other planning documents submitted 
with this application are implemented and secured by way of a planning condition on any 
planning permission: 

The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)/Drainage Strategy and 
the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 

 Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the new access road to a 
maximum of 5l/s and not increase the risk of flooding off-site. 

 Provision of an appropriate calculated volume of attenuation flood 
storage on the site to a 100 year + 30% standard. This is to be provided 
within the temporary conveyance ditches. 

 Demonstration within the FRA that the improvement/protection and 
maintenance of existing flood defences/infrastructure will be provided. 

 Confirmation of adequate treatment trains within the site. 
 The culverting of the ordinary watercourse through the site and any 

alterations to existing watercourses will be subject to a Land Drainage 
Consent application through this office. 

Highways

There are no objections on Highway grounds to the proposed development subject to the 
following conditions being included on any approval:-

 Before the proposed development is brought into use, details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority indicating autotracking for 
large HGV (size of vehicle likely to access the commercial site).

Tree Officer

This application seeks reserved matters approval for the Phase 2 access road and 
associated infrastructure. Proposals for the main development areas of Phase 2, which 
would be accessed off the road scheme the subject of the current application, are not yet 
submitted and so are not addressed either by the application or these comments.

A comprehensive tree survey and arboricultural impact assessment report accompanies the 
application. Whilst the basic tree/hedge survey and condition/retention assessment covers 

Page 109



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
the majority of the whole Phase 2 area, the arboricultural impact assessment appropriately 
only goes on to assess impact on those trees and hedges specifically affected by the 
current road proposal application.

The alignment of the road has been guided in part by the tree and hedge constraints, in 
order to minimise losses or harmful impacts. Inevitably, however, given the nature and scale 
of the whole development (Phases 1 and 2 combined) it was never going to be practical or 
reasonably possible to achieve such a large scale development without some losses. This 
was no doubt taken into account when planning permission was first granted, and is the 
context in which each phase/element of the wider scheme is considered as it comes 
forward. It does therefore raise the need for specific layout design to minimise losses and 
direct impact, and subsequently to accommodate and make provision for suitable mitigation 
and compensation measures where some losses and impact are unavoidable.

There are 7 individual trees, and parts of 2 groups of trees, which would need to be 
removed either because they are directly on the proposed alignment of the road or are so 
close that the degree of direct impact on them would preclude their reasonable, long-term, 
safe retention. In addition, 4 relatively short sections of existing field hedgerow would also 
need to be removed where they are crossed by the proposed road alignment.

The application for the Phase 2 access road also includes a proposal for temporary 
conveyance and attenuation drainage ditching around the south-west edge of the wider 
Phase 2 site. This would not require removal of, or directly impact on, any existing trees, but 
would require the removal of a further short stretch of field hedge. Whilst this stretch could 
potentially be replanted on its original line following completion, the gap in fact is utilised for 
an open space link footpath in the proposed landscape strategy.

It may have been possible to design a different Phase 2 access road alignment which itself 
would then enable retention of one or two of the trees now indicated for removal. However, 
the knock-on effects for the subsequent main development would either still be likely to 
require their removal (or removal of different trees instead), or would result in various “left-
over” areas which it would be difficult to develop efficiently if at all, and achieve the best 
overall layout. For the very limited and probably only short-term difference this would make 
to tree retention, this is not considered an appropriate justification to seek re-design.

In conclusion, the losses under the road scheme as proposed would not, in themselves, 
have a greatly significant impact on the landscape character of the wider area (albeit the 
whole development will produce significant change in character), but in the context of the 
overall scheme are considered acceptable.

The tree report includes proposals for temporary tree protection measures during 
construction of the road and associated features, and these should be secured through 
suitable condition in the event that planning permission is granted, as noted below.

Whilst the reserved matters application form at Section 4 indicates that approval is now 
sought for landscaping (in addition to other reserved matters), the submitted landscape 
strategy plan (Liz Lake Associates Drg. No. 1965 A2 01 Rev A) is just that – 
strategic/broadly indicative – and does not contain sufficient detail to consider or approve as 
a fully comprehensive, final landscaping scheme at this stage. However, in strategic terms 
the proposed landscaping structure appears appropriate as an in-principle basis for more 
detailed proposals, and demonstrates the spatial opportunities and design intent to 
accommodate landscape and habitat mitigation and enhancement measures.

Page 110



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

A detailed landscaping scheme would be difficult to produce in full at this stage, until layouts 
for the immediately adjacent main development areas are drawn up, as landscaping 
treatment will need to reflect and respond to how the development areas, main access road 
and open spaces inter-relate.

In summary, I have no objection to this application, but would request that conditions are 
imposed in the event that reserved matters approval is granted:

Environmental Health

 Our comments relate solely to the construction phase of the road and no wider 
development.  

 The proposed development is near to existing properties so care needs to be taken 
during the construction phase to ensure these activities do not cause unreasonably 
disruption to the neighbour’s enjoyment of their properties.

 If consent is granted the following conditions are recommended:
o Hours of construction
o Construction method Statement
o Unexpected contamination. 
o Testing of imported material

Third Parties

 This is an objection to the road infrastructure to the planning application in its present 
form. As I understand after speaking with a planning assistant the access road to the 
site is directly off the dual carriageway leading from Draycott to the A50. I contest the 
adequate provision of a footpath from the site leading to Blythe Bridge. When the site 
was for industrial use the footfall would be minimal but the change to residential will 
produce a possible high foot fall of children walking to school in Blythe Bridge and also 
to any other local social amenities. Adults also wishing to walk to the local 
shops/amenities will have difficulty crossing the dual carriageway. This can be 
considered a form of discrimination against pedestrians. The development should not 
begin until the pedestrian provision has been adequately resolved. Without adequate 
pedestrian provision the residents will be "marooned". 

 The planning application SMD/2018/0443 related to application SMD/2011/0304 for 
Premium Employment development adjacent to the A50.  This premium employment 
development would mean that access to this site would be gained through the agreed 
housing development already approved in in September 2017.  This has several 
important implications regarding road safety and traffic congestion on the A50 and the 
adjoining side roads.  

 The A521 is already severely congested at peak times, and although the traffic report 
commissioned by the applicant states that the impact on the A50/A521 roundabout 
would be negligible, the report clearly states that ‘The A50/A521 roundabout is 
approaching capacity in all scenarios, however the impact of the development on the 
operation of the junction is negligible’.  Given that the roundabout has already been 
noted to be already approaching capacity, additional development of the adjoining 
land would increase traffic congestion and increase risk to pedestrians and other road 
users.

Page 111



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 The previous planning application was for B1 Premium Employment use.  This would 

mean that the development would be used for offices, research and development of 
products and processes, light industry appropriate in a residential area.  Given that the 
applicant has been unable to secure any interest in the use of this land for B1 use over 
the last 6 plus years, it is highly unlikely that any future B1 Premium Employment uses 
will be achieved.  Could I also query why there doesn’t appear to be a Transport 
Assessment undertaken that includes the impact of the approved 118 homes 
alongside this planning application?   

 It is also important to note that the access to the Phase 2 Premium Employment 
development site will be directly through a new housing development of 118 new 
homes and the access road will be within close proximity to the main housing area, 
containing predominantly lower priced affordable housing.

 I firmly believe that any development of additional land around the A50/A521 area 
would seriously jeopardise the quality of life of local residents and increase the risk of 
road traffic accidents.

7. OFFICER COMMENT 

Main Issues

7.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are the principle of 
development, highway safety and traffic generation, contaminated land, air quality, noise 
impact, landscape impact, hedge and tree matters, ecology, amenity, drainage and flooding.

Principle of Development

Adopted Core Strategy

7.2 Under the provisions of section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 planning applications and appeals must be determined “in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise". The site is allocated as a Regional 
Investment Site under Policy SS8 of the Core Strategy. The Policy strictly controls the use 
of the site to B1 (Office and Light Industrial Uses), and where appropriate, B2 (General 
Industry). The application is a reserved matters application for an access road submitted 
pursuant to an extant outline consent for employment use. As such it is in accordance with 
the adopted Core Strategy policy and does not present an opportunity to re-consider the 
suitability in principle of the site for employment use. 

Emerging Policy 

7.3 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Submission Version (February 2018) allocates 
approximately 300 homes within a wider, 48.5 hectare mixed use development on the site. 
This allocation is sought in conjunction with Policies H2 and DSR1, with the site referred to 
as ‘Blythe Vale’ or ‘Blythe Bridge Regional Investment Site’. 

7.4 Policy DSR1 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan submission version refers to 
Blythe Vale and states:

Land of approximately 48.5ha is allocated for mixed-use including 
employment, residential development of approximately 300 houses and supporting 
infrastructure. This residential development should be located to the north of the site.
Development will be subject to compliance with other relevant Local Plan policies and

Page 112



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 A comprehensive masterplan;
 Affordable housing in accordance with policy H3;
 A Transport Assessment;
 A Travel Plan;
 A landscaping scheme and mitigation measures identified in the Council's 

Landscape, Local Green Space and Heritage Impact Study;
 Details of surface water discharge;
 A site specific Flood Risk Assessment and early engagement with the Local Lead 

Flood Authority;
 Ecological survey and management plan having regard to the findings of the 

Council's Local Wildlife Assessment 2017;
 Measures to improve sustainable transport routes and connectivity with Blythe 

Bridge and surrounding area having regard to the Green Infrastructure Strategy;
 Cycle path crossing the site needs to be protected and
 Contributions toward infrastructure, public open space, education services and 

other community needs as required.

7.5 Accordingly, it has been put forward and currently supported by the Council, in 
principle, as an allocation in the emerging local plan.  This is an important material 
consideration and indicates the direction of travel of local planning policy, acknowledging 
the unviable nature of the employment allocation, although, due to the level of objection one 
which can be afforded only limited weight.

7.6 Notwithstanding this, Phase 1 of the overall site development comprising 118 dwellings 
has already been approved (Application Ref. SMD/2017/0512). This approval includes the 
delivery of a junction and access road from the A521 Uttoxeter Road, which the proposed 
Phase 2 access road will extend that approved section of road. Given that Phase 1 has not 
yet begun construction, it is sought that this application submitted for the Phase 2 access 
road be approved to enable the efficient construction of the access road serving both 
Phases 1 and 2. This combined construction will ensure the most efficient means of 
development and minimise any disruption caused. In the event that following the 
examination the emerging policy is adopted, the proposals will support delivery of the 182 
houses in the second phase of residential development and the remaining employment and 
commercial uses. Even in the event that the new policy is not adopted or is modified 
following examination, the access road will still be required in  order to deliver the existing 
employment allocation and extant consent. 

7.7 With regard to the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Examination, anticipated to take 
place in the autumn, these development proposals seek to act as a catalyst for the delivery 
of an allocated site. This will therefore support the Local Planning Authority’s delivery 
position. Overall, therefore, the principle of the access road is considered to be acceptable 
and in accordance with both adopted and emerging policy.

Mineral Policy Considerations

7.8 The site falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area (MSA) for bedrock sand and 
superficial sand and gravel as defined in the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire (2015 – 
2030).  Paragraph 144, of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Policy 3 of 
the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire (2015 – 2030) aim to protect mineral resources 
from sterilisation by other forms of development.

Page 113



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
7.9 Whilst the development would sterilise an unworked reserve of minerals on the site in 
this case, the proposed development should be considered exempt from the mineral 
safeguarding requirements of Policy 3 of the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire on the 
basis that the site is allocated for development in the current Local Plan and is being 
considered for development in the emerging Plan. On this basis, the County Planning 
Authority has raised no objection.

Contaminated land, 

7.10 This is a reserved matters application and issues relating to contaminated land should 
normally be addressed at the outline stage and therefore a full contaminated land report 
has not been submitted or required. The Environmental Health Officer has been consulted 
on the application and no objection has been received subject to conditions to dealt with 
any unexpected contamination and the importation of any material. .Accordingly the 
proposal would comply with CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and Flood Risk' in respect of 
contaminated land

Noise Impact and Air Quality 

7.11 The application site lies adjacent to the A50 Stoke-on-Trent to Derby trunk road, and 
the A521 Uttoxeter Road. The application relates only to the construction of an access road 
which is not a noise sensitive receptor and on this basis, it is not considered that there are 
any noise implications of the proposal. With regard to noise generated by the operation of 
the new road, these would have been considered at the time of the outline consent and the 
application for residential development on the adjoining land. The Environmental Health 
Officer has been consulted and raised no objection on these grounds. It is considered that 
the proposal also complies CS Policy SD4 'Pollution and Flood Risk' with regard to noise 
and air quality. 

Drainage and Flooding

7.12 The applicant submitted, a detailed drainage strategy for the new road with the 
application. The Lead Local Flood Authority, (Staffordshire County Council) has considered 
the proposal and raised no object subject to conditions. Severn Trent and the Environment 
Agency have been consulted but no comments had been raised at the time of report 
preparation. Members will be updated with any comments received at their meeting. 
However, they were consulted as part of the outline and had no objection subject to 
conditions and subject to those conditions being complied with, the proposal is considered 
to accord with CS Policy SD4 ‘Pollution and Flood Risk’ and the NPPF, particularly Chapter 
10.  

Layout and Design

7.13 CS Policy SS1 ‘Development Principles’ states that the Council will expect the 
development and use of land to contribute positively to the social, economic and 
environmental improvements of the Staffordshire Moorlands and ‘development should be 
undertaken in such a way that protects and enhances the natural and historic environment 
of the District and its surroundings both now and for future generations …’.

7.14 The specific design and conservation policies of the CS also seek to promote local 
distinctiveness by means of good design and the conservation, protection and 
enhancement of historic, environmental and cultural assets along with the District’s 

Page 114



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
landscape and the setting of its settlements.  Policy DC1 sets out design criteria relating to 
new development to reinforce local distinctiveness and positively contribute to the area.  
Policy DC2 covers the protection and enhancement of the historic environment. However, 
in this case the proposal does not raise any heritage impact concerns.

7.15 With regard to the design of the access road itself is a conventional 7.3m wide 
carriageway with footways to either side with a tarmac finish. It curves through the site from 
a roughly east-west alignment at the western boundary of the site to a broadly north-south 
alignment at the southern boundary with the A50 where it is shown climbing an 
embankment / bridge abutment to provide for a future bridge crossing of the A50. The road 
contains number of other bends which will add interest to the route and slow vehicle 
speeds. A number of connection points are shown to each side to serve future development 
and would be suitable for either residential or commercial use. It is considered that the 
alignment and design of the road provides for a good quality of design for the remaining 
parcels of land to either side of it, which would be served by it, as has been achieved on 
phase1, regardless of the eventual land use. Accordingly it is considered that road complies 
with Policy DC1

Trees & Landscape

7.16 Policy DC3 sets out measures to protect and enhance the local landscape and setting 
of settlement.  In detail, Policy DC3 ‘Landscape and Settlement Setting’ states ‘The Council 
will protect and, where possible, enhance local landscape and the setting of settlements in 
the Staffordshire Moorlands by: 1. Resisting development which would harm or be 
detrimental to the character of the local and wider landscape or the setting of a settlement 
and important views into and out of the settlement as identified in the Landscape and 
Settlement Character Assessment; 2. Supporting development which respects and 
enhances local landscape character and which reinforces and enhances the setting of the 
settlement as identified in the Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment …’. 

7.17 The current application site forms part of a much larger site which has previously been 
identified and granted outline planning permission for major employment development and 
therefore the principle of the development and the associated visual impact has already 
been accepted. Whilst a development of a major piece of new road infrastructure will 
inevitably have some impact in the wider landscape, the existing landscape structure of on- 
and off-site field hedgerows, trees and substantial highway tree belts provides effective 
screening of the site from public and prominent viewpoints. Furthermore, the road, which is 
the subject of this application would itself be largely screened by the development which will 
ultimately surround it and be served off it, whether that is employment as per the existing 
consent or residential. In conjunction with the proposed new structural landscape planting, 
this would result in the new development not being of substantial adverse visual impact 
given its scale. The Arboricultral Officer has considered the application and raised no 
objection on the grounds of landscape impact. 

7.18 Turning to impacts on existing trees, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been 
submitted with the application. It concludes that:

 Several trees will need to be removed to facilitate the link road and sections of 
hedgerow

 The majority of the listed tree cover would be in the direct line of the road and as 
such their retention is not possible. The remainder would be impacted upon by the 
associated earthworks and temporary drainage conveyance.

Page 115



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 The design of the route of the link road has been ‘constraint led’ and informed by the 

arboricultural constraints such as any direct and indirect losses have been kept to a 
minimum.

 The trees and hedgerows being removed were of lower quality, seeing the vast 
majority of the higher quality trees retained.

 Mitigation for the loss of tree cover to the link road will be provided through new tree 
planting as part of the overall Green Infrastructure including suitable buffer planting 
with trees and shrubs along the route of the link road as well as the landscaping 
scheme supporting the wider residential application. It is proposed to plant a high 
number of new trees as part of the new Green Infrastructure thus offsetting losses 
and providing a future generation of trees. Species will be selected to be suited to 
the new site use and will focus on providing a wide, diverse range of choices to 
create habitat, visual amenity and to include ‘statue’ trees as to provide landscape 
features reflective of the existing character.

7.19 The report goes on to explain that landscaping will be provided both as part of the 
construction of the access road and future Phase 2 development proposals that it will serve. 
A Landscape Strategy has been provided with the application which includes native 
hedgerows along the road side, long grass and meadow embankment, and native copse 
woodland. 

7.20 The Arboricultural Officer has considered the submitted landscape strategy and 
commented that whilst the reserved matters application form at Section 4 indicates that 
approval is now sought for landscaping (in addition to other reserved matters), the 
submitted landscape strategy plan does not contain sufficient detail to consider or approve 
as a fully comprehensive, final landscaping scheme at this stage. However, in strategic 
terms the proposed landscaping structure appears appropriate as an in-principle basis for 
more detailed proposals, and demonstrates the spatial opportunities and design intent to 
accommodate landscape and habitat mitigation and enhancement measures.

7.21 The Arboricultural Officer has acknowledged that a detailed landscaping scheme would 
be difficult to produce in full at this stage, until layouts for the immediately adjacent main 
development areas are drawn up, as landscaping treatment will need to reflect and respond 
to how the development areas, main access road and open spaces inter-relate and has 
recommended a condition to secure a more detailed proposal at a later date. However, as 
the application seeks to approve landscaping at this stage, this solution is not considered to 
be appropriate. Therefore a more detailed landscaping scheme, detailing species mix etc, 
relating purely to the road, to which this application relates has been sought and will be 
provided prior to committee. Members will be provided with an update on this matter. 

7.22 Subject to this plan being provided and found to be satisfactory it is considered that 
the proposal would meet with the objectives of CS policy DC3, which seeks to resist 
development which would harm or be detrimental to the character of the local and wider 
landscape or the setting of a settlement.  It would also accord with CS Policies SS1, SS6c 
and S7 in respect of landscape and those CS policies relating to good design: H1 and DC1 
and the relevant core principles of the NPPF in respect of always seeking to secure high 
quality design and taking account of the different roles and character of different areas as 
well as protecting trees of amenity value. 

Page 116



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Ecology

7.23 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of strict 
protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only allows disturbance, or 
deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places

(a) in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative reasons of 
overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial 
consequences of primary importance for the environment, and provided that there is 

(b) no satisfactory alternative and 

(c) no detriment to the maintenance of the species population at favourable 
conservation status in their natural range

7.24 The UK has implemented the Directive in the Conservation (Natural Habitats etc.) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) which contain two layers of protection (i) a requirement on 
Local Planning Authorities to have regard to the Directive`s requirements above, and (ii) a 
licensing system administered by Natural England and supported by criminal sanctions.

7.25 The conservation and enhancement of the natural environment is a core principle of 
the NPPF where planning policies should promote the preservation, restoration and re-
creation of priority habitats and ecological networks.  In determining planning applications, 
permission should be refused if significant harm resulting from development cannot be 
avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated for.  Similarly, CS Policy 
DC1 promotes the maintenance, enhancement, restoration and re-creation of biodiversity 
and geological heritage, where appropriate, in accordance with CS Policy NE1 'Biodiversity 
and Geological Resources'.  

7.26 Amongst other matters, Policy NE1 requires that development, where it is appropriate, 
produces a net gain in biodiversity and ensures that any unavoidable impacts are 
appropriately mitigated for whilst promoting the appropriate maintenance, enhancement, 
restoration and/or re-creation of biodiversity through its proposed nature, scale, location and 
design.

7.27 Circular 6/2005 advises LPAs to give due weight to the presence of protected species 
on a development site to reflect EC requirements

7.28 The NPPF advises LPAs to conserve and enhance biodiversity: if significant harm 
resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts) or adequately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for, planning 
permission should be refused. 

7.29 Natural England`s standing advice is that, if a (conditioned) development appears to 
fail the three tests in the Habitats Directive, then LPAs should consider whether Natural 
England is likely to grant a licence: if unlikely, then the LPA should refuse permission: if likely, 
then the LPA can conclude that no impediment to planning permission arises under the 
Directive and Regulations.

7.30 In this case the application is supported by a Phase I Ecological Survey which 
concludes that 

Page 117



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
 Bat activity survey that common and widespread bat species are active throughout the 

wider survey area, with activity mostly recorded towards the south east of the survey 
area. 

 The species assemblage using the site is not considered to be significant and the site 
itself is not considered to provide a significant proportion of the local 
foraging/commuting resource for the local population of bats. 

 The primary habitat which will be lost is grazed semi-improved grassland. The loss of 
the semi-improved grassland will result in the loss of some habitat utilised by bats for 
commuting and foraging as it is considered that these habitats will form part of a 
network of suitable foraging areas in the wider landscape particularly to off-site 
habitats in the immediate surroundings. However, the loss of these habitats following 
the implementation of the recommended mitigation (including appropriate lighting, 
enhancement of retained habitats and the provision of additional roosting 
opportunities) is considered unlikely to have a significant negative impact upon the 
favourable conservation status of local bat populations. 

 The grassland is likely to provide foraging opportunities for a range of birds in the local 
area, however it is not considered ground nesting birds will occupy the site given the 
grazing management currently in operation. 

 The site offered many opportunities nesting birds within the scrub and established, 
outgrown hedgerows. Where possible these features should be retained. In the event 
that any removal of woody vegetation (including trees and scrub) is necessary, it is 
recommended that this takes place outside of the bird breeding season (March to 
August inclusive) to minimise the risk of disturbance to breeding birds. If this is not 
possible, such vegetation should be checked prior to removal by a suitably 
experienced ecologist. 

 The open, short-sward grassland in some of the field compartments is likely to provide 
a foraging resource for the local badger population however, given the isolated nature 
of the site, being bound by main roads, it is considered the land is not of high value for 
badgers and the loss of grassland will not be significant. 

 No reptiles were recorded during the presence/absence surveys completed in 2015. 
As a result, reptiles are not considered to be a constraint to the development. 

 The requirement for GCN surveys was identified. Five on-site ponds and eight off-site 
ponds were located within 500m of the site boundary, four of which are isolated from 
the site by major roads. 

7.31 The Great Crested Newt report concludes:

 The clearance of terrestrial habitats that could be used as resting/hibernation habitat 
by GCNs will require a Natural England European Protected Species (EPS) licence to 
be secured for the proposals to proceed. A detailed mitigation strategy (Method 
Statement) will be produced in support of the license application. The mitigation 
approach will be to avoid killing or injuring GCNs and to minimise the impact on the 
GCN population from the proposed loss of habitat in order to maintain their 
‘Favourable Conservation Status’ in their natural range. 

 The emphasis of mitigation will be to capture any newts present within the 
development zone, and relocate them to a receptor area that has been suitably 
enhanced to ensure that it can support the population. A receptor site which will be 
enhanced to provide higher quality terrestrial habitats for GCN was previously 
identified on site and approved under planning application SMD/2017/0512, however 
due to a change in the proposals, this has been realigned to accommodate changes in 

Page 118



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
the road layout. Prior to the commencement of works within 250m of the nearest 
breeding pond, the receptor site for GCN will be established, based close to the 
existing breeding ponds which lie within the applicants control (refer to Figure 2). This 
area will also retain connectivity to offsite habitats. The receptor site will provide 
enhanced terrestrial habitat more favourable to the terrestrial phase of the GCN 
lifecycle than that currently present. Management within these areas will be relaxed to 
improve the botanical diversity and structure for amphibians. Further enhancements 
will include several hibernacula and log piles.

 
7.32 The Council’s ecologist has been consulted on the report and comments were awaited 
at the time of report preparation and a further update will be provided to Members on this 
issue. 

Amenity

7.33 The only neighbouring properties which could be affected by the proposal are those in 
Woodlands Lane. The nearest neighbouring properties are over 40m from the carriageway at 
the closest point and very substantial distances are maintained between the road and 
adjoining neighbours for most of its length. It is considered that the main amenity impacts 
associated with the road are noise and light pollution. However, given the distances identified 
above and that the future development will largely screen existing properties from the road, it 
is not considered that this would be sufficiently detrimental to neighbouring amenity to 
warrant a refusal. This conclusion is reached also having regard to the allocation and outline 
consent which have established the principle of development. The construction of the road 
itself has the potential to cause amenity impacts. This has been considered by the 
Environmental Health Officer who has recommended conditions including restricting working 
hours and a construction management plan.  It is therefore concluded that the proposed 
development would be acceptable in amenity terms and would comply with the requirements 
of Policy DC.1 of the Core Strategy. 

Archaeology

7.31 The County Archaeologist has commented in respect of previous applications that 
there is a moderate potential for the presence of unknown below ground archaeological 
remains surviving within this landscape.  She notes the presence of the Roman road to the 
north of the site with a moderate potential for Roman activity in the area.  It should also be 
noted that the site lies on rising land overlooking the River Blythe with minor valleys to the 
north west and north east; such sites elsewhere in the county have been associated with 
prehistoric activity. Archaeological matters would normally be considered at the outline stage 
and no comments have been received in respect of this application at the time of report 
preparation. An update on this issue will be provided to Members if any comments are 
received. 

Highway Safety and Traffic Generation.

7.34 The Highways Technical Note submitted with the application concludes that: 

 The highway infrastructure for Phase 2 has been designed in accordance with the 
primary road design for Phase 1. The road will be 7.3m in width with 2m footways on 
both sides.

Page 119



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
  Two development scenarios have been assessed, comprising either, up to 182 

residential dwellings or 45,000sqm employment. Travel demand has been calculated 
for both development scenarios based on the previously approved planning 
applications.

 Junction modelling has identified that the approved site access junction can 
accommodate both Phase 2 development scenarios. The A50/A521 roundabout can 
sufficiently accommodate the potential residential development.

 The proposed infrastructure is fit for the purpose of providing access to the future 
development of Blythe Bridge Phase 2. It is designed in accordance with the 
consented Phase 1 internal arrangement and junction modelling has shown the site 
access junction to be sufficient to accommodate Phase 2.

7.35 Whilst it is acknowledged that the Applicant’s Technical Note considers both scenarios 
of either employment development as per the outline approval or residential as per the 
emerging local plan allocation, given that this is a reserved matters application submitted 
pursuant to an outline application for employment development it should be considered on 
that basis. 

7.36 The County Highway Engineer has examined the application and commented that 
access to the site off A521 has previously been approved under SMD/2017/0521. The 
application is solely for construction of an access road. There are no proposals for the actual 
development site which this road will serve. This response is based on this premise and no 
approval of any future development should be construed. Separate application will be 
required and transport assessment considered at that time. The Transport Assessment 
appended to the Technical Note was altered and extended during discussions under 
application SMD/2017/0512. The TA appended is not the final version. It still contains, among 
other issues, the exceptionally low estimated trips to Blythe Bridge. In recommending 
conditional approval of this application, SCC Highways are not accepting the exceptionally 
low figures. The Technical Note does refer to an autotracking drawing, but the drawing at 
appendix C is an infrastructure drawing which does not show autotracking. Construction 
details will be considered in detail under S7 Technical Approval process

7.37 Subject to the recommended conditions therefore it is considered that the proposal 
complies with policies T1 and T2 of the Core Strategy in respect of highway safety, traffic 
generation, parking and sustainable transport. 

Section 106 Contributions

7.38 The Parish Council have queried what Section 106 contributions can be sought from 
this development. This is a reserved matters application relating only to the construction of an 
access road. Section 106 contributions relate to the principle of development and must 
therefore be sought at the outline rather than the reserved matters stage. Appropriate 
contributions were secured from the recent full approval for the housing site and further 
contributions would be negotiated as part of any future application for further residential 
development on this site. 

Page 120



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
Other matters

7.39 A number of other issues have been raised by the Parish Council. These can be 
addressed as follows:

 Infrastructure - pressure on services/congestion increases/highways – This application 
is solely for an access road and associated infrastructure and works, in line with the 
allocation of the site for development, and outline planning permission Ref. 
11/00405/REM1MJ, which this Reserved Matters application is pursuant to. The 
covering letter and supporting note submitted with the application provide further detail 
and planning balance. 

 Pedestrian access from the site – Pedestrian access will be provided along the 
footways of the access road, and could potentially link to the nearby public footpath.

 Width of the access road - The specifications of the proposed access road, including 
its 7.3m width, are compliant with application Ref. 11/00405/REM1MJ, which this 
Reserved Matters application is pursuant to. This is stated in the Covering Letter 
provided with the application.

 Provision for the public footpath / Public footpath which crosses the land – This public 
footpath is located on land adjacent to the application site, to the northeast, outside of 
the site boundary.

7.40 The Council’s Open Spaces Officer has expressed concerns about the proximity of the 
on site LEAP to the existing ponds. In particular she is concerned about encouraging children 
to an area with a potential high risk. 

7.41 Given that this application is for an access road pursuant to an employment consent it 
was not considered that the drawings should be showing the LEAP at this stage, as that 
would be dependent on a future consent being granted for residential development in 
accordance with the emerging plan. The landscaping should reflect the current permission for 
employment use. If a residential application is subsequently approved obviously it would be 
subject to a full landscaping scheme of its own at that time. The developer has taken on 
board these comments, and in response submitted an updated Landscape Strategy, to 
replace the previously submitted version.

8. CONCLUSIONS & PLANNING BALANCE

8.1 Under the provisions of section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 planning applications and appeals must be determined “in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise". The site is allocated as a Regional 
Investment Site under Policy SS8 of the Core Strategy. The Policy strictly controls the use of 
the site to B1 (Office and Light Industrial Uses), and where appropriate, B2 (General Industry). 
The application is  a reserved matters application for an access road submitted pursuant to 
an extant outline consent for employment use. As such it is in accordance with the adopted 
Core Strategy policy and does not present an opportunity to re-consider the suitability in 
principle of the site for employment use. 

8.2 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Submission Version (February 2018) allocates 
approximately 300 homes within a wider, 48.5 hectare mixed use development on the site. 
This allocation is sought in conjunction with Policies H2 and DSR1, with the site referred to as 

Page 121



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
‘Blythe Vale’ or ‘Blythe Bridge Regional Investment Site’. Accordingly, it has been put forward 
and currently supported by the Council, in principle, as an allocation in the emerging local 
plan.  This is an important material consideration, although, due to the level of objection one 
which can be afforded only limited weight.

8.3 Notwithstanding this Phase 1 of the overall site development comprising 118 dwellings 
has already been approved (Application Ref. SMD/2017/0512). This approval includes the 
delivery of a junction and access road from the A521 Uttoxeter Road, which the proposed 
Phase 2 access road will extend that approved section of road. 

8.4 In the event that following the examination the emerging policy is adopted, the proposals 
will support delivery of the 182 houses in the second phase of residential development and 
the remaining employment and commercial uses. Even in the event that the new policy is not 
adopted or is modified following examination the access road will still be required in  order to 
deliver the existing employment allocation and extant consent. Overall, therefore, the principle 
of the access road is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with both adopted and 
emerging policy.

8.5 It is not considered that this reserved matters application raises any significant issues 
of contaminated land, air quality and noise. The LLFA has confirmed that it is satisfied with 
the drainage strategy. Whilst no comments have been received from the Environment 
Agency and Severn Trent United Utilities they were consulted at the outline stage and 
subject to compliance with the conditions recommended by them at the time it is not 
considered that any other drainage concerns are raised. Given the distance between the 
road and the nearest properties, and the fact that the principle has been established by the 
outline and allocation coupled with the fact that screening will be provided by future 
development it is considered that an adequate standard of residential amenity is 
maintained. 

8.6 Comments are awaited from relevant consultees with regard to trees, hedgerows, 
landscaping proposals and ecology and Members will be updated accordingly. Given the 
relatively good level of screening to the site and the existing consent for employment 
development no landscape concerns are raised. The design of the road is considered to be 
acceptable and will comply with policies SS1, H1 and DC1 of the Core Strategy as well as 
NPPF advice in terms of design. The County Highways Officer also has no objection 
subject to conditions. 

8.7 Overall, therefore the proposal complies with all relevant development plan policies, 
there are no significant and demonstrable adverse impacts to outweigh the substantial 
benefits arising from residential development and, subject to the receipt of the outstanding 
comments and confirmation of no objections from the consultees referred to above the 
application is recommended for approval. 

9. RECOMMENDATION

A. APPROVE subject to the following conditions:

1. The Development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance 
with the following Approved Plans: TBC
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt

Page 122



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
2. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried 

out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)/Drainage 
Strategy and the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 

 Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the new access 
road to a maximum of 5l/s and not increase the risk of flooding off-
site. 

 Provision of an appropriate calculated volume of attenuation flood 
storage on the site to a 100 year + 30% standard. This is to be 
provided within the temporary conveyance ditches. 

 Demonstration within the FRA that the improvement/protection and 
maintenance of existing flood defences/infrastructure will be 
provided. 

 Confirmation of adequate treatment trains within the site. 
 The culverting of the ordinary watercourse through the site and any 

alterations to existing watercourses will be subject to a Land 
Drainage Consent application

Reason: To ensure property drainage of the site and to minimise the risk of 
flooding.

3. Before the proposed development is brought into use, details shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority indicating 
autotracking for large HCV (size of vehicle likely to access the commercial site). 
Thereaftter the development shall be carried out in accordnace with these 
details. 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety.

4. No trees, shrubs or hedgerows shall be removed other than those whose 
removal is directly required to accommodate the approved development, unless 
otherwise approved by the LPA. There shall be no removal of any trees, shrubs 
or hedgerows during the bird nesting season (nominally March to August 
inclusive), unless otherwise agreed by the LPA and in this case only following 
careful inspection by a competent person to establish that such trees, shrubs or 
hedgerow are not in active use by nesting wild birds.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity

5. Any mature tree to be removed or to have substantial crown pruning operations 
carried out shall first be carefully inspected for the potential to provide bat 
roosting opportunities. Any tree which has such potential (which could include 
cavities, splits, decay pockets, hollow stems or branches, areas of loose bark, 
dense ivy cover or dense epicormic shoots) shall be subject to a further detailed 
and if necessary climbing inspection by a licensed bat worker immediately prior 
to felling or pruning, and all felling or pruning of such trees shall take place in 
the presence of the bat worker who can then immediately advise on appropriate 
measures if bats are encountered during dismantling, felling or pruning 
operations.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity

6. Before the commencement of development (including any site clearance, site 
stripping, site establishment, accommodation or access works) temporary 
protective fencing and advisory notices for the protection of the existing trees to 
be retained shall be erected in accordance with guidance in British Standard 

Page 123



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction – 
Recommendations, and as set out in the FPCR Arboricultural Assessment 
report dated June 2018 submitted in support of the application, and  shall be 
retained in position for the duration of the period that development takes place, 
unless otherwise agreed by the LPA. Within the fenced areas there shall be no 
excavation, changes in ground levels, installation of underground services, 
provision of hard surfacing, passage of vehicles, storage of materials, 
equipment or site huts, tipping of chemicals, waste or cement, or lighting of 
fires unless otherwise agreed by the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity

7. Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority, all noisy activities shall be restricted to the following times of 
operations. 

 08:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);
 08:00 - 13:00 hours (Saturday) 
 No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

In this instance a noisy activity is defined as any activity (for instance, but not 
restricted to, building construction/demolition operations, refurbishing and 
landscaping) which generates noise that is audible at the site boundary.   
Reason: To avoid the risk of disturbance to neighbouring dwellings from noise 
during unsocial hours.

8. The development, including demolition hereby permitted shall take place until a 
Construction and Environmental Method Statement has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Method 
statement shall include the following details:-
I. A scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from demolition/construction 

activities on the site.  The scheme shall include details of all dust 
suppression measures and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising 
from the development.  

II. Details of wheel washing facilities. All demolition/construction vehicles shall 
have their wheels cleaned before leaving the site;

III. a scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from the 
demolition/construction works;

IV. the responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be contacted in 
the event of complaint;

Once approved, all relevant activities on the site should be carried out in 
accordance with Construction and Environmental Method Statement throughout 
the course of the development. Any alteration to this Plan shall be approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any deviation from it. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area from dust

9. In the event that contamination, including surface coal measures, is found at 
any time when carrying out the approved development it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development shall not 
commence further until an initial investigation and risk assessment has been 
completed in accordance with a scheme to be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the 
site.  If the initial site risk assessment indicates that potential risks exists to any 
identified receptors, development shall not commence until a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use 

Page 124



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property, 
and the natural and historical environment has been prepared, and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme and prior to bringing the 
development into first use, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 
necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks.

10. No top soil is to be imported to the site until it has been tested for contamination 
and assessed for its suitability for the proposed development; a suitable 
methodology for testing this material shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the soils being imported onto site. The 
methodology shall  include the sampling frequency, testing schedules, criteria 
against which the analytical results will be assessed (as determined by the risk 
assessment) and source material information. The analysis shall then be carried 
out and validatory evidence submitted to and approved in writing to by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 
necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning obligations 
or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation with 
the Chairman of the [Planning Applications Committee], provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Page 125



«APPLICATION_NUMBER»

Page 126



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0389

Location Bluebell Barn, Church Bank, Oakamoor
Proposal Proposed extension to form ground floor bedroom and wet 

room for a disabled person
Applicant Mr & Mrs Arnold
Agent Mr M Sales
Parish/Ward Oakamoor / Churnet Date registered: 04/07/2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mrs Laura Barnes 
laura.barnes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

REFERRAL

The application has been called in by Councillor Lucas so that the committee can 
consider the applicant’s personal circumstances

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS
   
1.1 The application relates to a barn which has been converted to residential 
development and has previously been extended to the side, to provide a kitchen. 
The application site is located within the Oakamoor Conservation Area but it outside 
the development boundary.

1.2 To the north the application site adjoins agricultural land associated with the 
barn which is bound by a river, beyond which is Churnet View Road. To the west the 
application site is bound by Holy Trinity Church which is a Grade II listed building. To 
the south the application site is bound by Church Bank which is the road leading into 
Oakamoor. To the east is a pair of semi-detached dwellings one of which is also 
Grade II listed. 

2 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL
  
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for a single storey extension to the 
rear of the dwelling, which is a barn conversion. The single storey extension is 
proposed to accommodate a ground floor bedroom and wet room. 

2.2 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, comments 
made by residents and any other responses of consultees can be found on the 
Council’s website at:-

Page 127

Agenda Item 11

mailto:laura.barnes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=124076 

3 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (APPLICATION SITE AND SURROUNDING 
AREA)

SMD/2005/1078 Change of use of agricultural building to dwelling WITHDRAWN 
06/12/2005

SMD/2006/0030 Conversion of barn to dwelling REFUSED 11/04/2006

SMD/2006/0906 Conversion of barn to dwelling REFUSED 03/08/2006

SMD/2007/0220 Conversion of agricultural barn to dwellings APPROVED 
16/03/2007

SMD/2008/1198 Relocation of wooden fodder / implement storage building used in 
conjunction with horses

SMD/2010/0092 Alteration to existing agricultural building (retrospective) 
APPROVED 30/06/2010

4 PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy Development Plan Document (Adopted 
March 2014)

4.1 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC2 The Historic Environment
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport

SPD – Space About Dwellings
SPD – Design Principles for Development

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.2 The following NPPF sections are relevant;

Paragraphs 1-14
Section 12 & 16

Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan

National Policy Guidance

Page 128

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124076
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124076


4.3 Paragraph 48 of the newly adopted NPPF states that:

“…decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to:
 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 

preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 

less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be 
given); and

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

Local Plan process

4.4 The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for 
representations in February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the Local 
Plan was “sound”. Formal representations were then invited from residents, 
businesses and other stakeholders to provide them with the opportunity to support or 
challenge the soundness or legal compliance of the Local Plan. This stage in the 
process followed three previous public consultations since 2015 which had informed 
the preparation of the Local Plan alongside a comprehensive evidence base. 

4.5 In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan 
Submission Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination in 
public will now be held this Autumn in order to determine whether the Local Plan is 
sound and legally compliant. Subject to the findings of the appointed inspector, the 
Local Plan is expected to be adopted in the Spring of 2019. At his point, it will 
supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part of the statutory development 
plan for the District.  

4.6 In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies 
contained in the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria set out 
in Paragraph 48 of the NPPF is as follows:

 The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage of 
preparation as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for examination

 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies – this 
varies depending on the policy in question. The Officer Comments section of 
this report identifies the level of outstanding objections to each policy and 
recommends the amount of weight to be given to them at this stage in the 
process

 The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the Council 
has submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all policies are 
deemed to be consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies

4.7 The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:

Page 129



 SS1 - Development Principles
 SS1a - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
 SS2 - Settlement Hierarchy
 SS10 -  Other Rural Areas Strategy
 DC1 - Design Considerations
 T1 - Development and Sustainable Transport

5 CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site Notice Expires: 07/09/2018

Neighbour Notification: Expires 13/09/2018 

Press Notice: Cheadle & Tean Times (22/08/2018)

5.1 A Site notice has been displayed, a notice advertised in the local newspaper 
(Cheadle & Tean Times, 22/08/2018) and letters sent to neighbours. 

Neighbour comments

5.2 No objections have been received by members of the public in relation to this 
application. Three members of the public have written in support of this application 
stating the following:

 Design and visual impairment - The proposed development will not be seen 
from the road and has been sympathetically designed, and essentially effects 
no one. 

 Living conditions of local people - It will substantially improve the living 
conditions of one local person, Mr Arnold, who is in a Nursing Home following 
a stroke and wishes to return home. I don’t believe it will affect the living 
conditions of any other local people.

 Loss of privacy to others, light pollution, traffic issues, landscape and ecology 
- I don’t consider there to be any impact on these issues.

 Effect on listed buildings and Conservation Area - The design will have little or 
no effect on any nearby listed buildings or the Conservation Area,

 Disabled Access - The whole point of the application is to provide disabled 
access and facilities for a long standing local resident and to allow him to 
return home from a nursing home after having a severe stroke. 

 I support the application
 This proposed extension will be to enable my dad to be cared for in his own 

home by his family instead of being in a care home environment.  The 
extension will be at the rear of the property and not visible to local residents. 
The extension will also be sympathetically built in keeping with the 
surrounding properties preserving the character of the village. I hope that 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council have some compassion to take into 

Page 130



account the genuine reason for this proposed extension and allow permission 
for the extension to be granted.  

 I fully support the planning proposal. The extension is at the rear of the 
property and in keeping with the main building but more importantly the 
reason the extension needs to be built is to get Mr Arnold back to the area he 
has lived in for years and back with his family so they can give him all the care 
and attention Mr Arnold deserves  

Consultee Responses

Consultee Comment Officer 
Response

Severn Trent 
Water

No objections No further 
action 
required

Oakamoor 
Parish 
Council

Oakamoor Parish Council have reviewed the 
application in detail, and make the following 
comments:

 Design & Construction 
o The proposed extension is small in size 

and single storey - the applicants and 
their agent appear to have prepared a 
minimally sized scheme to meet their 
needs

o The proposals to build the walls in 
coursed stone, the roof in pitched plain 
blue black tiles and the door & windows 
in timber, are congruous with the 
existing building, and should not create 
the appearance of an extension

 Visual Amenity 
o The proposed extension will not be 

obtrusive, and, as a consequence of its 
siting, will not be easily seen from public 
vantage points, ie Churnet View Road 
and the B5417

o We do not foresee any negative effects 
on neighbours visual amenity

 Conservation Area 
o Whilst the property lies within the 

Conservation Area,  we do not see any 
adverse effect of the development on 
the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area or its heritage 
assets

Noted

Page 131



We have been made aware of substantial support 
from parishioners for this application. We have not 
been made aware of any objections.

In conclusion, Oakamoor Parish Council support this 
application without reservation.

Conservation 
Liaison 
Panel

REFUSE. Design guidance requires that buildings are 
normally converted without extension. This building 
has already had an extension which is its limit. A 
further extension harms the character of the original 
building. The location and design is inappropriate.

Impact upon 
Conservation 
Area to be 
weighed in 
the planning 
balance

Conservation 
Officer

The property is a converted stone/brick field barn 
located in the Oakamoor Conservation Area. The 
building is prominent in the area, visible from Church 
Bank and when viewed from Churnet View Road it is 
read as part of a cluster of buildings on the hillside 
next to the Listed former police station and Holy 
Trinity Church. The barn is a simple, rectangular 
stable with hay store above and the conversion 
allowed the construction of an extension on the 
eastern gable following its linear form. The building 
contributes to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and forms part of the setting of 
nearby Listed Buildings. 

The Council’s adopted guidance on the conversion of 
rural buildings requires conversions to work within the 
shell of the existing building and extensions 
discouraged. This property has already received a 
sizeable extension but it has allowed the agricultural 
character of the building to be retained and it 
compliments the form and proportions of the original 
barn.

The application seeks a further extension to the barn 
which will be large in relation to the size and 
proportions of the original barn and introduce a side 
extension which will disrupt the linear form. The size 
of the extension will be more than half of the footprint 
of the original barn and of a width that is greater than 
the original gable. It will dominate the property, will 
conceal historic stone walling and breach the eaves. 
The design, proportion and siting fail to relate to the 
agricultural character of the building and will be 
visually harmful. The extension will be visible from 
Church Bank.

The application has been reported to Conservation 
Liaison Panel who objected to the scheme.

Impact upon 
Conservation 
Area and 
Listed 
Buildings to 
be weighed 
in the 
planning 
balance

Page 132



Harmful to the character and appearance of the 
Oakamoor Conservation Area and setting of adjoining 
Listed Buildings (less than substantial).

6 OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Policy Context 

6.1 The Local Planning Authority is required to determine applications in 
accordance with the Development Plan, unless there are material circumstances 
which indicate otherwise and, in determining these applications, it shall have regard 
to the provisions of the Development Plan, in so far as they are material to the 
application and to any other material considerations.  

6.2 Core Strategy policies SS1 and SS1a identify that developments should 
contribute positively to social, economic and environmental improvements as well as 
establishing a presumption in favour of sustainable development, in line with the 
National Planning Policy Framework where: (1) planning applications that accord 
with policies within the Core Strategy will be approved without delay and (2) where 
there are no relevant policies or they are out of date, the Council will grant planning 
permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise considering:-

I. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole, or;

II. Specific policies in within the Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

6.3 Core Strategy Policy SS6b relates to Smaller Villages, of which Oakamoor is 
one. This policy states that provision will be made only for appropriate development 
which meets local social or economic needs of the settlement.

Main Issues

6.4 The key issues for consideration in the assessment of this application are;

- The principle of development;
- Impact of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the 

dwelling in its own right (design) and wider surrounding area/visual impact;
- Impact of the proposed development upon residential amenity;
- Impact of the proposed extension upon the character and appearance of the 

Conservation Area.

Page 133



Principle of Development

6.8 For the purposes of planning policy consideration, the application site is located 
outside the development boundary within open countryside. It should be determined in 
accordance with Policy SS6b, Smaller Villages Area Strategy. 

Design and Visual Impact (Character and Appearance)

6.9 Core Strategy policy DC1 requires all new developments to be of a high 
quality design and add value to the local area. Proposals should be designed to 
respect the site and surroundings and promote a positive sense of place. DC1 also 
requires that development should protect the amenity of the area, including 
residential amenity, in terms of satisfactory daylight, sunlight, outlook, privacy and 
soft landscaping.

6.10 The NPPF (Chapter 12) specifies that highlights the importance of good design 
and states that design quality should be considered throughout the evolution and 
assessment of individual proposals.

6.11 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance Design Principles for 
Development in the Staffordshire Moorlands – New Dwellings and Extensions to 
Dwellings, gives guidance about matters to be taken into consideration when 
assessing a proposal for good design.

6.12 The Design Guide SPD sets out that smaller buildings have fewer options for 
extension and can reach a threshold point beyond which further extension is not 
possible without destroying the original character of the building. Further, it states that 
when converting traditional buildings (such as the barn in this application), new uses 
should not normally require the construction of extensions or ancillary buildings. 
Similarly, the Design Principles for Development SPD states that conversions should be 
within the shell of the existing building, extensions will be discouraged; where essential, 
extensions should be small and unobtrusive.  The application form which accompanies 
the planning application sets out that the building materials will be natural stone and a 
Staffordshire blue slate with timber window frames, to match with the existing dwelling. 

6.13  The existing dwelling is a detached barn which already has a brick built 
extension to the side. It is a single storey building with a simple linear form and has a 
modest gable roof. The proposed extension does not respect the linear form of 
development and proposes an L-shaped arrangement with a gable structure at right 
angles to the main dwelling. 

6.14 It is not considered that this type of extension is proportionate to the original barn 
and detracts from its simple linear form. The proposed extension ridge level is higher 
than the existing eaves of the barn and its width is greater than half of the original width, 
resulting in an over dominant extension. 

6.15 Overall, it is not considered that the proposed extension is of a high quality 
design which accords with Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy. 

Page 134



Residential Amenity

6.16 Policy DC1 of the CS seeks, amongst other things, to protect residential 
amenity. Bullet point ‘f’ of para. 127 of the NPPF requires a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings to be achieved. 

6.17 The application is located within close proximity to Sunnyside and The Old 
Police House, which are a pair of semi-detached dwellings located to the east. The 
neighbouring dwellings sit at a lower elevation to the application site. At its closest, 
the barn is 17m from the neighbouring dwellings, one of which is listed. There is a 
small window serving the wetroom which faces towards the neighbouring dwellings. 
Given that the window serves a WC, it is recommended that obscure glazing is 
conditioned, should the application be approved, in order to preserve the amenity of 
neighbouring dwellings. 

6.18 Overall, it is not considered that the proposed development would cause harm 
to neighbouring amenity and accords with Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy. 

Heritage

6.19 Core Strategy Policy DC2 relates to the historic environment It seeks to 
safeguard and enhance the historic environment including Conservation Areas by 
resisting development which would be harmful to its special character.

 6.20 The Council’s Conservation Officer has commented on the application and it has 
also been considered by the Conservation Liaison Panel. The Conservation Liaison 
Panel consider that the location and design of the proposed extension is inappropriate 
and harms the original dwelling. 

6.21 The Council’s Conservation Officer has reviewed the proposals and has 
expressed concerns on a number of issues. There is concern that the proposed 
extension will harm the character of the Conservation Area and setting of the adjacent 
Listed buildings. It is also considered that it will disrupt the linear form of the building, 
being more than half the footprint of the existing barn, having a width greater than half of 
the existing gable, breaching the eaves height, dominating the property and concealing 
the historic stone wall of the original barn. 

6.22 Overall, it is considered that the proposed development does not accord with 
Policy DC1 or DC2 of the Core Strategy and causes ‘less than substantial harm’ to the 
identified heritage assets. Under the provisions of the NPPF this harm needs to be 
weighed in the planning balance against any public benefits of the scheme. In this case 
the benefits of the scheme will be entirely private to the applicant and therefore the harm 
cannot be outweighed by the benefits and planning permission should not be granted. 

Other Matters

6.23 This application is accompanied by documents relating to the applicant’s 
medical health condition which means they are currently unable to live in the 
dwelling. There is no current advice in the NPPF relating to personal circumstances. 
The most recent government guidance can be found in the former PPS1:

Page 135



Unless otherwise specified, a planning permission runs with the land. 
Exceptionally, however, the personal circumstances of an occupier, personal 
hardship, or the difficulties of businesses which are of value to the welfare of the 
local community, may be material to the consideration of a planning application. 
In such circumstances, a permission may be made subject to a condition that it is 
personal to the applicant. Such arguments will seldom outweigh the more general 
planning considerations, however.

6.24 Officers note that unfortunately the circumstances which the applicant finds 
themselves in, living in a nursing home or sheltered accommodation and not being 
able to move back home until adaptations have been made to accommodate their 
needs, are not completely uncommon amongst the elderly population. Therefore it is 
not considered to be a particularly exceptional case which is unique to this individual. 
Although the personal circumstances of the applicant are a material consideration, 
these must be weighed against the NPPF policy in respect of heritage assets in the 
planning balance. As noted above the less than substantial harm must be balanced 
against public benefits of the scheme and the applicants personal circumstances are 
purely private. The benefit to the applicant would be limited to the length of their 
occupation of the property whereas the harm to the heritage assets and the 
character and appearance of the building would be permanent. 

Conclusion and Planning Balance 

6.25 The application seeks planning permission for the extension of an existing 
barn conversion to provide ground floor bedroom and wetroom facilities for a 
disabled occupant. 

6.26 The proposal would result in harm to the original character of the building and 
harm to the Conservation Area in which the building is located. These issues are 
considered to cause harm to the wider public enjoyment of the Conservation Area 
and amount to ‘less than substantial harm’ which is referred to in the NPPF. This 
must be balanced against the public benefits of the proposal.

6.27 The applicant’s personal circumstances are a material planning consideration 
which must be weighed in the planning balance. Whilst sympathy is given to the 
applicant’s current situation, it is not considered that these personal circumstances 
are unique or exceptional, as unfortunately there are many people no longer able to 
live in their own home due to failing health and debilitating medical conditions. 
Therefore, whilst consideration of this circumstance has been made, it is not 
considered sufficient to outweigh the other material considerations in the planning 
balance. 

6.28 It is not considered that the needs of the special medical needs of the individual 
outweigh the harm caused to the Conservation Area and setting of Listed Buildings 
in this case, as such the application is recommended for refusal.

Page 136



7 OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

A. That Full Planning Permission is REFUSED for the following reasons:

1. The development is harmful to the Conservation Area and setting of 
nearby Listed Buildings. The design is inappropriate and harmful to 
the original character of the dwelling because it detracts from the 
simple linear form, is out of proportion with the property and 
conceals the historic stone wall. This amounts to less than 
substantial harm which is not outweighed by the public benefits of 
the scheme. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies DC1 and 
DC2 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy and NPPF policy. 

Page 137



Page 138



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0110 

Location West Winds, Cheddleton Road, Leek
Proposal Outline application for the change of use of rear garden areas to 

2no. residential building plots with new access 
Applicant Mr and Mrs Beardmore
Agent RLM Associates
Parish/ward Leek / Leek East Date registered 16th Feb 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Arne Swithenbank 
tel: 01538 395578 or e-mail arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL

The application is referred to Committee due to the amount of local interest and 
because an SMDC employee lives adjacent.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site is within the town development boundary and comprises the 
combined rear gardens of two existing detached dwellings, West Winds 
and Blue Ridge, which front on to a private lane parallel to Cheddleton 
Road.  The rear gardens climb with a pronounced slope for a distance of 
c.100m east of the existing dwellings.  The combined width of the two 
gardens forming the plot is between 25m and 30m.  Two detached 
dwellings at the head of the cul de sac known as Birchall Park Avenue 
border the site on its south side.  A detached dwelling known as Foxdale 
borders the plot to its north side (eastern end) along with the rear garden 
of Boundary House (western end).  Rural field land outside of the town 
development boundary borders the garden edges to the east. 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 This is an application for outline planning consent. As first submitted the 
proposal was for three units along with details of access with all other matters 

Page 139

Agenda Item 12

mailto:arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


 

reserved.  Following initial consultation and officer assessment this has been 
amended to a proposal, again in outline, for two units along with details of 
access with all other matters reserved.  

3.2 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, comments made 
by residents and the responses of consultees can be found on the Council’s 
website at:-

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSea
rchServlet?PKID=121060 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 None

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The development plan comprises the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document (26th March 2014) and 
supporting evidence documents. 

Core Strategy Development Plan (Adopted 26th March 2014),  
SS1 Development Principles
SS1a Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SS5a Leek Area Strategy 
H1 New Housing Development
DC1 Design Considerations
DC2 Historic Environment
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting

Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance (SPD/G):
 Space About Dwellings SPG
 Design Principles SPG 

Core Strategy Supporting Evidence Documents:
 Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2008) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2018
Paragraphs 1 – 14
Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 Making effective use of land 
Section 12 Achieving Well designed places  

5.2 Emerging policies of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan submission 
version (February 2018) considered relevant to this application:
SS1 Development Principles
SS1a Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 

Page 140

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=121060
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=121060


 

SS5 Leek Area Strategy
H1 New Housing Development 
DC1 Design Considerations
DC2 The Historic Environment
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 
T1 Sustainable Transport

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

6.1 Site notice posted 20th March 2018 – expired 10th April 2018
6.2 Press advertisement published 1st March 2018 – expired 22nd March 2018 
6.3 Neighbours notified 21st February 2018 – expired 14th March 2018
6.4 New neighbour consultation 17th July 2018 – expired 7th August 2018

Public Comments 
Objections have been received from the residents of eight adjacent / 
neighbouring households.  Objections were generally sustained in response to a  
second consultation when the plans were amended to propose two dwellings 
rather than three.  

A primary concern of most or all of the respondents would be the development’s 
reliance on the use of the private access road in order to connect with the public 
road.  The private lane is considered not to have the capacity in terms of width 
and surface structure to support the additional development.  Several 
respondents assert that the applicants do not have the legal rights to use the 
private lane for additional residences.  Ownership of the lane is divided into 
sections with each of the existing houses owning the section in front of them.  All 
the properties have the right to use the whole lane for their access.  

Objectors variously refer also to:
- Narrowness of the access which would need to be formed between the two 

existing dwellings of the application site and question whether suitable for bin 
lorries and emergency vehicles;

- Proximity of the new dwellings to existing houses;
- Concern that windows in some elevations would be especially problematic;
- That in the case of Foxdale, the eastern unit A would be overbearing due to 

its height as a two storey dwelling on a high point of the site [NB Indicative 
detail only];

- That in the case of Boundary House unit B would overlook unacceptably [NB 
again, indicative detail only];

- Loss of wildlife and habitat; 
- Loss of badger feeding area;
- The new dwellings will bring wear and tear to the private access but may not 

be obliged to contribute to its maintenance.

Parish / Town Council 
Leek Town Council – response to initial proposal for three units: recommended 
for refusal as being over-development. 

Page 141



 

SMDC Conservation Officer
 A Listed ‘boundary stone’ stands by the edge of the main road to the west of the 
application site.  This would not however be affected by the proposal.

Severn Trent Water – As the proposal would have minimal impact on the public 
sewerage system, no objection and no requirement for a drainage condition to be 
attached.  There may be a public sewer located within the application site. 
Although the statutory sewer records do not show any public sewers within the 
area specified, there may be sewers that have been recently adopted under the 
Transfer of Sewer Regulations 2011. Public sewers have statutory protection and 
may not be built close to, directly over or be diverted without consent and contact 
must be made with Severn Trent Water to discuss the proposals. Severn Trent 
will seek to assist in obtaining a solution which protects both the public sewer and 
the building.

SCC Highways
No objections subject to 5 recommended conditions.  Also comments that the red 
line does not connect to the public highway.  A revised drawing may be 
appropriate as works are required to re-construct part of the access track at each 
end adjacent to the highway.  This is outside the red line and is not highway land, 
but it is fundamental to the access of the development. (NB a revised drawing 
has been submitted.) 

As access is over a private track, the agreement of the owner/s of the track will 
be required. The developer should ensure they have appropriate rights and 
permissions to carry out the development and should ensure rights of access are 
conferred on future owners of the properties. 

A condition has been recommended for the re-construction of the access track for 
10m at each end to ensure a safe exit from and access to the highway. The rest 
of the access track would benefit from maintenance.  The visibility splay referred 
to above is recommended to improve safety at the northern access. The existing 
tree is not required to be removed but vegetation on the embankment is 
overhanging the verge and should be cut back for the benefit of all users of the 
access.

SCC Minerals and Waste Authority 
No comments to make. 

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS / PLANNING BALANCE 

Policy Context

7.1 The Local Planning Authority is required to determine planning applications in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless there are material 
circumstances which indicate otherwise.  In this case the Development Plan for 
the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council consists of the Adopted 
Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy Development Plan Document (March 
2014) with regard also being given to the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) revised July 2018; the Council’s adopted 

Page 142



 

Supplementary Planning Guidance documents: ‘Space About Dwellings’ and 
‘Design Principles’ and the Council’s Core Strategy Supporting Evidence 
Document: Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2008); also, 
The Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) adopted 21st February 2018.  Development boundary mapping remains 
for the present time as approved under the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 
(September 1998). 

7.2 With the Council’s emerging Local Plan now having reached submission stage 
(February 2018) a degree of weight should be given to the revised policies it 
contains in accordance with criteria set out in the NPPF at paragraph 48 as 
follows:

- The more advanced the plan is in preparation the more weight may be 
given.  Having been submitted to the Secretary of State for examination  
the stage of plan preparation can be considered advanced;

- The extent to which there are unresolved objections however will temper 
the weight which can be given to individual policies;

- Consistency with the NPPF: the Council considers all the policies to be 
sound and fully consistent with the NPPF.

Principle of Development and Main Issues

7.3 Being within the Town Development Boundary development is considered in 
principle to be acceptable.

7.4 The key considerations are means of access and capacity of the site to 
accommodate two dwellings with appropriate standards of amenity both for the 
new development and for existing neighbours.  It is also relevant to consider 
the possible wider impacts of the development on landscape and such matters 
as ecology.

7.5 The concerns raised by neighbours about the legal rights or otherwise for two 
further properties to use the private access lane are civil matters to be resolved 
irrespective of any planning consent.  The LPA can be satisfied that the lane 
would be suitable and sufficient in planning terms – subject to the conditions 
recommended by the Highways Authority. 

7.6 Subject to conditions the proposed means of access would be acceptable to 
the Highways Authority.  In the revised plans a 4m wide private access road is 
shown between the two extant dwellings to serve the two proposed dwellings.  
The proximity of this road to the side elevations of West Winds and Blue Ridge 
has been considered.  It is noted that the elements of the dwellings closest to 
the proposed road both comprise a single storey elevation providing garage 
accommodation with additionally in the case of West Winds some single storey 
utility accommodation to the back.  Given that the road would be to serve not 
more than two dwellings and noting the specific layouts of the two dwellings it is 
considered that the proposed access would not be problematic to the amenities 
of the existing houses.  In an allowed appeal for a development of 22 dwellings 
at Saltersford Lane, Alton (SMD/2015/0435), the Inspector concluded that a 

Page 143



 

single track access would pass to within 1m of the gable end of one extant 
dwelling and was considered acceptable.  The current proposal is of much 
lesser scale and the side garages give some additional protection to buffer the 
main living accommodation from the impacts of passing traffic.

7.7 There would be some loss of side garden space to both existing houses and 
their front driveway access would need to be modified but they would overall 
retain adequate outside space significantly above the minimum standards of 
the Council’s Space About Dwellings requirements.  This remains the case 
taking account also of the land which would be taken for the two proposed new 
plots.  These in turn are shown by the indicative drawings to have the potential 
for large garden areas again significantly above the minimum standards.

7.8 In terms of the impacts on existing adjacent properties and whether appropriate  
space about dwellings is achievable, again the indicative drawing shows that 
satisfactory separation distances are possible.  The Council’s adopted 
guidance is that a minimum separation of 22m should be provided between 
principal windows.  Other factors also need to be taken into account such as, in 
the case here, the markedly sloping site where a higher level building could be 
overbearing on the one below and greater separation may be required.  The 
indicative plan shows 26m between the two proposed units.  Some 40m 
separates Boundary House from the nearest of the two proposed units.  The 
occupiers of Foxdale which is a bungalow have raised concern about the higher 
elevation (eastern-most) plot.  This is indicated as a two storey dwelling but 
whether or not this is acceptable will be a reserved matters consideration.  The 
main outlook would not be towards Foxdale and the issue is one of whether or 
not two storeys may be overbearing.  If found necessary a single storey 
building could be adopted. 

Landscape and surroundings

7.9 The indicative drawing suggests that a layout consistent with the established 
pattern of the neighbouring and surrounding existing development would be 
readily achieved.  There was concern that three units as first proposed would 
have pushed the upper eastern-most dwelling into an intrusively prominent  
position. The revised indicative layout avoids this by keeping a closer  
alignment with existing development.  

Other Matters

7.10 No significant further issues have been identified.  The existing nature of the 
land is mown lawn.  It would though be appropriate to add safeguarding 
conditions and / or advisory notes regarding wildlife such as nesting birds and 
the potential for badgers to be present.

Page 144



 

Conclusion and Planning Balance

7.11 Being within the development boundary development is acceptable in principle.  
Being acceptable in terms of highways and it being confirmed by the 
submission of the indicative plan that appropriate space about dwellings and 
relationship to adjacent properties is achievable and there being no other 
fundamental concerns the application is recommended for approval.

7.12 The NPPF says at paragraph 11, footnote 7 that where a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites can not be demonstrated, policies which are most 
relevant for determining the application and are out of date, in these 
circumstances planning permission must be granted unless the any adverse 
effects of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. The 
Council’s current housing supply is 1.99 years. In this case, in the absence of 
any harm to the character of the locality and residential amenity, it is 
considered that the development would provide a modest contribution towards 
the Council housing land supply.

8. RECOMMENDATION

8.1 Approve subject to the following conditions 

1. Details of the layout (including driveways), appearance, landscaping, boundary 
structures and scale, (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any development begins and the 
development shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: The application is an outline application under the provisions of Section 5 of Part 3
of the Town and Country Planning Act (General Permitted Development Procedure) Order 
2015 and no particulars have been submitted with respect to the matters reserved in the 
permission.

2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning
authority not later than three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).

3. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than two years from the date
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with Drawing
Number RLM865/5 rev B and RLM865/6 rev F insofar as these show the boundary of the 
development site and its access route from the public highway.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt.

5. No development hereby approved shall be commenced until full details of the 
following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
- Provision of adequate parking, turning and servicing within the site curtilage;
- Means of surface water drainage water drainage including interceptor located on the 

boundary with the existing access track, connected to a surface water outfall;

Page 145



 

- Surfacing materials;
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the development being first brought into use and be maintained for the life of the 
development.
Reason: To comply with NPPF Paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC Core Strategy Policy
DC1; in the interests of highway safety and to define the extent of the highway.

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of the 
reconstruction of the existing access track from the A520 Cheddleton Road at the north end 
and Birchall Park Avenue at the south end for a minimum distance of 10m rear of the 
existing channel line at each end have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The accesses shall thereafter be reconstructed in accordance with 
the approved details before the proposed development is brought into use.
Reason: To comply with NPPF Paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC Core Strategy Policy
DC1; in the interests of highway safety and to define the extent of the highway.

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of the 
2.4mx120m visibility splay at the northern access point looking to the south (but excluding 
the tree) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The visibility splay shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 
600 mm above the adjacent carriageway level and be provided in accordance with the 
approved plan prior to the development being brought into use.
Reason: To comply with NPPF Paragraph 32; to comply with SMDC Core Strategy Policy
DC1; in the interests of highway safety and to define the extent of the highway.

8. Prior to the commencement of any site work whatsoever including site clearance and
worker establishment a survey of the site and immediate environs shall be undertaken by an
ecologically qualified person suitably experienced in surveying for badgers in relation to 
development proposals in order to ascertain if there is any badger activity on the site or 
within such proximity that could be affected by the proposals. The survey shall be 
undertaken within six months prior to any site work commencing (including clearance and 
site establishment) and the survey results shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall include any further mitigation measures found necessary 
as a result of the survey. Development including site establishment and site clearance shall 
then only proceed in accordance with the approved mitigation.
Reason: To ensure appropriate safeguard for protected species

9. The reserved matters application shall be accompanied by details of the existing and
proposed levels across the site and relative to adjoining land, together with the finished floor
levels of the proposed buildings. The development shall be implemented in accordance with
the levels details as subsequently approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. There
shall be no variation in these levels without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development and its 
appropriate relationship to the site and adjoining land.

10. All noisy activities shall be restricted to the following times of operations.
 08:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);
 08:00 - 13:00 hours (Saturday)
 No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

In this instance a noisy activity is defined as any activity (for instance, but not restricted to,
building construction/demolition operations, refurbishing and landscaping) which generates
noise that is audible at the site boundary.
Reason: To avoid the risk of disturbance to neighbouring dwellings from noise during anti-
social hours.

Page 146



 

11. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall not commence further until an initial investigation and risk assessment 
has been completed in accordance with a scheme to be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site. If the 
initial site risk assessment indicates that potential risks exists to any identified receptors, 
development shall not commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property, and the natural and historical environment has been prepared, 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme and prior to bringing the development into 
first use, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried 
out must be produced, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of the National
Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human health, controlled waters and
wider environment are known and where necessary dealt with via remediation and or 
management of those risks.

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Operations Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do 
so in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer has 
sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Page 147



 

9. APPENDICES TO THE REPORT

9.1 Location (1:1250 at A3)

Page 148



 

9.2 – Indicative layout (1:200 at A1)

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018 

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0434

Location Heather Hills, Birchall Lane, Leek 
Proposal Side extension to garage and extension of garage roof to 

form studio space above 
Applicant Mr and Mrs Binns 
Agent Design 21 Architecture Limited
Parish/ward Leek Date registered 12/07/2018 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Chris Johnston.
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4123 christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL 

This application has been referred to the Planning Applications Committee by 
Councillor Heath to assess the impact on residential amenity.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

APPROVE with conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site lies to the north-west side of the end part of the 
Birchall Lane private road to the south of Leek and within the Leek 
development boundary.  It comprises a detached dwelling and driveway 
sloping up to the dwelling from the road.  There are surrounding gardens 
including garden land to the south-west which is also a proposed 
development plot for a new detached dwelling.  A bungalow, Birchall Edge, 
lies to the north-east side.  The large gardens of another dwelling lie to the 
north-west side.  There are other detached dwellings to the other side of 
Birchall Lane to the south-east.  The site is on sloping land which rises away 
from the road in a northerly direction.       

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This is full householder planning application for an extension to the 
garage attached to the house.  The extension would project 1.65 metres 
sideways, at the front part of the garage, although this projection would 
increase further to the rear as the existing side wall tapers inwards towards 
the house.  This would result in a large double garage with a width of 11.7 
metres.  The current garage pitched roof would also be extended across and 
an office/studio room would be placed in the enlarged roof-space of the 
garage.  The room would be integral to/accessed via the main house.  Due to 

Page 151

Agenda Item 13



the sloping nature of the site, the current side wall of the garage is a retaining 
wall for a raised area of garden to the side of the garage.  This would be 
removed and some extraction works would be undertaken to form the garage 
extension.  The first floor studio would open out onto a covered decked area 
at the side via patio doors and from there allow level access onto the raised 
side garden.  Most of the gable end would have floor-to-ceiling glazing.  Other 
works include the addition of a triangular dormer window and two small 
rooflights onto the rear roof slope and two small rooflights would be added to 
the front roof slope.

3.2 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of consultees can be found 
on the Council’s website at:-

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchS
ervlet?PKID=124678

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

None relevant to the dwelling.  

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The Development Plan comprises:

 Saved Local Plan Proposals Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 
1998).

 Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted March 2014)
 The Minerals Local Plan (adopted December 1999) Saved Policies 

2007 
 Staffordshire & Stoke on Trent Joint Waste Core Strategy (adopted 

March 2013) 

5.2 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 DC1 Design Considerations

5.3  Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan

National Policy Guidance

Paragraph 48 of the newly adopted NPPF states that:

“…decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to:

Page 152

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124678
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124678


- the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

- the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
that may be given); and

- the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in this Framework (the closer the policies in the 
emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given).

Local Plan process

The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for 
representations in February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the 
Local Plan was “sound”. Formal representations were then invited from 
residents, businesses and other stakeholders to provide them with the 
opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or legal compliance of the 
Local Plan. This stage in the process followed three previous public 
consultations since 2015 which had informed the preparation of the Local 
Plan alongside a comprehensive evidence base. 

In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan 
Submission Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination 
in public will now be held this Autumn in order to determine whether the Local 
Plan is sound and legally compliant. Subject to the findings of the appointed 
inspector, the Local Plan is expected to be adopted in the Spring of 2019. At 
his point, it will supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part of the 
statutory development plan for the District.  

In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies 
contained in the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria 
set out in Paragraph 48 of the NPPF is as follows:

- The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage 
of preparation as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for 
examination

- The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
– this varies depending on the policy in question. The Officer 
Comments section of this report identifies the level of outstanding 
objections to each policy and recommends the amount of weight to be 
given to them at this stage in the process

- The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the 
Council has submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all 
policies are deemed to be consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:

SS1 Development Principles
SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
DC1 Design Considerations

Page 153



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Revised July 2018)

 Chapter 12 – Achieving Well Designed Places 

Other Relevant Policy Documents 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

6.1 A site notice was displayed on 16.8.18 at the site entrance and letters 
were also sent out to neighbouring properties beforehand. One letter of 
objection has been received from adjacent neighbours regarding the 
proposed side gable end above the garage which is considered to lead to a 
loss of privacy because of a direct line of sight from the gable end into a 
dining room, conservatory and bedroom of a neighbouring dwelling.  The 
objector also considers a large tree in the raised garden would have to be 
removed in order to make way for the extension because of harm to tree roots 
which would allow even more overlooking from the gable end into the 
neighbouring dwelling.  

6.2 Leek Town Council 
      Not unneighbourly.    

6.3 Highways Authority
No objection.

6.4 Severn Trent 
As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I 
can advise we have no objections to the proposals and do not require a 
drainage condition to be applied.

7. OFFICER COMMENT

Planning Policy

7.1 The Local Planning Authority is required to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material circumstances which indicate otherwise and in determining these 
applications, it shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, in 
so far as material to the application and to any other material considerations. 
The Council’s Development Plan is formed of the Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document (adopted March 2014) and the Saved Local Plan Proposals 
Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 1998) remains in force until the 
Council’s Development Plan Document is adopted. 

7.2 Core Strategy Policy SS1a establishes a 'Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development' as contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) where: (1) planning applications that accord with 

Page 154



policies within the Core Strategy will be approved without delay and (2) where 
there are no relevant policies or they are out of date, the Council will grant 
planning permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
considering:- I. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies 
in the NPPF taken as a whole, or, II. Specific policies in that Framework 
indicate that development should be restricted. 

Design Impacts

7.3 Policy DC1 requires development to, amongst other things, be designed 
to respect the site and its surroundings, in terms of its scale, density, layout, 
siting, landscaping, character and appearance.

7.4 With regard to the impact on the character and appearance of the area, 
the extension would involve the roofline being continued above an existing 
part of the garage and also the extended section of garage and this would 
harmonise with the design and appearance of the current house.  There is 
already a triangular dormer feature at the front of the garage and this would 
be removed and a new triangular dormer placed on the rear roof-slope but 
this is an appropriate size which does not dominate the roofslope.  The gable 
end, roof overhang and the large glazed area for the gable end would also not 
detract harmfully from the design and appearance of the dwelling.  In any 
case, the garage including the extension would be well screened from Birchall 
Lane despite being near the top of the slope due to a combination of the 
distance from the road, vegetation coverage and the presence of the house 
itself.  The design of the extension would not harm the character and 
appearance of the area and would therefore comply with Policy DC1.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.5  Policy DC1 requires development to, amongst other things, protect the 
amenity of the area, including residential amenity, in terms of satisfactory 
daylight, sunlight, outlook, privacy and soft landscaping.  
 
7.6   With regard to residential amenity, the proposed gable end, with 
windows and sitting out area, would face the front/south-west elevation of a 
bungalow, ‘Birchall Edge’.  The part of the bungalow directly facing the gable 
end is effectively screened from it by a boundary hedge.  From this part of the 
raised garden it is possible to view into some front windows at a slight angle in 
the other part of the front elevation of the bungalow as the boundary fence 
next to the hedge has a low height.  However, the presence of vegetation in 
the raised garden provides some screening.  Even if this was removed, the 
distance between the proposed gable end and the front elevation of the 
bungalow would be 27.0 metres which is a sufficient distance to restrict the 
scope of overlooking into the neighbours windows from the gable end.  This 
complies with the Council’s design guidance in the “Space About Dwellings” 
Supplementary Guidance Note which seeks to maintain a minimum distances 
between primary windows of 22.0 metres.  The proposal would comply with 
Policy DC1 regarding the impact on neighbours.  

Page 155



Impact on Trees

7.7 Advice from the Council’s Tree Officer has been sought regarding the 
quality of a large tree in the raised garden which would be close to the 
excavation works needed for the extension.  Comments as to whether the tree 
is worth retaining and protecting and if so, whether the tree roots would be 
harmed, will be reported at the Committee meeting.  

8. CONCLUSION & PLANNING BALANCE

8.1 The proposed extension would not harm the visual or residential 
amenities of the area and, subject to the comments of the Tree Officer 
regarding the quality and impact on a nearby large mature tree, the 
application is recommended for approval.

   
9. RECOMMENDATION

That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason:- To comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Town & 
Country Planning, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the submitted plans and specifications as follows:-

1360:04 C
1360:06 C
1360:07 A

Reason:- To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt.

3. The facing and roofing materials of the development hereby approved 
shall match those of the existing dwelling on site in terms of type, 
colour and texture.
Reason:- In the interests of the character and appearance of the area.  

Informatives

1. This is considered to be a sustainable form of development and so 
complies with the provisions of the NPPF.

Page 156



Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

27 September 2018 

Application 
No:

SMD/2018/0448

Location 112 Draycott Road, Upper Tean 
Proposal Reserved Matters application for one dwelling approved 

under outline permission SMD/2016/0511 
Applicant Mr Mark Hammond 
Agent Byatt Oliver Associates
Parish/ward Checkley Date registered 17/07/2018 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Chris Johnston.
tel: 01538 395400 ex 4123 christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

REFERRAL 

This application is to be decided at Planning Applications Committee because 
the applicant is related to a Member of SMDC (Councillor Bull).

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

APPROVE with conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises part of a field immediately to the rear of 
an existing  dwelling, No.112 Draycott Road which lies to the north of Draycott 
Road (a “C” classified road) about 1km to the west of the centre of Upper 
Tean village.  The field is within the same property as the existing dwelling.  
The application site has an area of 0.1375ha although this includes the 
existing access driveway to the dwelling which would be shared with the 
proposed house.  The actual plot has a size of about 0.08ha.  The existing 
dwelling (a large bungalow) lies immediately to the west of the plot.  Another 
dwelling, “The Rocks”, which is a separate property with a separate access 
further along Draycott Road, lies to the east.   The plot is on land which slopes 
downwards from an embankment and trees to the side of Draycott Road, 
towards a stable block and disused manage (within the same property) to the 
north.  Although there are other dwellings close to the site, the surrounding 
area has an open and rural character and appearance and the site is defined 
in the Council’s Core Strategy as being within the “open countryside” but is 
not in the Green Belt.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This is a Reserved Matters planning application which seeks approval 
for the access, scale, siting, design/appearance, access and landscaping (i.e. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 14



all the reserved matters) for a dwelling which was granted outline approval 
(with all matters reserved), following the April 6th 2017 Planning Applications 
Committee meeting.  The proposed dwelling would have two storeys, four 
bedrooms and would have a conventional brick and tiled roof design, with 
side-facing gable ends.  The main two-storey footprint of the house would be 
12.6 x 7.4 metres and with a height of 8.3 metres.  A single-storey double-
garage would be attached to the front wall (which faces the road to the south) 
to give the dwelling an overall L-shaped footprint.    

3.2 Due to the sloping nature of the land (sloping downwards from the road to 
the open fields towards the north), the plans include existing land levels and 
sectional drawings of the development showing finished floor levels.  The 
existing access road to the existing bungalow splits after the gate and to the 
left leads past the south elevation of the bungalow towards some existing 
stables.  This driveway would be extended up the slope to the east side of the 
bungalow leading to the garage and a parking area, with four spaces, close to 
the south (road-side) boundary of the site.  There is no new planting proposed 
although the drawings show grass/lawn areas and there would be some hard-
surfacing around the house.   The original plans showed a rear balcony but 
this has been removed from the scheme.       

3.3 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of consultees can be found 
on the Council’s website at:-

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchS
ervlet?PKID=124818

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

SMD/2016/0511:  Outline approval for one dwelling.  

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

5.1 The Development Plan comprises:

 Saved Local Plan Proposals Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 
1998).

 Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted March 2014)
 The Minerals Local Plan (adopted December 1999) Saved Policies 

2007 
 Staffordshire & Stoke on Trent Joint Waste Core Strategy (adopted 

March 2013) 

5.2 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the application:-

 SS1 Development Principles
 SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 SS6c Larger Villages Area Strategy 

Page 160

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124818
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=124818


 SS6c Other Rural Areas Strategy 
 H1 New Housing Development 
 DC1 Design Considerations
 DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 
 R2 Rural Housing 
 T1 Development and Sustainable Transport 

5.3  Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan
National Policy Guidance
Paragraph 48 of the newly adopted NPPF states that:

“…decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to:
- the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 

preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
- the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 

(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
that may be given); and

- the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in this Framework (the closer the policies in the 
emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given).

Local Plan process
The Council agreed to publish the Local Plan Submission Version for 
representations in February 2018. At this point, the Council agreed that the 
Local Plan was “sound”. Formal representations were then invited from 
residents, businesses and other stakeholders to provide them with the 
opportunity to support or challenge the soundness or legal compliance of the 
Local Plan. This stage in the process followed three previous public 
consultations since 2015 which had informed the preparation of the Local 
Plan alongside a comprehensive evidence base. 
In June 2018, the Council subsequently agreed to submit the Local Plan 
Submission Version to the Secretary of State for examination. An examination 
in public will now be held this Autumn in order to determine whether the Local 
Plan is sound and legally compliant. Subject to the findings of the appointed 
inspector, the Local Plan is expected to be adopted in the Spring of 2019. At 
his point, it will supersede the adopted Core Strategy and become part of the 
statutory development plan for the District.  

In this context, the Council’s position on the weight to be given to the policies 
contained in the Local Plan Submission Version in terms of the three criteria 
set out in Paragraph 48 of the NPPF is as follows:

- The stage of preparation – the Local Plan is now at an advanced stage 
of preparation as the Council has submitted it to the SoS for 
examination

- The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
– this varies depending on the policy in question. The Officer 
Comments section of this report identifies the level of outstanding 

Page 161



objections to each policy and recommends the amount of weight to be 
given to them at this stage in the process

- The degree of consistency of policies with the NPPF – given that the 
Council has submitted a Local Plan that it considers to be sound, all 
policies are deemed to be consistent with the NPPF.

Emerging Policies
The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:
SS1 Development Principles
SS1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SS8 Larger Villages Area Strategy 
SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy 
H1 New Housing Development 
DC1 Design Considerations
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 
T1 Development and Sustainable Transport 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

 Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2008) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Revised July 2018)

 Chapter 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
 Chapter 12 – Achieving Well Designed Places 

Other Relevant Policy Documents 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

6.1 A site notice was displayed on 16.8.18 at the site entrance and letters 
were also sent out to neighbouring properties beforehand.  No 
representations have been received.    

6.2 Checkley Parish Council 

No response received.    

6.3 Highways Authority

No objection subject to a condition.

6.4 Severn Trent Water

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system, no 
objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to 
be applied.

Page 162



Severn Trent Water advise that there is a public sewer located within 
this site. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built 
close to, directly over or be diverted without consent. You are advised 
to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss the proposals. Severn Trent 
will seek to assist in obtaining a solution which protects both the public 
sewer and the building. Please note, when submitting a Building 
Regulations application, the building control officer is required to check 
the sewer maps supplied by Severn Trent and advise them of any 
proposals located over or within 3 meters of a public sewer. Under the 
provisions of Building Regulations 2000 Part H4, Severn Trent can 
direct the building control officer to refuse building regulations approval.

 7. OFFICER COMMENT

Planning Policy

7.1 The Local Planning Authority is required to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material circumstances which indicate otherwise and in determining these 
applications, it shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, in 
so far as material to the application and to any other material considerations. 
The Council’s Development Plan is formed of the Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document (adopted March 2014) and the Saved Local Plan Proposals 
Map / Settlement Boundaries (adopted 1998) remains in force until the 
Council’s Development Plan Document is adopted. 

7.2 Core Strategy Policy SS1a establishes a 'Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development' as contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) where: (1) planning applications that accord with 
policies within the Core Strategy will be approved without delay and (2) where 
there are no relevant policies or they are out of date, the Council will grant 
planning permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
considering:- I. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies 
in the NPPF taken as a whole, or, II. Specific policies in that Framework 
indicate that development should be restricted. 

Background

7.3   The principle of a single dwelling on this particular site was accepted on 
granting outline approval in 2017.  It would remain to be a sustainable form of 
development subject to the particular size and design of the development and 
therefore the impact on the character and appearance of the area, residential 
amenity and highway safety would need to be assessed when considering the 
reserved matters details put forwards.

7.4 In the April 2017 Committee report for the outline application for one 
dwelling, the following was stated:
  

Page 163



“From the main road, the site is very well screened by the road-side 
embankment to the south with trees and also the presence of existing 
dwellings to the west and east.  These features also help to screen the site 
from views from the south as well as the east and west.  The nearest public 
footpath is a considerable distance to the north-east and there is also a road 
within 500m to the north (Breach Road).  However, a dwelling on the site 
would not be harmfully prominent when viewed from the road and public 
footpath, especially given the close proximity of other buildings including the 
much larger former cattle breeding centre buildings to the north of the site.  
The proposed dwelling would be placed in an “infill” plot between two 
dwellings.  It is not considered the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area including the wider rural landscape would be significantly 
harmed by the presence of another dwelling in this particular location.”

7.5  It was also stated in the report that “there is a mixture of styles and sizes 
of dwelling in the area including the modern form of the bungalow to the west 
and the traditional two-storey Victorian farmhouse form of the dwelling to the 
east.  It is considered there is potential to accommodate a building on the site 
with a scale and design which would harmonise with the area.”

Design and Layout considerations

7.6 There have been no significant changes to the area since outline approval 
was given.  The particular design of the dwelling does differ from other nearby 
houses but there is no prevailing design type or type of dwelling in the area, 
which in terms of the built environment, is mixed.  The existing dwelling to the 
west is a bungalow but the dwelling to the east is a two-storey farmhouse on 
higher ground.  The proposed height of 8.3 metres is not excessive in this 
area and would not lead to a harmfully visually intrusive dwelling in the 
landscape.  The site is well screened, as outlined in the above, and the 
dwelling would also benefit from this screening.  The red brick and tile form of 
the house is not out of keeping in the area as there other nearby dwellings 
with similar materials and roof shapes.  The footprint of the dwelling would 
also not dominate surrounding plots and there would be adequate land 
around the house to be enjoyed by the occupants.  

7.7 There is no significant new planting proposed, but vegetation screening is 
already good and further planting is not considered necessary to help the 
development blend in with the landscape.  The parking spaces are close to 
the row of mature trees marking the south road-side boundary of the site and 
the Tree Officer has been asked to comment on whether the parking area 
would be likely to harm tree roots.  His comments will be reported at the 
meeting.

Impact on Residential amenity 

7.8   With regard to residential amenity, the farmhouse to the east, “The 
Rocks” would remain on higher ground than the proposed dwelling and views 
would be largely blocked by the presence of large outbuildings belonging to 

Page 164



The Rocks.  The side wall of the proposed dwelling would in any case be at 
least 3.0 metres away from the rear west-facing elevation of The Rocks 
dwelling.  There are east-facing windows on the existing bungalow which 
would face the proposed dwelling but a distance of at least 16.0 metres is 
maintained between those windows and the side wall of the proposed house.  

Highway Considerations       

There is no objection raised by the Local Highways Authority.  The access 
point with the main road is safe and can accommodate an increase in vehicle 
usage as a result of the new dwelling. The submitted plans shows a double 
garage and four parking spaces served by a sufficient turning area. Overall it 
is considered that there would be no harm to highway safety or any adverse 
impact on the operation of the local road network. Accordingly the proposed 
development complies with Policy T1 and DC1 

8. CONCLUSION & PLANNING BALANCE

8.1 Although the particular design of the dwelling is conventional, it does 
not harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area which has a 
mixture of buildings from differing eras.  The site is in any case well screened 
from the public realm.  The proposed dwelling, would also remain a sufficient 
distance from the two neighbouring dwellings and despite the presence of a 
large balcony, the proposed development would not lead to a harmful loss of 
privacy or light provision affecting neighbours.  There would be sufficient 
parking and turning areas proposed and the overall development would not 
appear as an overdevelopment of the site.   The reserved matters details for 
the approved dwelling are therefore, subject to the comments of the Tree 
Officer regarding the impact of the parking area on tree roots, recommended 
for approval.           
   
9. RECOMMENDATION

A. That the application be APPROVED subject to the following 
conditions:

1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with the submitted plans and specifications 
as follows:-

5405-004 Revision B
5404 - 005

Reason:- To ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans, for clarity and the avoidance 
of doubt.

2. All existing trees on the site shall be retained unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 165



Reason:-  In the interests of protecting the trees which contribute 
positively to the character and appearance of the area.

3. Before the commencement of development, details of all facing 
and  surfacing materials for the development in terms of their 
type, colour and texture and all boundary treatments shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:- In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
area.  

4. All remaining ground surface areas of the site outside of the 
development shall remain or become grass or planted areas.
Reason:- In the interests of the appearance of the site and the 
landscape

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into 
use until the parking and turning areas have been provided in 
accordance with the approved plans. The parking and turning 
areas shall thereafter be retained unobstructed as parking and 
turning areas for the life of the development.
Reason:- In the interests of highway safety.

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the 
Operations Manager - Development Services has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Informatives

1. This is considered to be a sustainable form of development and so 
complies with the provisions of the NPPF.

2. The applicant is reminded that futher details are required to be submitted in 
response to Conditions 7 and 8 of the outline permission (SMD/2016/0511) 
relating to drainage and surfacing materials.

Page 166



Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Planning Applications Committee

27 September 2018

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To inform members of appeals lodged and 
decided since the last meeting of the Planning Applications Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. APPEALS LODGED

None

4. APPEAL DECISIONS RECEIVED

None

TITLE: PERFORMANCE ON PLANNING APPEALS

CONTACT: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT TEAM

WARDS INVOLVED: ALL

Page 169

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 SMD/2018/0046 - Land adjacent to GKN Driveline Ltd, Higher Woodcroft, Leek
	7 SMD/2018/0316 - Former Lask Edge Methodist Church, Cowallmoor Lane, Ladymoor Gage, Lask Edge
	8 SMD/2018/0234 - Fole Dairy, Uttoxeter Road, Fole
	9 SMD/2017/0660 - Land at Cecilly Mill, Oakamoor Road, Cheadle
	10 SMD/2018/0443 - Land south east of A521/A50 Blythe Bridge By-Pass
	11 SMD/2018/0389 - Bluebell Barn, Church Bank, Oakamoor
	12 SMD/2018/0110 - West Winds, Cheddleton Road, Leek
	13 SMD/2018/0434 - Heather Hills, Birchall Lane, Leek
	14 SMD/2018/0448 - 112 Draycott Road, Upper Tean
	15 Appeals Report

